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an Yue Technology Holdings Limited

(the “Company”) is a company whose

shares have been listed on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 1997. The core businesses of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively called the
"Group” or “Man Yue Tech”) are the manufacture and
sale of high technology electronic components, including
Aluminum Electrolytic Capacitors (“E-Caps”), Conductive
Polymer Aluminum Solid Capacitors (“Polymer Caps”) and
other innovative electronic components.

The Group offers a full range of E-Caps products
which satisfy the needs of global customers, consisting
mainly of the world’s leading information technology,
telecommunications, electrical and electronic brands.
In 2006, the Group launched an innovative electronic
component known as the Polymer Caps, and has advanced
to be a major global vendor. The Group continued its
pioneering course by unveiling a new type of capacitor in
2009 - Electric Double Layer Capacitors (“EDLC"), which
acts as an energy storage device in electrical or electronic
products.

Over the years, the Group has fostered creativity and
inventiveness among the well-trained and highly qualified
research and development (“R&D") professionals who have
enabled the Group to develop new and groundbreaking
products.
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As the key manufacturer of E-Caps and Polymer Caps,
the Group owns the renowned SAMXON® and X-CON®
brands, both are respected brands for their advanced
technology and superior quality, backed by the Group's
strong R&D capabilities and established global network.
The Group's products comply with the European Union’s
directive on the restriction of hazardous substances in
electrical and electronic equipment (“RoHS”) and the
environmental protection requirements relevant and
specific to different markets globally.

Man Yue Tech is headquartered in Hong Kong and
operates its state-of-the-art E-Caps manufacturing facilities
in Dongguan, Wuxi and Jiangxi, China, with a total
production capacity of over 1 billion pieces per month.
The Group owns two aluminum foil factories located in
Qingyuan and Yaan, China producing aluminum foil for
its own consumption. The Group has distribution offices
located in Hong Kong, China and Taiwan, complemented
by worldwide distribution channels.

Man Yue Tech is fully committed to environmental
sustainability for both its products and operations.
All products are halogen-free and complied with the
requirements of RoHS. In addition, all production facilities
of the Group conform to relevant local environmental
regulations and the Group obtained relevant certification
where appropriate. Not content to simply passively observe
regulations, the Group is actively pursuing opportunities to
directly contribute to the protection of environment. The
Group has introduced and continued to develop solutions
for enhancing energy efficiency, such as capacitors found
in LED lamps and high-efficiency lighting and new storage
devices for use in environmental friendly products. The
Group remains steadfast in its support of environmental
protection, consistent with its commitment to be a good
corporate citizen.
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Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights
B RE

For the year ended 31 December

BZE12R31BLEE
2021
20214
HK$'000
Operating Results : THET
Revenue KA 2,091,264 1,599,599 +30.7%
Gross profit EF 357,489 271,877 +31.5%
EBITDA BB E R A A 215,649 149,986 +43.8%
Profit attributable to shareholders s 3R 1 i 76,494 24,064 +217.9%
Earnings per share BREF 16.09 HK cents &4l 5.06 HK cents 1L +218.0%
Net assets per share BREETE 355.30 HK cents #&{L  325.11 HK cents L +9.3%
REVENUE GROSS PROFIT
A E7
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
HE1283181EEE HE12H310LEEE
HK$' million BE&#TT HKS$' million B&#ATT
357.5
2,091.3
1,599.6 20 4 3 2719
12759 2017 12022

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
EBITDA NET ASSETS PER SHARE
BT R+ BREEFE
For the year ended 31 December As at 31 December
BE12831HLEFE 1128318
HK$' million BEHETT HK cents 78l

2156 e 355.3
3103 ‘
299.1 2936
161.9
152.3 1467 150.0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRSE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the
annual report of Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries for the Year.

RESULTS OVERVIEW

Year 2021 continued to be a challenging year for most of
the industries in the world. During the Year, the imposition
of stringent vaccination programs and public health policies
across the world appeared to be effective in controlling the
widespread of COVID-19, which in turn, had led to a recovery of
global economic activities in comparison with the previous year.
According to the economic outlook updated by the International
Monetary Fund (“IMF”) in January 2022, the growth of global
GDP is expected to moderate from 5.9 in 2021 to 4.4 percent
in 2022, half a percentage point lower for 2022 than in the
October World Economic Outlook, largely reflecting forecast
markdowns in the two largest economies. In China, pandemic-
induced disruptions related to the zero-tolerance COVID-19 policy
and protracted financial stress among property developers have
induced a 0.8 percentage-point downgrade. Global growth is
expected to slow to 3.8 percent in 2023. As for China, being
one of the world’s major economies, GDP for the Year had out
beat the world's GDP growth estimation of 5.9%. According to
the preliminary GDP statistics released by the National Bureau
of Statistics of China in January 2022, China’s GDP growth for
the Year is estimated to be 8.1% year-on-year. As a leading
global supplier of E-Caps and Polymer Caps, and with over half
of its revenue contributed by the China market, the Group had
achieved a robust revenue growth of 30.7% for the Year. The
Group's annual sales revenue has hit a record high over the
last decade to approximately HK$2,091,264,000. The net profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company had also recorded
an encouraging growth from approximately HK$24,064,000 in
2020 to approximately HK$76,494,000 in 2021, representing an
increase of 217.9%.

AARARKEZEREENNBRERERRALE
MEARHERNFENFR-

2021 FEH R A ITEM S NARERFH—F -
RAFE RS ERNBRSEETERARGTE
BRI IEH20198 A m S HRER A EUTFE R0
HE R EEEER HE F—FEMNES -RE
FEEEESAMM0202FIARFNEENS 1R
HBEAEEREBEERBIH2021F859%M A5 &
E2022FM94.4%  £210 At R4S R ENH20224F 78
BIEFRO.SEE £ REUR R AAE R TR T
FARE -PBEAE  KRITEEE09ERESRE
THRRBENTE NELEHEMEREIPEmE K
277 3B HI3R0.81E B 5 BRI B 1R © 2023F IRIKIE R
TBHREE3.8% PR EAMREBLEE Y — &
FEMNBANEELEEBFRERFIBERNEEREERMY
FTHI5.9% - IRIEP BB R BH202241 A8 KM
MPENEELERTHT FRAFENRANEE
BEGHZFERES 1% (EAIRESRERERED T
BARMEIRELREER  AEREBYWARESP
M5 ANEBRAFEEHEHANKALK30.7% °
REBHE2FHEWRAEIBETFORLESM &
Z£#92,091,264,00078 7T © A2 B i% B FEAL 4L F IR ER 1S
AL K - fh20204F 4924,064,0005% 7T 1% i1 220214
#976,494,00078 7T » 1218 A217.9% °
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Chairman’s Statement
EERE

Such satisfactory financial performance has proven that our
strong dedication to R&D as well as effort in strategic planning
indeed pave the way for a sustainable business development of
the Group. The Group is dedicated to devote ample resources
to R&D so as to enhance the stability and performance of its
quality products as well as to provide innovative and pioneer
products to meet the ever-changing market demand. The Group's
well-positioned brands, SAMXON® and X-CON®, have been
and continued to be widely recognized by many global leading
companies in various electronic sectors. In addition, the strategies
of developing multi-products such as E-Caps, Polymer Caps,
MLPC, EDLC and EDLC modules coupled with diversified customer
portfolios have safeguarded the Group from global economic
fluctuations while laying a solid foundation for a sustainable
business growth.

Although the Group had achieved satisfactory results for the Year,
the recurrence of COVID-19 with other viruses' variants towards
the end of the Year coupled with the recent geopolitical tension
between Russia and Ukraine would certainly have negative impact
on economic activities and market sentiments in the forthcoming
year (“Year 2022"). As a result, we believe that the world’s
economic growth momentum might be hampered in the short
run. Nevertheless, the Group is confident that the market demand
for electronic components in the long run will be stable as the
growing reliance on technology and the entry into a new digital
era is irreversible. The Group will continue to put ample resources
in R&D with an aim to stay ahead of its competitors in the industry
as well as to penetrate into fast-growing emerging market sectors.

“Save Oil, Save Minerals, Fresh Air, Green Future — Tomorrow
Starts Here” will continue to be the vision and mission of
the Group in business management as well as new product
development. The Group will continue to work closely with its
customers, business partners and Shareholders to further secure its
market position, with a view to delivering promising returns in the
near future.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express our sincere gratitude to all our employees for their

loyalty and dedication and for the continuing support from our
customers, suppliers, banks and Shareholders.

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B W& D

For the year ended 31 December
BE12R31BLFE

Operating Results

Revenue WA

Gross profit E=5

EBITDA BRI E LB AN
Profit attributable to shareholders AR 3R B A

Earnings per share BREM

Net assets per share SREESE

2021

20214

HK$'000

THET
2,091,264 1,599,599 +30.7%
357,489 271,877 +31.5%
215,649 149,986 +43.8%
76,494 24,064 +217.9%
16.09 HK cents #&{ll  5.06 HK cents 1l +218.0%
355.30 HK cents &l 325.11 HK cents /1l +9.3%

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group's revenue had recorded a strong
growth of 30.7% to approximately HK$2,091,264,000 as
compared with the previous year, hitting its record high over
the last decade. The significant increase in revenue was mainly
attributable to the recovery from COVID-19's impact which gave
rise to economic resurgence in business activities as well as the
booming market demand for electronic components resulting
from the emergence of digital transformation.

Following the promising growth in revenue, the Group's gross
profit achieved approximately HK$357,489,000 for the Year,
representing an increase of 31.5% when compared with that of
the previous year. However, the upsurge in raw material costs and
rising labor costs certainly added weight to our overall production
costs and undermined our profitability to a certain extent. We
had strived to absorb these cost pressures through optimization
of production efficiency whilst explore with our customers the
opportunities for raising product prices. With all such efforts,
we had managed to achieve a slight improvement in gross profit
margin from 17.0% of last year to 17.1% of the Year. Benefitting
from the economies of scale in production mainly due to the surge
in revenue, gross profit for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$357,489,000, representing an increase of 31.5% when
compared with that of the previous year. Resulting from the sharp
rise in gross profit, net profit attributable to the Shareholders
increased by 217.9%, from approximately HK$24,064,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$76,494,000
for the Year. The Board does not recommend final dividend for the
Year (2020: Nil).

gy JE) L

RAFE  AEER U AR5 42,091,264,000% 7T -
B E—FEHE30.7% HiEas) ERBEA TN
S o A FEZE B INEZ AR H2019E MRS R
BhEH BIRFETIOLE U RBIGEA M8
RIBEF LSRR

HERANATBER AEEAFENENEEZY
357,489,000 7T 8 A F 1 K31.5% AT - R K
A EFRRSE TRA A @S NEREENEEEE
R EIRE FHISSRMO BT ) - REBE MR
B ECR AR SIS LR AR S TR RIR R PR
FRAEMEBERNES -ZEET AEBMHERE
HEFI70%E M EAERNFEMIT7.1% - X ER
WASESEEEERELER G AEENENZE
Z#9357,489,000/8 7T * 8K F 1L H131.5% ° R EF)
K AR (AL R R B = 2020F 12 A31H LEF /E
#924,064,00078 LG N = AN [Z 4976,494,00078 7T + 12
18AE217.9% EFETERRERNFEMNRARE
(20204 : 4% ) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Market Overview

According to a market research conducted by the Business
Research Company, a market research and intelligence company,
in February 2022, the global general electronic components
market size is expected to grow from US$484.99 billion in
Year 2021 to US$541.95 billion in Year 2022 at a compound
annual growth rate (“CAGR") of 11.7%, and is expected to
further expand to US$805.88 billion in 2026 at a CAGR of
10.4%. Nowadays, more devices are going “smart” or “artificial
intelligent” which can bring efficiency, convenience and accuracy
to life. Such phenomenon creates more opportunities for the
growth of the electronic components market in a wide range of
applications, such as artificial intelligence (“Al”), Internet of Things
("loT"), 5G mobile networks, blockchain, new energy vehicles and
cloud computing.

Adaption of loT and the new norm of pandemic remote work
style become the key drivers of the surging market demand for
electronic components. According to a market study conducted
by the loT Analytics, a market research and intelligence company
focusing on loT, Al, cloud, edge and industry 4.0, at the end
of 2020, 11.7 billion (or 54%) of the 21.7 billion active linked
devices globally will establish loT system connections. More than
30 billion loT connections, approximately 4 10T devices per person
on average, are projected to exist by 2025. Thus, this study of
loT Analytics expected a high demand for IoT devices in the
coming years. The application of 10T in various industries, such as
automotive, cloud and robotic industries, are driving the growth
of the IoT market, which in turn will augment the demand for
electronic components. Resulting from the booming demand for
electronic components, the Group was able to capture this market
opportunity with its multi-products platform such as E-Caps,
Polymer Caps, MLPC and EDLC, and had successfully achieved a
robust growth in revenue of 30.7% for the Year as compared with
that of the previous year.

AMEON

ot

T

Aluminum capacitor family
mEERR R
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEWR DM

Operation Review

Leveraging the high stability and performance of its products as
well as strong innovation and R&D capabilities, the Group has
been able to achieve a rapid sales growth of 30.7% for the Year
by its penetration into the global supply chain of various market
sectors and its reach to leading customers in the industries.

As shown by China’s GDP growth of 8.1% in 2021, its labour
market was active and led to rising labor costs. Sharp rise in raw
material prices was also another challenge that the Group had
to cope with. The Group has therefore exerted extra effort in
improving the competitiveness of its pioneering and high quality
products by enhancing the efficiency of its production processes as
well as implementing stringent cost control measures with an aim
to boost its profitability.

Eyeing on the market potentials and planning to enlarge our
market share, the Group’s new manufacturing facility in Qingyuan
High-tech Industrial Development Zone in Guangdong, China,
is expected to commence operation in Year 2022 which would
enable the Group to further expand its production capacity.

During the Year, the management of the Group had decided
to classify its investments as a separate business segment. Such
investments include investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss. The Group aims to better utilize
resources on hand and make returns on investments in a long run.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$215,732,000 (2020:
approximately HK$263,486,000), most of which were either
denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi or Hong Kong
dollars. The total outstanding bank and other borrowings of the
Group of the Year amounted to approximately HK$1,074,962,000
(2020: approximately HK$1,024,517,000) which comprised mainly
bank loans and trade finance facilities.

As at 31 December 2021, the net gearing ratio was 50.9% (2020:
49.2%), which was calculated based on the amount of net debt
position (sum of total bank and other borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents) as a percentage of total equity. The Group was
in a net debt position of approximately HK$859,230,000 as at 31
December 2021, as compared to approximately HK$761,031,000
as at 31 December 2020.

& E O R

TBAEEE fn ) S AR 1 R IR A B 58 K A B A AT 2
e REBEBURAFERMZ EMSREN IR
HERLEBIRAEXRNALEES, BEHESIE
30.7% -

40120214 7R B B P9 A EE AR HE R 8.1 % TS FR D45
THISER A8 TRAR LR R RHER S IR
ATEETERENS BB Rt AEEES
ERRFAGS AR BRI R ) i AR A B R
BEN - AN IR R A EEERNBHT N

BERNTIHENLFEIEBATHNE NREEBRD
ERAE BRI ERF R R ERETEY
RIN2022F ERMMEE EEASEE - TRAE

ab
BE °©

RAFE AEEEEBATHERESBAEEN
XD - R FREBRREMERE A AENER
MNIRZ ERMEE - ANEBHNETRLERFRER
RBFERERNER-

RBEERUKER

M20215F12A31A AEEERe MRS ZEDMLH
215,732,000/ 7T (20204 : #J263,486,000/ 7T ) * X
AR ARB BT E NEBAFERE
BIRTT R EMIEELREEL) A1,074,962,0007% 7 (2020
F 1 #91,024,517,000%8 7)) - TEBFBITERLE S
BMEREE-

20215612 A31H  FEHSE (RITERAMEE
BERRES A SSEY) BEERLENE DA
ERFAELEA50.9% (20205 :149.2% ) ° 122021
F12A318  NEBE 2 FEH 2 FBH /859,230,000
JC 2020912 A31H BIJ495761,031,0007 7t ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SEENWR DM

As at 31 December 2021, the net working capital (calculated
as current assets less current liabilities) was approximately
HK$291,638,000, representing an increase of approximately
HK$37,796,000 as compared with that of approximately
HK$253,842,000 as at 31 December 2020. The current ratio
(calculated as current assets/current liabilities) was 1.18 times as at
31 December 2021, as compared with that of 1.16 times as at 31
December 2020.

The Group's financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars. However, most of the Group’s transactions were
conducted in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
and Japanese Yen. The Group is aware of the potential foreign
exchange currency risk that may arise from the fluctuation of
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United
States dollars and Japanese Yen. The Group will closely monitor its
overall foreign exchange exposure with a view to safeguarding the
Group from exchange rate risks.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Year 2022 began with some significant events that may affect the
global economy, such as the re-imposition of pandemic restrictions
by countries due to the outbreak of another wave of COVID-19
with other viruses' variants coupled with the geopolitical tension
between Russia and Ukraine. These events would inflate energy
prices and disrupt energy supply and bring uncertainties and
volatilities to the global economy. According to the World
Economic Outlook by the IMF in January 2022, the projected
global GDP growth in Year 2022 has been moderated to 4.4%,
representing a 0.5 percentage point lower as compared to its
previous projection on Year 2022 back in October 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEWR DM

Notwithstanding the economic outlook remains shadowed
by uncertainties and volatilities, we believe that the Group
has already established a solid foundation for its businesses
by providing a multi-product platform to a wide range of
customers covering different industries, ranging from consumer
electronics to industrial infrastructures, to cope with adverse
impact. Furthermore, the Group has been well-positioned to take
advantage of the irreversible trend on digital transformation such
as remote work arrangements, e-commerce, video conferencing,
on-line shopping which all involve enormous demand for
electronic components. Following the endorsement of China’s
14th Five-Year Plan in 2021, one of the primary focus of which is
to issue plans for the nation’s path towards peak emissions and
carbon neutrality. Since electrical products are the competitive
substitutes to coal-burning or carbon-emission products, it is
believed that the 14th Five-Year Plan will further boost the
development of electrical products and thus lead to a strong
demand in the electronic components market in a long run.

Looking forward, our new manufacturing facility in Qingyuan,
Guangdong, China, is expected to commence its production
in Year 2022 in order to meet the surging market demand for
electronic components. The Group will continue its business
focus by penetrating into the global supply chain of emerging
market sectors and reaching out to leading customers in the
industries. Its endless efforts in the R&D of material science,
production technology and innovation will undoubtedly capture
the constantly evolving electronics demand, whilst differentiating
the Group from its market competitors. Meanwhile, the Group
will exert additional efforts in improving the competitiveness of its
quality products by means of enhancing operational efficiency as
well as tightening the control over its costs with an aim to improve
its profitability. Lastly, the Group is committed to and condiment
in delivering a satisfactory growth and return to its Shareholders in
the long run.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 2,999
employees (2020: 2,767). The Group's remuneration policy is built
on the principle of equitability with incentive-based, motivating,
performance-oriented and market-competitive remuneration
packages for its employees. Remuneration packages are reviewed
on a regular basis. Apart from salary, other staff benefits include
provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and
performance-based bonuses.

BELENSDARA ARRZ ERMABEAE
HEEERRAEEREFUERTIXERETRITENE
REPREEZTEMTE BURBEMEBER K
BANZE -BE AEECDEEREEERE TR
EFHE BEEH BLBYSEEENNHR
RHEEGEE EEHE T THFRREAT R 202146
BRNTPEFAMELFRETT T Hh—REHT
BRANZEE R MNOBERER - R EFEmM
TR SR BERE RO ARFNER A #RES14
BEAFREGE - PHFHETERNER REAE
BEFTHMEMREFR-

RERR AEBERFBEEREBED R EERE
TEERR 2022 F EIRE - UM R BF L 2 IBH ™5
FR-AEEFEEEREEBGEY AR TREE
2 BT ST AR SR A R BR O AR 3 B i AR T R EE 3K Y
BEBEP AEENMEEENS  EEMKNAIH
HEB AT ERGAIRAATARNETFR

BAREN —RWISEFhBAM L - E R - A
SEEHERESSENS  ARBERAIES AR &
MEES  MANEIEREBEEMWBEF ) - && K
SEHBNLBEELRERERAEEBRIER MO -

& 18 & 3 B BUR

R2021F12 8318 - AEEE A $£2,999% & & (2020
F:2,767%) - AEEZ EREFMWERUAFRE A
REME - RIITE KT FBREMIEKTERRA
WEEEHRT RN EMBTRABIEAE
SHF BERR KRB ZIEL -

Annual Report 2021 F3 11



Board of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Kee Chor Lin (Mrs. Chan), aged 73, is the co-founder of the
Group, who is one of the renowned industrialists in Hong Kong
with possession of over 40 years of experience in electronic
components business. Mrs. Chan was appointed as an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the board of directors (“Board”)
of the Company in October 2008. Mrs. Chan leads the Group's
development of strategic directions and implementation of
business plans to ensure the long-term growth of the Group's
electronics brands. She is now the director of several subsidiaries
of the Group and also a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mrs. Chan is the
mother of Mr. Chan Yu Ching, Eugene (an Executive Director and
the Managing Director of the Company) and Ms. Chan Lok Yan,
Lorraine (@ member of the senior management of the Company).

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, aged 46, joined the Group in 1998
and was promoted as an Executive Director of the Company in
December 2007. He was appointed as the Managing Director in
October 2008. In the same year, Mr. Chan, who has over 20 years
of experience in electronic components industry, was awarded
the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong. He is responsible
for overseeing the business planning, product innovation and
new business development of the Group. He is also a director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Group and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan currently is
a director in Zhuhai Higrand Technology Co., Ltd, a company
listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations in China.
Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor’s degree in Applied Science (majored
in Electronic and Electrical Engineering) from the University of
British Columbia, Canada. He is the son of Ms. Kee Chor Lin
(an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the
Company) and the brother of Ms. Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine (a
member of the senior management of the Company).
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Board of Directors and Senior Management
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Chan Tat Cheong, Alan, aged 61, joined the Group in May 2016
and was appointed as an Executive Director in October of the
same year. He was also appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company in December 2020. Mr. Chan serves as Finance Director
of the Company and a director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
Company'’s corporate finance, treasury management, accounting,
merger and acquisition, and investor relations. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in the
fields of accounting, auditing and financial management. He
holds a Bachelor’s degree in accounting and financial analysis
from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, the United Kingdom.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (formerly known as the Hong Kong Society
of Accounts (the “"Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants”), a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Gss, /r, aged 67, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since October 1996.
Dr. Li is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. He has over 30 years of experience in the
manufacturing industry. Dr. Li is currently an independent non-
executive director of each of Chuang’s China Investments Limited
(Stock Code: 298) and Oriental Watch Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 398), which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is now the
President of Hong Kong Economic & Trade Association Limited.
Dr. Li was awarded The Ten Outstanding Young Persons in 1991
and the Young Industrialists of Hong Kong in 1993. He holds
a Master’s degree in Business Administration and a Doctor of
Philosophy degree in Economics.
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Lo Kwok Kwei, David, aged 62, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
November 1999. Mr. Lo is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He is a partner of David
Lo & Partners and has been practicing as solicitor in Hong Kong
for over 30 years. Mr. Lo holds the degrees of Bachelor of Laws
and Bachelor of Jurisprudence from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of New South Wales, Australia in 1984. He has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since 1987. Mr. Lo
is currently an independent non-executive director of each of
eSun Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 571) and Futong Technology
Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 465), all the above
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mar, Selwyn, aged 86, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director since September 2004. He is the Chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Mar graduated from the London
School of Economics, University of London, the United Kingdom.
He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Mar has been actively involved in
commercial and industrial undertakings over the past 43 years.
He is currently a director of Nexia Charles Mar Fan Limited. At
present, Mr. Mar is an independent non-executive director of each
of China Everbright Environment Group Limited (formerly known
as China Everbright International Limited) (Stock Code: 6894),
and Minmetals Land Limited (formerly known as Laws Property
Holdings Limited and ONFEM Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 230).
In addition, he was an independent non-executive director of
PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2078) from 8
February 2017 to 23 July 2021. All the above companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He was the President of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1991, a member of
the Appeals Panel of the Securities and Futures Commission and
a member of the Board of Governors of the Chinese International
School. Mr. Mar is currently an Honorary Fellow and Honorary
Court Member of the Lingnan University, Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, aged 44, joined the Group in 2001. Ms.
Chan serves as the Business Control Director of the Group and is
actively involving in the setting of the Group’s business strategies,
re-engineering the business processes and the establishment
of business control systems. She has extensive experience
in marketing, business operations and information systems
management. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’'s degree of Arts from
the University of Toronto, Canada. She is the daughter of Ms. Kee
Chor Lin (the Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director of
the Company) and the sister of Mr. Chan Yu Ching, Eugene (an
Executive Director and the Managing Director of the Company).

Hsu Dau Shin, aged 66, joined the Group in 2014. He serves as
the General Manager of the production plant in Dongguan, China
of the Group, focusing on the management and operation of
the manufacturing facility. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hsu
was the chief executive officer of a well-known Taiwan electronic
company where he was the lead for its listing on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange. He holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from the University of New Hampshire, United States.

Leung Sze Man, Angela, aged 39, joined the Company in
January 2021 and serves as Financial Controller. Ms. Leung
is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting,
budgeting control, financing, fund management and regulatory
compliance. Ms. Leung has over 16 years of experience in the
areas of accounting, audit, finance, transaction managements,
investor relations and regulatory compliance gained from listed
companies and international audit firms. Ms. Leung is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She
holds a bachelor's degree of Economics and Finance from the
University of Hong Kong.

Li Kwok Ming, aged 60, joined the Company in 2011. He is the
Business Development Director in China of the Company. Mr. Li
is responsible for the development of the sales network of the
Company at different regions in China. He has over 23 years of
experience in business development and channel management
fields. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li held senior positions
in two multinational companies. He holds a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from the Warwick University, the United
Kingdom.
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Lui Man Lung, Johnny, aged 51, joined the Group in 1996. He is
the Assistant Business Development Director of the Company. Mr.
Lui is mainly responsible for the development of the Company's
business in the Greater China and Taiwan regions. He has over 27
years of experience in the sales and marketing fields. Mr. Lui holds
a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the Lingnan
University, Hong Kong.

Pan Su Qing, aged 60, joined the Group in 1996. Ms. Pan is the
Vice Chief Engineer of the Research & Development Department
of the Group who is responsible for product development,
product design, technical support and product cost management.
Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Pan worked in the research &
development department of a well-known state-owned National
4321 Factory and engaged in the development of new aluminum
electrolytic capacitor products for commercial and military uses.
She graduated from the Nan Chang Radio Technological School
in China in 1983 with majoring in electronics component and
material.

Peng Shu Hong, aged 47, joined the Group in 1997. He is
the Operation Manager of the production plant of the Group
in Dongguan, China. Mr. Peng is responsible for managing the
production, quality control and research and development of the
production plant in Dongguan, China. He has over 22 years of
experience in operation management field.

Wan Wah, aged 51, rendered her service from 1994 to 2013
and re-joined the Company in 2015. She serves as the Assistant
General Manager of the Group. Ms. Wan is mainly responsible
for overseeing the overall business development and strategies
planning of the Group. Ms. Wan has over 28 years of experience
in the sales and marketing fields and has successfully led sales
teams for the development in new and potential markets for the
Group. She holds a master's degree in Business Administration
from the University of Sydney, Australia.

Wong Ching Ming, Stanley, aged 64, is the Business
Development Director of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group
in 2003. He was an Executive Director of the Company from
January 2011 until January 2019 when he tendered a resignation
for health reason. Mr. Wong is responsible for managing the
global sales, marketing strategies and operations of the Group.
He has over 31 years of experience in sales and marketing fields
and had held a senior management position in an internationally
well-known information technology company. Mr. Wong holds
a Bachelor of Science (Aeronautical Engineering) degree and a
Master of Science degree from the Imperial College of Science,
University of London, the United Kingdom.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code” or “CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
adopted the code provisions as its code of corporate governance
practices throughout the Year with the exception of the following
deviation:

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors should be appointed for
a specific term. Currently, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to the requirement of retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company under Bye-law 87 of the
Bye-laws of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that corporate governance
practices of the Company were in line with the code provisions as
contained in the Code throughout the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regulating
Directors’ dealings in securities of the Company. After having
made specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive director represents more than one-third of the
Board which complies with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. Their names are identified in various corporate
communications and in all announcements. Biographical details
of the Directors and the relationship among the members of the
Board are disclosed under the section “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 12 to 16 of this Annual Report.
The Board is supported by three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.
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Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Group and the
effective leadership. The Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules, at least one of the independent non-
executive directors has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company complies
with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules and can ensure independence
and objectivity and provides checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of the Shareholders and the Company.

Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to the Shareholders for the long-
term performance of the Company, assumes responsibility for its
leadership and control and responsible for promoting the success
of the Company. The Board also directs strategic objectives of the
Company to management and oversees their implementation and
monitors the operational and financial performance of the Group.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group in order to achieve the strategic objectives set by the Board.

Chairman and Managing Director

Clear division of the roles of the Chairman and the Managing
Director is crucial to the effective running of the Board and the
development of the Group. Ms. Kee Chor Lin and Mr. Chan Yu
Ching, Eugene are the Chairman and the Managing Director of
the Company respectively. Their roles and duties are separate
and distinct. Ms. Kee Chor Lin, as the Chairman, takes up the
challenging role of leading the Board to develop and formulate
strategic business development plans whilst Mr. Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene, as the Managing Director, implements the policies and is
answerable to the Board for the operations and management of
the Group. Ms. Kee Chor Lin is the mother of Mr. Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene.
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Board Processes

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the Company Secretary.

Notice of at least 14 days is given of all regular Board meetings
and all Directors are invited to include matters in the agenda.
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for each Board meeting. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are then sent in full to all Directors at least 3 days
in advance or within reasonable time prior to the relevant Board
meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available upon prior appointment for
inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible parties
who are entitled to have access to such information.

Directors should declare any conflicts of interest at the Board
meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded from
counting as quorum in that meeting whenever they have potential
or actual interests in the matters to be discussed and approved at
that meeting and the Board has determined to be material.

Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his responsibilities
under statue and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time.
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Besides, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director. A specific in-house training seminar was organised for
all Directors in November 2021 to update the Board the latest
development and reporting on ESG. They also took part in
corporate visits and attended seminars organised by other listed
companies or professional organisations to further enhance their
capacities to carry out directors’ duties. The training undertaken by
the Directors during the Year is summarised as follows:

Directors

Executive Directors HITES

Kee Chor Lin it

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BRF %

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan Fpeg=
Independent Non-executive Directors BN IEHITESE
Li Sau Hung, Eddy E ]

Lo Kwok Kwei, David ZEEHE

Mar, Selwyn HBHRE

Nomination, Appointment, Re-election and Removal
of Directors

Nomination of Directors

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy on 28 December
2018. It aims to set out the nomination procedure and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee of the
Company to select and recommend candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to Shareholders for election as the Directors of
the Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill
casual vacancies. The Nomination Committee may, as it considers
appropriate, nominate a number of candidates more than the
number of Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general
meeting, or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.
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Key Principles of the Company for the Nomination of
Directors

Before nominating candidates for the directorship of the Company
for the Board's approval, the Nomination Committee should:

review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board at least annually, taking into
account the Company's Board Diversity Policy, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
and

make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive
of the Company.

Key Selection Criteria

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee should take into account of the following
factors, inter alia:

reputation for integrity;
accomplishment and experience;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

the Company'’s Board Diversity Policy that ensures the Board
has diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

in the case of Independent Non-executive Directors,
the independence of the candidate (the independence
requirements as set out under any applicable laws, rules and
regulations shall have been met); and

any other factors that the Nomination Committee deems
appropriate.
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Subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company, retiring
Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

Proposed candidate will be asked to submit his/her necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with his/
her written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of his/her personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to his/her
standing for election as a Director.

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the relevant circular to the Shareholders,
the nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be sent
to the Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for the Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the circular to the
Shareholders.
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A Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company Secretary within
the lodgement period of its intention to propose a resolution
to elect a certain person as a Director, without the Board’s
recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s nomination,
other than those candidates set out in the circular to the
Shareholders. The particulars of the candidates so proposed will
be sent to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary
circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company Secretary.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall
be elected as a Director, Shareholder’s proposed resolutions shall
therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed for the
candidates recommended by the Board.

Confidentiality

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority, under no
circumstances shall a member of the Nomination Committee
or a staff member of the Company disclose any information to
or entertain any enquiries from the public with regard to any
nomination or candidature before the circular to the Shareholders,
as the case may be, is issued. Following the issue of the circular,
the Nomination Committee or Company Secretary or other staff
member of the Company approved by the Nomination Committee
may answer enquiries from the regulatory authorities or the
public but confidential information regarding nominations and
candidates should not be disclosed.

Power and Responsibility of the Board

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility and final decision
on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to
stand for election at any general meeting. The Board shall monitor
and review the Nomination Policy to ensure that it remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects the regulatory
requirements effective from time to time.
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Appointment of Directors

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(1) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall be elected or appointed in the first place at the
statutory meeting of the members and thereafter at the annual
general meeting. However, the Board shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to
authorisation by the members in general meeting, as an addition
to the existing Board subject to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of
the Company.

Re-election of Directors

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company provides that any
Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to Bye-
law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meeting.

Removal of Directors

Under Bye-law 86(4) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
members may, at any general meeting and by an ordinary
resolution, remove a Director at any time before the expiration of
his period of office provided that the notice of any such meeting
convened for the purpose of removing a Director shall contain a
statement of the intention so to do and be served on such Director
not less than 14 days before the meeting and at such meeting,
such Director shall be entitled to be heard on the motion for his
removal.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 1 August
2013 and amended on 28 December 2018. It aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the Company. To
achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the diversity of the Board has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at
31 December 2021:
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Board Diversity Profile
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Responsibilities of Directors

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to and the
management of the Board. Executive Directors take an active
interest in the affairs of the Company with a good understanding
of the business, and play important roles in the day-to-day
management of business of the Company, whilst Independent
Non-executive Directors participate in the Board meetings and
bring their independent views and judgments on various issues.
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Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the
terms and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to
their respective appointment, each of them has submitted a
written confirmation to the Company and the Stock Exchange
confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the
Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there
is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence.

Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
a wide range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and
qualifications through their regular attendance at various
committee meetings. They bring independent opinion and
judgment on the strategy and policies to ensure that the interests
of all Shareholders are taken into account. The Company reviews
annually and obtains confirmation of independence from each
of them during their respective terms of appointment. During
the Year, the Company received written confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors his independence
with reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
confirmations, the Company considers that all of them are
independent, which is in compliance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

As mentioned above, the Company has made specific enquiries
to all Directors and all of them confirmed that they had fully
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
during the Year.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity

The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and other officers from any losses, claims,
damages, liabilities and expenses, including without limitation, any
proceedings brought against them, arising from the performance
of his duty pursuant to his appointment under his respective
service agreement entered into with the Company. The current
policy has been renewed during the Year and shall be under
regular review.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations to the Board;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated
certain responsibilities to the senior management team of the
Company, including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such
senior management team is accounted for their performance to
the Board.

During the Year, the Executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems effectively and efficiently. The Board reviews
its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and authority
regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting system is in place. Each Director is free to seek advice
from and has access to the Company’s senior management team
independently
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on
the websites of HKEXnews and of the Company and are available
for inspection by the Shareholders of the Company upon request
made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three members. All of them are
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely:

Mar, Selwyn (Chairman)
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
Lo Kwok Kwei, David

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has
a suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and
legal sectors and that the composition and establishment of the
Committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for assisting the
Board in providing an independent view on the effectiveness
of the financial process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. It has the responsibilities and powers set
forth in the terms of reference. The committee members shall
meet at least twice every year to review the interim and final
results prepared by the Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held five meetings,
including a meeting with external auditor for audit planning. The
attendance records of Directors attending the Audit Committee
meetings are set out on page 32 of this Annual Report. The
following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 and for the interim period ended 30 June
2021 before submission to the Board for approval;

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
re-appointment of KPMG as the external auditor of the
Company;

3. reviewed the external auditor’s engagement fee;

4. reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group;

5. reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function of
the Group; and

6. reviewed the annual audit plan.

The Audit Committee held a meeting with external auditor for
the purpose of audit planning, which meeting also welcomed the
attendance of any Director who had either expertise, or special
interest, in accounting, financial and auditing matters.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including one Executive Director and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely:

Lo Kwok Kwei, David (Chairman)
Kee Chor Lin
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
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The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors
and senior management, including but without limitation
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments
(including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment); (i) making recommendations to
the Board of the remuneration of non-executive directors; and
(iii) establishing a transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration. The Board consults the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and provides sufficient resources to
enable it to discharge its duties.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting and
the attendance records of Directors attending the Remuneration
Committee meeting are set out on page 32 of this Annual
Report. The following is a summary of work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management; and

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
remuneration package of Executive Directors, Independent
Non-executive Directors and senior management.

The following table lists out by bands the remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior management whose names appear
in the section “Board of Directors and Senior Management” for
the Year:
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises five members, including
two Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely:

Li Sau Hung, Eddy (Chairman)
Kee Chor Lin

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene

Lo Kwok Kwei, David

Mar, Selwyn

The Nomination Committee is responsible for (i) assisting the
Board to run effectively and the Company can go through a
formal, fair and transparent process of reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the balance and
effectiveness of the Board in the light of the Board Diversity
Policy identifying the skills needed and appointing those who
can provide them to the Board; (ii) leading the process for the
appointment of Directors; and (iii) identifying and nominating
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board. The Nomination
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and
the attendance records of Directors attending the Nomination
Committee meeting are set out on page 32 of this Annual Report.
The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,;
and

2. reviewed the succession planning for the Board.
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Attendance Records of Directors Attending Board
Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and Annual
General Meeting

The attendance records of Directors during the Year are as follows:

Exeel ESZE22BRRRBEX
BESHERE

EERAFERAZHFRENT

Number of meetings attended/held

L/ BreERY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

meeting meeting meeting meeting Meeting

Directors E=ge3 FHZEES3 FHMZES28E REZEE8E RREFAE

Executive Directors HiTES

Kee Chor Lin ' rEE 6/6 5/5 n n n

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene ' BFE 6/6 5/5 - n 1

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan 2 BRiEg? 6/6 5/5 - - 17
Independent Non-executive Directors  BIFHTES

Li Sau Hung, Eddy F51E 6/6 5/5 171 1 17

Lo Kwok Kwei, David BEE 6/6 5/5 n n n

Mar, Selwyn S4% 6/6 5/5 - 101 i

Notes: ffsE -

1. Ms. Kee Chor Lin and Mr. Chan Yu Ching, Eugene attended the
Audit Committee meetings as management representatives as
requested by the Audit Committee.

2. Mr. Chan Tat Cheong, Alan attended all the Audit Committee
meetings as the Finance Director as requested by the Audit
Committee.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities in Financial Reporting

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, financial
position and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the
Audit Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of
the Group. The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the
financial statements and annual and interim reports and accounts
of the Group.

32 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EEER AT

1. EREXIRBRFELELEREZZEGERNUE
EERRGNBEEREZREGS#-

2. BREERLEBERZEGERRUMBEZSFHH
BRAEEREESGSH-

BERZE

ESHUBREZEE
EERPNHAKREZHBRE  MBERRRATRE
HAE- B A2HZAE -EEREERZEELZ
BT EBEAKEZYBRERF -BREEEE
RAKEM BRI EAFERPRREARIKE 228
Mo



Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The Company is committed to announce its interim and annual
results as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the
relevant period and the financial year respectively as required
by the Listing Rules and discloses all such information as
would enable the Shareholders of the Company to assess the
performance, financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

The responsibilities of external auditor of the Company
with respect to financial reporting are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 104 to 113 of this
Annual Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that
the remuneration payable to the Company’s external auditor
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had
been no major disagreement between the external auditor and
management of the Company during the Year.

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
KPMG, during the Year is set out as follows:

Services rendered PRt 2 AR 7%
Audit services ZE RS
Non-audit services ' IEZE RS
Total HEH

EREFAFEHRHUAREMBHRIEME TEE
BERAPHRRAREZMBERRL - RAFEARN &
FU BT BB AN R B AL LR TBRER
REZEHFBRZEXTHERZ - Bt EFC
BRBREERREARR M BIHREK-

ARBFHENEHRR R RFEEREREER SR
B TERE ERRABED B AMEF I RFEE
B RWBEMAABER WEARRBRREAE
Bz KRB B RATS -

ZEE 2 EE
AARINEZEME B RS 2 EAHRNFRE
10421138 B 2 HARE | —fe

BB &

ERZBEECAESERR  BRENARRINERZ
22 B ATFRIE  MAFERINE 2B R
ARREEBIEERBER DL -

RAEFEEN EAARABINEXEEN RS 58D
EBZMEERIIMT

Fees paid/payable
B EREA

HK$"000
TRER
1,850
350

2,200

Note:

1. The fee paid for non-audit services included review of interim
financial information, work performed on the preliminary
announcement of results of the Group and tax compliance services.

GEE

1. XNEEERBZERERENTBRMBER 3
REBMTEBRNEETZ TERRBE RRS
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises internal audit in assisting the Company to
enhancing its corporate governance. The internal auditor is neither
affiliated with the employees nor external auditor of the Company
in order to ensure its objectivity, creditability and independence.
It reports to the Audit Committee directly. During the Year, the
internal auditor performed internal audit reviews and the scope of
review includes:

1. planned and conducted internal audit review activities on the
scope of review approved by the Audit Committee and the
Board;

2. reviewed the design of internal control system of the
in-scoped areas, identified the key controls in place and
assessed whether there were significant gaps in the design of
the internal controls;

3. sample tested the operating effectiveness of key controls
identified of the in-scoped areas; and

4. reported and made recommendations to the Audit
Committee and the Board on the internal control weaknesses
identified in order to enhance the internal control system.

The internal auditor submitted the internal audit review reports to
the Audit Committee for review and based on which, the Board
and the Audit Committee were of the view that the key areas of
the Company'’s internal control and risk management systems had
been reasonably maintained and considered sound and effective
for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
remain sound and effective. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibility. The tasks of risk management
and internal control of the Company during the Year had
been performed by management. Management provided a
confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company remained sound and effective
throughout the Year.

Risk Management Philosophy

The Board recognises that risk taking is unavoidable as it is part of
the Company’s business. With appropriate risk management and
continuous risk monitoring policies in place, risk taking may bring
value to the Company. The Board believes that an appropriate
level of risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their
impact and likelihood. Certain risks can neither be absolutely
eliminated nor controlled by the Company. The Company can
protect its assets and Shareholders’ interests and create value
simultaneously through appropriate risks management and control
measures. The Board also acknowledges that risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board has the responsibility to oversee, evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks faced by the Group
and to review and monitor the Group's approach in addressing
these risks at least annually. In addition, the Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in
reviewing the Group’s financial, operational and compliance
controls and reviewing the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.
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Management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Group’s policies, procedures and limits within the Board's
approved risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced
and monitoring the design and operation of the relevant internal
control measures to mitigate and control these risks.

Risk Assessment Process

Risk Assessment Approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year to
ensure all material risks to which the Group exposed are properly
identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board.

Risk Identification

Risk identification is based on questionnaires completed by senior
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary
identified by senior management from the risk universe which is
a collection of risks built on environmental analysis and external
benchmarking that can impact the Group at the entity or specific
business process level. The risk universe covers both internal and
external risks in six major areas, namely external risks, strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks, legal and compliance risks
and people risks. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating
the results of the questionnaire.

Risk Evaluation and Risk Prioritisation
Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
the likelihood of the identified key risk factors to the Group. These
identified key risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating
process assessed by senior management.

Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their assessed
impact and likelihood.

Risk Reporting, Managing and Monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted
to the Audit Committee and to the Board. Senior management
reviewed and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in
accordance with the Board’s advice and suggestions; determined
and implemented treatment plans where risks mitigants are
actionable and continuously monitored the development of
current risks and the emergence of new risks throughout the Year.
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Management conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
Year. Management has reported major findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee. All recommendations from
management were adopted by the Group and were implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
were effective throughout the Year.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Group is strictly controlled and measures adopted by the Group
including but not limited by the following ways:

1. restrict access to inside information to employees on a need-
to-know basis;

2. send reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information to ensure that they are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

3. ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Group enters into significant negotiations or
dealings with third party; and

4. inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.

The Board and senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.

Internal Control

The Group has formulated certain appropriate policies and
procedures to the staff and executed to take all measures that
can (i) safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition;
(i) keep proper and accurate accounting records and enhance
the reliability of financial reporting; and (iii) ensure efficiency
and effectiveness of operations and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The design of internal control system is to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage and minimise, and if
circumstances permit, eliminate the risk of failure in the Group's
operational systems.
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The Group’s internal control framework includes the following
major components:

1. an organisation structure with defined responsibility, proper
segregation of duties and appropriately delegated authority;

2. policies and procedures relating to financial control, internal
control and risk management respectively that can identify,
assess, measure and control risks effectively and efficiently;

3. operational and financial budgeting and forecasting systems
which facilitate performance measurement, including regular
budgeting analysis;

4. clear rules and guidelines that work to empower the review
and approval of major capital and current expenditures;

5. strict internal procedures and controls enabling the handling;
and

6. dissemination of price sensitive information; and developing
a whistleblowing policy that encourages employees to report
any incidents of fraud, corruption, theft or misconduct in
secure and a fearless working environment.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's reporting currency is Hong Kong dollar and most
of the business transactions are denominated in other currencies
including United States dollar, Renminbi and Japanese Yen. Hence,
exchange rate movements can affect the profit margin of the
Group. The Group does not speculate on foreign currencies.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from long credit period for customers and short
credit period provided by suppliers. Customers are unwilling or
unable to fulfill their payment obligations that leads the Group to
incur financial losses. The Group's credit control function manages
the credit risks by assessing the credit limits and credit terms to be
granted to customers and setting up the internal control system
of credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to recover
overdue debts, if any. The Group also enters into credit insurance
contracts to mitigate the credit risks arising from the collection of
accounts receivables balances.
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Competition Risk

Competition risk arises from the emergence of a number of
competitors in the electronic components manufacturing industry.
Price cut from competitors intensifies the risk. The Group believes
that the provision of quality products and after-sales service
to customers are the only way to gain and maintain customer
confidence and loyalty.

Customers’ Financial Health Risk

The majority of the Group’s customers are electronic products
manufacturers in China. Delay in payments for trade receivables
settlement is common, thus resulting in bad debts. Slow recovery
of trade receivables indicates higher likelihood of customers’
financial health risk. Senior management works with the finance
department closely to monitor customers’ financial health. In
addition, it is hedged by the implementation of credit insurance
policies.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 28 December 2018.
It aims to manage its capital efficiently and generate long-term
sustainable value for Shareholders, while balancing operational,
regulatory, rating agency and policyholder requirements. It also
aims to grow its dividend in line with business growth and to share
the benefits of its success with its Shareholders.

The Company may declare and distribute no more than 30% of
the consolidated net profit after tax of the Group as dividends,
either in cash or scrip dividend in lieu of cash, to its Shareholders.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to
any restrictions under the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the
Company and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account of the following factors, inter alia:

the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
e the general financial position of the Group;

e the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development needs of the Group;

e restrictions imposed by debt covenants;

e the general market conditions;

e the business cycle of the Company’s business; and
e any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved
by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. No assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared
in any given period.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going
communication with Shareholders, the Board established a
shareholders’ communication policy and reviews it regularly to
ensure its effectiveness. To facilitate the timely, transparent and
effective communication with Shareholders, the Board provides
different communication channels for Shareholders and investors
including annual general meetings and other general meetings.

The annual general meeting provides a forum for the Shareholders
to raise comments, offer suggestions, and exchange views with
the Board. The notice of annual general meeting is distributed to
all Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.
The Chairman of the Board, the chairmen of all Board Committees
and external auditor shall attend each annual general meeting or
any general meeting to answer questions from the Shareholders
on the performance of the Company so as to allow them to
fully understand the Company's operations, management and
development.
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During the Year, the Board held an annual general meeting on
13 May 2021. The voting results of annual general meeting were
published on the websites of HKEXnews and of the Company
and the results are available for inspection by the Shareholders of
the Company upon request made to the Company Secretary. The
attendance records of Directors at the meeting are set out on page
32 of this Annual Report.

Furthermore, the website of the Company contains timely updated
company news, corporate information, announcements, interim
and annual reports of the Group, all of which are available
for download with a view of making easy access to corporate
information for Shareholders and potential investors. Circulars,
interim and annual reports are sent to Shareholders in a timely
manner and they are also available on the websites of HKEXnews
and the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convening Special General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
under such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of 3 months from the said date.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

RARFEER  EFEH2021F5 A 138 BTRREFAX
C-RBBPFRGZRELREHNIER S LARAA]
B MARRBREINA]MARWEERERNEHLE
R-BEEHFAG BN AERENE-

BN RRAB 2 WU A EREH 2 ABES QA
BRAEBZAE FHRFERS BRI TH -7
BEERREEEREERSLEER BEK - FHREF
ERETSERFTE TR LATRFE S RALQA]
M ER -

IR R AR
BRARRBIAERRERAELREZEZR

ERREZ2KAMBETPRARRMARARF
BRRAGREENBRERA+D 2 —ZBR AR
FAREREBMNESTSRARWEHLEME R 2
RERGAFRRERIARE  URIEFBEERDIER
ZAEMER: BZARERNE2 % ERE2EA R
T MNER2ERABEIEN EFREEATH
RE AE2BRATHEFEPENA (ERSE
BraRER—FULE)TEITARAKS it A
P2 EfAIRE R bl B B EHRm3E A 1R TS 81T

BRE2MEAEHREN WEARESBRALE
ERXAARBZEMBER BAIRESZHE—%
BB REZERALTES 2L -

EEBERATHRESRELA ARG MEEZ ER
BEMANX $HARRERTREZERAL ML
EEZEMFEBRAARRNEENSSEMNERE
EZRBASREMFMPRE -

Annual Report 2021 F3k 41



Corporate Governance Report
EERRE

During the Year, no special general meeting was convened, and no
relevant proposal was received by the Company.

Enquiries to the Board
Enquiries can be put to the Board through the investor relations
department of the Company at Unit 03, 6/F, Harbour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or email to ir@manyue.com.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The
Company Secretary reports to the Board. From time to time, the
Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters
and ensures the board procedures, applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. The Company Secretary has undertaken
at least 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change in the Company'’s
constitutional documents.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protect the environment. The Group
has established an environmental management system that
conforms to global standards and was granted with 1SO14001
accreditation in 2004. The quality control department monitors
product quality and the use of certain chemical substances.

Besides, the implementation of RoHS directives in August 2005
in European Union members’ states has impacted the electronic
industry. The Group installed new equipment and established a
comprehensive set of policies and procedures to ensure that the
Group's products are fully compliant with the RoHS requirements
for the European Union and any equivalent or relevant
requirement for the rest of the world. The Group had also made
it mandatory for all vendors and business partners to comply with
the RoHS requirements.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the
Year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong), together with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year 2021 as well as indication of likely future
development in the business of the Group are set out in the
sections “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 6, “Operation
Review” on page 9, “Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the
Company” on pages 38 to 39 of this Annual Report respectively.
An analysis using financial key performance indicators, a
discussion of the Group's environmental policies and performance,
and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group as well as an account
of the key relationships with its stakeholders are set out in the
sections “Five-Year Financial Summary” on page 264, “Segment
Information” on pages 173 to 177, "Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 50 to 103, “Environmental
Protection” on page 42 and “Major Customers and Suppliers”
of this Directors’ Report on page 49 respectively. The above
discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 23 May 2022 to Thursday, 26 May 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered for the purpose of determining Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 annual general
meeting of the Company. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2022 annual general meeting of the Company, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the branch share registrar of the Company in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 20 May 2022.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 114 of this
Annual Report.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend final dividend for the Year (2020:
Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the section “Five-Year Financial
Summary” on page 264 of this Annual Report. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in the fixed assets of the Group during
the Year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the Year are set out in Notes 33 and 34 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and that of
the Company during the Year are set out in Notes 39 and 40 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company's reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted
to approximately HK$58,693,000 (2020: approximately
HK$63,768,000). In addition, the Company's share premium
account, in the amount of approximately HK$165,458,000 (2020:
approximately HK$165,458,000), may be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The Board of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report (unless otherwise stated) comprises Ms.
Kee Chor Lin, Mr. Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, Mr. Chan Tat Cheong,
Alan, Dr. Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Mr. Lo Kwok Kwei, David and Mr.
Mar, Selwyn.

Under the existing Bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years and re-election at each annual general meeting. In
accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr.
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan and Mr. Mar, Selwyn will retire from office
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the 2022 annual general meeting of the Company. None of the
Directors offering themselves for re-election has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company received annual confirmation from all Independent
Non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all the
Independent Non-executive Directors as independent.

The biographical details of Directors are set out in the section
“Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 12 to 16
of this Annual Report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole of any substantial
part of the Company’s businesses were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business at any time during the Year and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of office
or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
throughout the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

EERBSTRAERES  HERADK
EFZEERAR

M2021F12A31H  EEXESTRABRARARHK
HAMBEBEE GEHRAEEH) FEXVERZRM
HERM REFTPHEELARERRIRE BE5 RS
BIEH) F352EBHEE 2 B MARsiRIEZEST A
MAESITMERRRRERXA R RABIAT

RARBEBEMAABBRN 258

Capacity, nature of interest and number of shares and underlying shares held

At EEUEARFFROREBRGEE

Approximate percentage

of the Company'’s

Interest issued share capital

Directors Capacity Nature of interest in shares ERABE T

= 54 BnitE R 40 #E 25 BRAZBEHB DL

Kee Chor Lin'’ Interest of controlled corporation Corporate 209,689,667 44.09%
forE! B3 VNGl A7

Kee Chor Lin Beneficial owner Personal 51,634,334 10.86%
oRE ERBEAA 'A

261,324,001 54.95%

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene Beneficial owner Personal 4,716,666 0.99%
BRFE ERBAA BA

Note: B 3 -

1. These shares are held by Man Yue Holdings Inc., a company wholly
and beneficially owned by Ms. Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above and as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures”, as at 31
December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the Company,
being 5% or more in the interest in the issued share capital of
the Company as recorded in the register of interests required to
be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, are set out as
below:

Long positions:

Capacity and nature of interest

Bt RESRMEE

Personal/Beneficial owner

BN/ E=mERA

Man Yue Holdings Inc.

ordinary shares held

FTERRREMATRRAREERSDZ
BENKE

2021F12A318 BRARREZT A &ZRITBAR
Hh - ZEIRIE (BHREEIEN) BXVEIEIZ6IERETT
BrERECLMEE BEARRDETRAS% A
FREERABZ AT

Approximate percentage
of the Company’s

issued share capital
EADREBRITRE
ZBY B DL

44.09%

Number of

g ERRAE

209,689,667

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no person,
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company,
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

During the Year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s shares.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 26.4% (2020: approximately 30.4%) of the total
sales during the Year and sales to the largest customers included
therein amounted to approximately 8.5% (2020: approximately
9.1%).

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 34.6% (2020: 33.4%) of the total purchases during
the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 12.7% (2020: approximately 11.6%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the first five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by KPMG who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the 2022 annual
general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint KPMG as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at that meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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ABOUT THE GROUP

The core businesses of Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited
(the "Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”
or "we"”) are the manufacture and sale of high technology
electronic components, including Aluminum Electrolytic Capacitors
("E-Caps”), Conductive Polymer Aluminum Solid Capacitors
("Polymer Caps”) and other innovative electronic components.
The Group offers a full range of E-Caps products which satisfy
the needs of global customers, consisting mainly of the world’s
leading information technology, telecommunications, electrical
and electronic brands.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG
Report”) outlines the Group’s environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") practices, plans and performance, and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers the period from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period” or
“2021").

Reporting Scope

The reporting scope is determined based on the respective
importance and production capacity of the business segments that
are directly operated by the Group. The ESG Report covers the
ESG performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitments
of the Group's four E-Caps production facilities in Dongguan, the
Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC"). Our offices with relatively
low environmental impact and production facilities with relatively
low production capacity have been excluded in the ESG Report. As
our data collection system advances and our efforts in sustainable
development deepen, we will continue to expand the scope of
disclosure in the future.
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Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). For the Group’s corporate
governance structure and other relevant information, please refer
to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 17 to 42 of this
annual report.

For the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has adopted the
following reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide:

Materiality: During the Reporting Period, we conducted a
materiality assessment to identify material ESG matters. We
focused on these identified material ESG matters when preparing
this ESG Report. The materiality of the ESG matters was reviewed
and confirmed by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) through
Audit Committee and ESG Working Group (“Working Group”).
Please refer to the sections headed "Stakeholders Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methods used to calculate the key
performance indicators (“KPIs") data in this ESG Report, as well as
the applicable assumptions, are provided in the notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation approach
of this ESG Report is consistent with the previous year for
comparison. Where there is any change in the scope of disclosure
and calculation methods, which may affect the comparison with
previous reports, explanations will be provided for the relevant
data.

Balance: This ESG Report has provided an unbiased picture of
the Group's performance in five areas: corporate governance,
environmental protection, employment practices, operating
practices and community engagement. It avoids selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may be inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.
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MESSAGE FROM CHAIRMAN

Dear Honourable Stakeholders,

| am pleased to present this ESG Report on behalf of the Board,
as it demonstrates the Group’s commitment to continuously
improving its ESG performance in five areas: corporate
governance, environmental protection, employment practices,
operating practices and community engagement.

In recent years, much attention has been paid to the sustainable
development and social responsibility of enterprises. When
conducting business, a company should incorporate ESG factors
into its core decisions. The Group also endeavours to develop a
sustainable development strategy and sound governance structure
in order to effectively manage ESG matters related to the Group.
The Board has to assess the potential impacts of ESG matters on
the Group's overall strategies, formulate ESG management policies
and strategies, and monitor the Group’s ESG matters. Information
on the Group's ESG governance structure is set out in the section
headed "ESG Governance Structure”.

To identify and prioritise material ESG matters that have significant
impacts on our operations and on stakeholders, we continuously
communicate with internal and external stakeholders, and engage
an independent third party to conduct materiality assessments.
Information on stakeholders’ engagement channels and the
materiality assessment conducted by the Group are set out in
the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” respectively. To better understand stakeholders’
expectations of the Group’s sustainable development, the Group
will further strengthen its communication with stakeholders.
The Group will take their views into account when formulating
relevant policies and measures in order to enhance its ESG
performance.

As an enterprise that takes its corporate social responsibility
seriously, the Group understands that sustainable development is
crucial to our planet. In line with the Group’s corporate strategy
and the PRC government’s vision to promote environmental
protection and carbon neutrality, the Group has set quantifiable
environmental targets to fulfill its commitment to corporate
social responsibility and to enhance its reputation as well as ESG
performance. To achieve these targets, the Group has actively
implemented the principles of sustainable development and
adopted relevant measures at the operational level. To ensure the
effective implementation of these measures, the Working Group
has been appointed to collect relevant ESG data, track and review
the Group’s performance and evaluate its progress towards its
targets.
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The Group is committed to promoting environmental sustainability
in its products and operations, which it believes will contribute
to the long term prosperity and development of its business.
As to its products, the Group has introduced and continued
to develop solutions for enhancing energy efficiency, such as
capacitors found in LED lamps and high-efficiency lighting and
new storage devices for use in environmentally friendly products.
All of the Group's products are halogen-free and complied with
the European Union'’s Directive on Restriction of the Use of Certain
Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment (the
"RoHS requirements”). We also require all our business partners
to comply with the RoHS requirements. As to its operations, all
of the Group’s production facilities conform to relevant local
environmental protection regulations and obtained relevant
certification. The Group holds certifications for 1ISO14001:2015
Environmental Management System, QC080000:2017 Hazardous
Substance Procedure Management System, IATF16949:2016
Quality Management System and 1S09001:2014 Quality
Management System. It has also formulated ESG-related policies in
accordance with the Code of Conduct of The Responsible Business
Alliance (“RBA"), attaching great importance to management
systems related to labour, ethics, health and safety as well as and
the environment.

In closing, on behalf of the Board and our management team,
I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to our valued
stakeholders for their tireless support and to our employees for
their valuable contributions to the Group's development. Looking
forward, the Group will continue to integrate ESG concepts into
our business strategies and management systems, take upon
ourselves to uphold good corporate citizenship, operate business
in a more responsible and sustainable manner, create sustainable
value for our Shareholders, and seek a sustainable future.

Chairman
Kee Chor Lin

AEEB NN EERREERHTIRENIFER
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has established an ESG governance structure to ensure
that its ESG governance is consistent with its business strategies,
and to integrate ESG management into its operational and
decision-making processes.

To manage the Group’s ESG performance, related matters and
potential risks, the Board has to take the overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG matters and reporting. The Board has
authorised the Audit Committee to oversee the Group’s ESG-
related matters. The Audit Committee has to formulate and review
the Group's ESG policies and practices, monitor the assessment
and management of its ESG-related matters, review and monitor
its ESG-related indicators and its progress towards its ESG-
related targets, review the compliance of the disclosures made
in its ESG reports, assess and evaluate its ESG-related risks and
opportunities, and ensure the appropriateness and effectiveness of
its ESG management and internal control. The Audit Committee
is required to report and make recommendations to the Board on
the above matters.

We have also established the Working Group composed of core
members from different departments. Under the authorisation of
the Board, the Working Group manages the Group’s ESG matters
in a systematic manner, assisting the Board and Audit Committee
in overseeing ESG matters. The Working Group has to assist
the Board in formulating and implementing the Group's ESG-
related strategies, frameworks and policies, conducting materiality
assessments, collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring
and evaluating the Group’s ESG performance, formulating the
Group's ESG-related targets and tracking its progress towards
them, ensuring the compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, as well as preparing ESG reports. The Working Group
schedules regular meetings for assessing the effectiveness of
existing policies and procedures and for developing appropriate
solutions to improve the overall performance of ESG policies. The
Working Group is required to report to the Board regularly, assist
in the assessment and identification of the Group's ESG risks and
opportunities, and ensure the implementation and effectiveness of
its risk management and internal control systems.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible enterprise, the Group not only actively develops
its business and improves its profitability, but also attaches
great importance to the relationship with stakeholders and
their feedback on our business and ESG matters, with a view
to actively balancing the interests of all parties involved and
promoting the sustainable development of enterprise. To fully
understand, respond to and address the core concerns of
different stakeholders, we remain in regular and close contact
with key stakeholders, including but not limited to Shareholders
and investors, customers, employees, suppliers, government and
regulatory agencies as well as communities, non-governmental
organisations (“NGOs") and the media.

Through the use of the diverse collaboration approaches
and communication channels shown in the table below, we
incorporate the expectations of stakeholders into our operational
and ESG strategies.

B ESH

AEBEA—RESTINGE EREGHEEEL &
FRFGE N 2t MIEEERERNE ZHHEERK
HEBMEBMESCEENRERZ R BB EKRF
EEFF&E BECEAFERRE - AEE THE - BE
LEBTRFOENZOEEE RMA—EHEEHE
nE BREETRRABRRERESE B EE HE
B BT R EE B S - DA R AL BE - FEBUT RS ([FER
FIHiE ] ) AR 4 15 HA B I B 3B -

FERERTRATOZTCAETRARBBERE &K
IR D E R HIRH AR IR EE RESGREGE H o

Expectations

Stakeholder(s) Communication channels
BHE BEEE
Shareholders and o Annual general meetings and other
investors general meetings
fRER B A & BRREAFAGREMBRERE
° Financial reports
s mE
o Announcements and circulars
Customers . Product brochures
e EmEEh
° Customer service hotline and email
BRI EGR R EL
o Company website
UNGIE DA

HE
o Compliant operations
aRKE
o Timely announcement of the company’s

latest information
REAMEERNEM

o Enhancement of corporate governance
and risk control
hneR 1 E VR @ ]

o Return on investment
& & B

o Financial results
BT 5 4E

o Product and service quality
Em M RIS E =

° Protection of customer privacy
RIEZE P AL

o Business integrity and ethics
i SE T BB R
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Stakeholder(s)

BhE

Employees

®E

Suppliers
HIER

Government and
regulatory agencies

B MEEWE

Communities, NGOs
and the media

B SEDUMHAE AN
e

HERERRE

Communication channels

BEEE

Training, seminars and briefings
Bl eMET S
Employee performance appraisals
BT TERBETI=Z

Staff newsletters and emails
BTEANLE

Business visits and suppliers’
meetings

ABES LHEE S
Supplier evaluation
g AT

Emails and phone calls
BN EZ

Site visits

B ER

Financial reports
MRS

Regular work meetings
THIEEH

Legal counsel

AR R

Community activities
HEREE

ESG reports
R e RERRE
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Expectations

HE

A safe working environment
REL2TIERER

Equal opportunity

TEHE

Salary and benefits

¥ o B2 42 R

Career development and training

BRI R MIE

Win-win cooperation
SIEHR

Business integrity and ethics

e AR L

Fair competition

ATFHE

Tax payment according to the law
BT

Business integrity and ethics

R EB(E RERE

Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

ETHRBARER

Giving back to society

Ol gt &

Fulfilling its responsibilities for
environmental protection
BITRRRERE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To better understand stakeholders’ views on and expectations
of our ESG performance, we conducted an annual materiality
assessment in a systematic manner. With reference to our business
development strategies and industry practices, we identified
and confirmed a list of material ESG matters, which covers five
major areas: corporate governance, environmental protection,
employment practices, operating practices and community
engagement. An online questionnaire was prepared based on
the list, with relevant stakeholders invited to rate the potential
material matters according to the importance of each ESG matter
and its impacts on the economy, environment and society. The
results of the questionnaire were then analysed, and a materiality
matrix was prepared accordingly. The materiality matrix and
identified material matters were reviewed and confirmed by the
Board through Audit Committee and Working Group before being
disclosed in this ESG Report. During the Reporting Period, our
materiality matrix was as follows:

BRI

REBUTEFNEHREB ZESGRANT R LB
2 RPRBE RSN D RETFEEE A T

AEBEZEREEEHERREE RITREN - #RIL
RBBAESGEHFF  HRERTAHE : bXER-

RERE BEEY 2EFREMRSHE - REER
RIBERBIMLMSHE  WEBHBR D ERIRESG
EFENSENRERESEE RETHENTE .

HEEEASEETHR RMUHESRENERE
TIAMARFNER R EREREREHNE
AREEEHEFELERZ LT/ ERMH LI
R WRAESGHREEHE - RIS R AEEH
EZRMIPREELNT

Materiality Matrix

BEM TG IER
ul
;Tiuf‘
¢ o ©
i (13
90
o (10]
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Impact of our Business to the Economy, Environment and Society ¥ 75 48E « IRIE - Rt T E

Annual Report 2021 3 57



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - HERERRE

Material Environmental, Social, and Governance Matters

EARR HERERAER
1 Emissions Control and Climate Change Mitigation
2 Waste Management
3 Energy Management
4 Water Management
5 Use of Packaging Materials
6 Employment Practices
7 Occupational Health and Safety
8 Training Management
9 Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
10 Supply Chain Quality Assurance
1 Supplier Environmental and Social Risk Assessment
12 Product Quality and Safety
13 Customer Service
14 Customer Privacy Protection
15 Advertising and Labelling
16 Anti-corruption
17 Community Investment
CONTACT US

We are always grateful to receive feedback and advice from
stakeholders. You may give feedback on this ESG Report or
express your views on the Group's sustainability performance
through the following channels:

Mailing address:

Unit 03, 6/F., Harbour Centre Tower 2,
8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Telephone number: (852) 2897 5277
Fax number: (852) 2558 6299

Email address: ir@manyue.com
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL A BIE
A1. Emissions A1, BER

The Group adheres to the strategy of sustainable
development in its operations and attaches great
importance to the environmental management of
each production process in order to fulfill its social
responsibility. To formulate environmental policies
and compliance targets for our production facilities,
we have prepared the “Quality & Environment &
Hazardous Substances Procedure Management Manual”
in accordance with the requirements of management
systems such as 1SO14001:2015 Environmental
Management System. In addition, we actively
implement the environmental standards set out in the
“RBA Management Manual”, as we strive to regulate
air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, sewage
and waste generated during our operations through a
range of procedures, thus improving the environmental
management in our operations. We aim to minimise
the pollution and environmental impacts caused by our
daily operations and comply with currently applicable
environmental laws and standards.

To comply with the relevant laws and regulations of
local governments and implement their environmental
policies consistently, the Group keeps abreast of
the latest national and regional environmental laws
and regulations as well as measures to strengthen
environmental protection. The Group strictly abides
by the environmental laws and regulations of the
PRC, including but not limited to the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes”. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
material non-compliance of local environmental laws
and regulations in relation to air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land as well as discharges of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

REELEE FRIBIHERRABE
EREHEEEIFNREERE UED
AREBEAEOHEEE - RME KK
ISO14001:20153RIFE B R EEHE R
TRIEH (E BIRIEREEME BIZEEIE
FM)  BEEREHERESHEAR

) 2RREE - HNBEB—RINEFR
EREPELAZER BERB(EER
B BKREENS RAEBRIETH
RFEE SEMARMAEEREFEESE
SR MRERERERE  BTRTE
FREIRRIBEEDI TR

AR [E E BB ML B SR AN (R SR ) IR IR AR
FRRER IR RBRENEE - BT
EBHBTHRRNERERMEREERE
HE-AEBEEBETHERBBETR
B (PEARKNBERFEREER) -
(REARRMBAFRPEE) (P
ARKMBEEREYSRREN &E) F-o
RBEHRE AEELEAZERLEER
B M7k RS IA KRB F R E
FREEWHNM A EAEREMWERERE
ERERNEREH-
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Air Emissions

The Group's air emissions are mainly attributable to
the consumption of diesel and liquefied petroleum gas
("LPG") by its vehicles and staff canteens. To further
reduce emissions, the Group will gradually reduce its
overall air emissions intensity over the next five years,
with 2021 as the base year. To reduce the impacts
on the environment, the Group has actively adopted
air emissions reduction measures, such as regularly
maintain and repair vehicles to prevent them from
generating excessive air emissions from broken parts
and other reasons, and phase out substandard trucks
in accordance with the requirements of local emissions
regulations. In addition, our staff canteens are equipped
with grease and smoke purification equipment. After
treatment, the kitchen exhaust gases produced in our
staff canteens is completely in compliance with national
environmental standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's performance
of air emissions is summarised as follows:

Types of exhaust gas Unit
BRES B
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kilograms
RELPI(NOX) N
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kilograms
WA L ¥1(SOx) NI
Particulate matter (PM) kilograms
SERL Y (PM) NI

JB& SR BE R

AEBENERFREZRNERME TR
Zr5m MoReamR (HRIeAmR] ) H
Mo REHE— TR BRI ANEE LA
2WEREF ERRAFE SR EEE
BEREMERE - RRVEIRIENTE X
SECERIREE RUR A IE - 0 E iR E
Kie = B e PR REEREN
PIHCBERER WIREH R PR ERIRE -
AATEREE - WS RETFRAMEF
ekl HELRERTENABRRRE
LR -

R|BERE AEENERFRERAMM
LUNNE

2021
20214

978.51

0.85

85.26
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GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly attributable
to the direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) from the
consumption of diesel and LPG by its vehicles and staff
canteens and the use of refrigerants, the energy indirect
GHG emissions (Scope 2) from purchased electricity, as
well as other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) from
business trips made by its employees.

In line with the PRC’s overall GHG reduction strategy
and sustainable development targets, the Group will
gradually reduce its total GHG emissions intensity over
the next five years, with 2021 as the base year. In view
of these emissions sources, we have actively adopted
the following GHG emissions reduction measures:

e Actively adopt emissions reduction measures on
vehicles and canteen cooking, which are described
in the section headed “Air Emissions” under this
Aspect;

e Conduct regular inspection on the refrigeration
systems to ensure that they are sealed;

e Actively adopt environmental protection and
energy-saving measures, which will be described in
the section “Energy Management” under Aspect
A2; and

e Reduce carbon emissions caused by business travel
by means of electronic communication channels,
such as video conferences and WeChat meetings.

BEREHEN
AEENRERBHREIZRENERNE
TERERTEFERSOH AR AHR - AR
B2 EE RERNERRERE YN (8
E—) SMNBENERHERE R L ERE
HEpR (EBE =) AR B THIMABER R E
fEEAEREHN (BE=) -

ARABREEDEERERE R KKE
BRBIZE ANEBEFTUA2021FIEREESF

EARAEZRSRIERER BB ER
o FAET S it BERUR - EFEIRIREN T

BE R

o MHEHRRBESHMBRERRMBEE
W HEE RS EAEE D (R
M —ER A

o TEHBRBHLEAR WREASERE
ke
o MBHBERBURRHEEER HEEE

RAEA2BE T [FERE L] — &P &
B &
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During the Reporting Period, the Group's performance

of GHG emissions is summarised as follows:

Indicator’

BE

RIREHRE - AEEBEEREHENRERR
BEaan T -

HI

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO2e 974.71
HE-—-—BHEAEREBEN WS REE
e Fuel consumption by vehicles tCOze 761.88
B R ERE WS EE
e Fuel consumption by staff canteens tCO2e 6.91
8 TERE M dHFE WS LIREE
e Use of refrigerants tCOze 205.92
2B WE—SALIRE &
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions tCO2e 35,461.39
SBE - —REEREREBEN MR — bR E 8
e Purchased electricity tCO2e 35,461.39
SNEE WE — ik E 2
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions tCOze 10.33
HE=-HtbEZAZRBENR mE — bk E 2
e Business travel tCO2e 10.33
HOMNA B MR AR E 8
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) tCOze 36,446.43
BRERBHMEE (B8E— k=) —&irEe
Total GHG emissions intensity tCOze/totaI gross floor area? 0.37
BERBHNEERE —RbiRE 8 REEmE
Notes: B

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent. Its calculation method has been

refined and is based on, including but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development, the latest release of baseline
emission factors for regional power grids in the PRC,
the "“Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), “"How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 December 2021, the total gross floor area of the
Group's reporting scope was 97,784.50 m2. This number
is also used in the calculations of other intensity data.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#FHZEEHR LT
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Sewage Discharge

The Group discharges industrial wastewater and
sewage during its daily operations. We have engaged
qualified third parties to recycle industrial wastewater
and installed two circulating water vacuum pumps at
our production facilities. The pumps operate 24 hours
a day to recycle and continuously reuse wastewater,
thus reducing waste and pollution. Moreover, we have
appointed a third party to conduct sewage tests. The
test results have shown that our sewage outfall meets
the class Il standard for the second period specified
in the local standard of Discharge Limits of Water
Pollutants (DB44/26-2001) in Guangdong Province, the
PRC. As the Group's wastewater is discharged through
the municipal sewage network to the regional sewage
treatment plant for treatment, the amount of water
consumption of the Group represents the wastewater
discharge volume. The water consumption data and
the relevant water consumption targets and measures
will be described in the section headed “Water
Management” under Aspect A2.

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste

As the Group’s main business is the manufacture
of high-end technology electronic components, it is
inevitable that the Group generates hazardous waste,
such as pipe casings, blotting paper and carbon foils
during its production process. To reduce hazardous
waste discharge, the Group will gradually lower its total
hazardous wastes intensity over the next five years, with
2021 as the base year. The hazardous waste generated
by the Group shall not be discharged, disposed of,
or transported causally, but shall be processed by
government-approved and qualified waste collectors so
as to in compliance with relevant environmental laws
and regulations.
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As the Group has improved its data collection system to
more accurately record the total amount of hazardous
wastes, the total hazardous wastes produced by the
Group for the Reporting Period increased significantly
compared to 2020. The hazardous waste generated by
the Group during the Reporting Period is summarised as

HRAEBE AR KERS B AR
KHEEBEED RS FILANEBRR
HEIBTE AN B EEEMREEE2020
FREEF - RIBEHRM AEBFELEN
BEEEYHALT

follows:
Types of waste Unit 2021
BEZE Y E R B 202145
Total hazardous wastes produced tonnes 75.89
EEREEDRE A
e Pipe casings tonnes 25.65
T A
e Blotting paper tonnes 39.99
R 4 M98
e Carbon foils tonnes 10.25
A 1A
Total hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/total gross floor area 0.0008
EEREDRETE WE 4R SAE AR
Non-Hazardous Waste BEREEY

The non-hazardous waste generated during the Group's
operations are industrial waste, food waste and paper.
To reduce non-hazardous waste discharge, the Group
will gradually lower its total non-hazardous wastes
intensity over the next five years, with 2021 as the base
year. In response to the government’s call, the Group
strives to implement the four basic waste reduction
principles, namely reduce, reuse, recycle and replace, in
order to promote waste classification in its operations,
and carry out monitoring, control and processing
procedures prior to the discharge or treatment of waste.
After being collected and classified, the waste will
be centrally collected and processed by government-
approved and qualified waste collectors. The Group will
collect and sort its food waste. Liquid form food waste
will be recycled by the Group internally, while solid form
food waste will be collected by the government for
recycling for power generation.
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The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
during the Reporting Period is summarised as follows:

Types of waste

RIS A EBELENEZEEY
WA an T -

BEZE YR B

Total non-hazardous wastes produced tonnes 151.54

BEREEVEE A

¢ Industrial wastes tonnes 28.59
TEHR L7}

e Food wastes tonnes 89.43
BT 4 U7

e Paper tonnes 33.52
& 4 7

Total non-hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/total gross floor area 0.002

BEEENEETE MR, 4B SR E AR

A2. Use of Resources

Protecting the environment and conserving the
resources are important responsibilities for large-scale
companies. Committed to actively promoting the
efficient utilisation of resources, the Group constantly
monitors the potential impacts of its operations on
the environment. As described in Aspect A1, the
Group has developed policies and procedures related
to environmental management to manage the use of
resources such as water, electricity, diesel and LPG. The
Group also focuses on the management of key energy-
consuming equipment and regulates the equipment'’s
operational processes to utilise energy efficiently.

A2. ERER

RERFNHNERIIRB P E 2 BER
B-AKENEGESARERERAT
5 BAEREGLEHRRTRAOEER
E - nAIEET Al - AEBEE HIEERE
ERREOBEMER - HKE S0k
BILAMREERERETEE AEE
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Energy Management

During its daily production and operations, the major
sources of the Group’s energy consumption are
diesel and LPG consumed by its company vehicles
and staff canteens, as well as electricity consumption
for its operations. Adhering to its commitment to
energy-saving and consumption reduction, the Group
will gradually reduce its total energy consumption
intensity over the next five years, with 2021 as the base
year. By 2025, we will install solar panels to increase
the use of renewable energy and replace the lighting
at all our operating sites with LEDs to enhance energy
efficiency. In addition, we will organise annual seminars
and other activities to raise awareness of energy-saving
among our employees.

In addition to the energy-saving measures applicable to
vehicles and canteen cooking mentioned in the section
headed “Air Emissions” under Aspect A1, the Group
has also made efforts to reduce electricity consumption.
The Group has implemented the “Preliminary Plan for
the Energy-saving Optimisation through the Central
Air-conditioning Al Control System” at its production
facilities. Through the Al algorithm and big data
processing technology of the control system, dual
inspection and analysis of equipment safety and energy
efficiency are conducted. After the analysis, the system
will provide optimised control suggestions or carry
out optimised controls directly to enhance the energy
efficiency of our production facilities. Moreover, the
Group has invested in and developed a distributed
energy storage system at its production facilities. The
system is utilised by a third-party partner company to
supply electricity to the Group during peak periods
for the purpose of implementing electricity demand
management and load shifting, thus effectively
enhancing the efficiency of electricity consumption.

66 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#RIEEEARA T

RERERE

FEHR4EESEY ANEBMERBEREE
DANGIEH KB THREFTEENLE A
BALRRR  AREEREE - A EE S EE
FEHBEERANARE WS 20214
EREEF HERRAFESREBLETRHE
FEERE - f£2025F s 2 il - AEEFLE
ARG EEEAAR ASE N AT A GERE A - I
BB A REEIRALD 25
BEJR(E AR ANES o AN AEE IS S FHE
HBEEES LIRS B INEEEH-

BT REEmAIR [BERBER] —# PR
BRAER LR ERRNEERRIN AN RE
NEENRDENER RNEBERELE
RIEELT (FREFHAEERGE LB
FHER) BREERFRHARLEARE
BRIRRA ETTREL 2 EEMNEER
BT - AR - RS IR BILETTIE
HEARREEETECE RELEER
B2 BETRBE AR ES » LeSh - AEREIRE N E
FERBREZRSMARERSRAR
ME=TAERARMNARRES EEER
BRAAEEHRE BRENFTRER HE
EHR BMRESENERNERRE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BN g RERRE

As the Group has improved its data collection system HRAEEE REERKRERS B &R
to more accurately record total fuel usage, the Group's SRMREME AR 8 - B AN 5 B 5 R 45 B RS
direct energy consumption for the Reporting Period R EE LR B2 E82020F K| 7o

increased significantly compared to 2020.

A summary of the Group’s energy consumption REEERE ARE/R R BERIRBM
performance during the Reporting Period is as follows: FONNE
Types of energy
BERESR
Direct energy consumption? MWh 3,261.65
HERERBRE JK B
e Diesel MWh 590.48
B JKEL B
e |PG MWh 2,671.17
RIEAER JKELF
Indirect energy consumption MWh 58,123.89
AR IR JKFLEF
e Purchased electricity MWh 58,123.89
SNEBE S JK LB
Total energy consumption MWh 61,385.54
BEeREREE JKEL B
Total energy consumption intensity MWh/total gross floor area 0.63
BERERERE KEE4REEEE

Note: fHEE:

3. To ensure the consistency of data, the Group has refined 3. RRFEEN B AEEETERR
the calculation method of energy consumption data, HFREBIERGE A A TRIBEBIER AR
which is based on the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued BFrEh e GGEREUEFM) ATHIET - e
by the International Energy Agency. Its direct energy BIKEE ABEMN 2512021 F HEEERERE
consumption in 2021 is presented in the unit of MWh. 2 -RMEHME A& BB #FH55,168.07
During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed RFFEEHE K%367,712. 76 AFHRAEBER

55,168.07 litres of diesel and 367,712.76 litres of LPG.
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Water Management

The Group’s water consumption is mainly attributable
to its production process. Due to the geographical
locations of its production facilities, the Group did not
encounter any issue in sourcing water that is fit for

purpose.

To reduce water consumption, the Group will gradually
lower its total water consumption intensity over the
next five years, with 2021 as the base year. From
2022 onwards, we will also install flow controllers
at our operation sites to enhance water efficiency.
Posters and slogans promoting water-saving will be
displayed prominently at our operation sites to remind
all employees to develop the habit of conserving
water consciously. The Group will also organise annual
seminars and other activities to promote water-saving.

In addition to the wastewater recycling measures
described in the section headed “Sewage Discharge”
under Aspect A1, the Group also actively adopts
measures to control water consumption, regularly
inspects its pipelines and promptly repairs leaking pipes
to avoid any waste of water resources throughout its

whole production process.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water
consumption performance is summarised as follows:

KEREE
REEHBKEEAREERF - ERNA
EEAERMOMIENE  AEB R SKE
BEAKIR R B EMERE-

AR RK REBEE L2021 FEEE
FrERRAFRESFEEKETE
fe20224F i REE T HR L EBHE L
EEES AR AR - WHES 8
B E RO E SRR IR B KIRAE - 4REEFT
BFEIENBEBHOMKNEE  REETR
K EFRRBES LS HEEHOMK.

BT RATETZ [T57KEER ] —EnAmil e BE
KBS ESN - AR SR B IR B RS R R ER A K
EHIEE LEMREEBLREEER
KIER BARBELEBREDERKE
RRE

RREMB AEBNFKRRHRNT

Water consumed Unit 2021
5PN B 20215
Total water consumption tonnes 558,266.67
BFEKE g

Total water consumption intensity tonnes/total gross floor area 5.71
BFEKETE WE, 4R SEE R
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Use of Packaging Material

Due to its business nature, the Group uses packaging
material to seal and protect its products, which are
mainly paper, plastic and wood. To optimise our way
of packaging, each of our products has a material list,
on which the most suitable and packaging-effective
materials for the product are clearly specified to help
reduce the use of packaging material.

As the Group has improved its data collection system
to more accurately record the usage of packaging
materials, the Group’s total packaging material
consumption during the Reporting Period increased
significantly as compared to 2020. A summary of the
Group's packaging material consumption performance
during the Reporting Period is as follows:

Types of packaging material

BEMBER
AEENEBEEABEMHTH RR#E
Em EEXBRMAE BBEAM BE(L
BEFN BHANSELAEEE EEMH
JI%k - REEERABERTABERGEN
Mk EERSEEMBNERE-

MR ARED TEEHIRE R B 2R
REeEMHERE A AKER®RE
HAfE ) B R B 4 ) B ARER2020F A 1@
b REE R AEENBEMHER
RIBMEA T

aBEMEEAR

Total packaging material consumption tonnes 4,220.55

BEMHETHRE L7}

e Paper tonnes 1,701.60
i Mg

e Plastic tonnes 2,292.28
el W

e Wood tonnes 226.67
AN L

Total packaging material consumption intensity  tonnes/total gross floor area 0.04

BEMHEERERE WE, 4R R SEE S
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources A3. BER XRER

Committed to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility and practicing sustainable development,
the Group strives to mitigate its potential impacts
on the environment. The Group has implemented
the aforementioned environmental policies and is
committed to reducing natural resource consumption
and implementing effective environmental management
in pursuit of best industry practices to ensure that it
strictly abides by all relevant laws and regulations.

Environmental Impact Testing and Assessment

The Group has appointed a third-party organisation
to conduct regular environmental impact tests and
assessments to identify the environmental risks in its
business operations. The test items include sewage,
industrial gas emissions, oily fume from restaurants,
kitchen exhaust air from canteens, and noise at
boundary. Each of these item meets the relevant
government standard. The Group will continue to
monitor potential environmental impacts caused by
its operations and take management and preventive
measures to reduce potential risks and help protect the
environment.

Raising Environmental Awareness

The Group has obtained 1SO14001:2015 Environmental
Management System certification. This management
system helps the Group strengthen its environmental
management during its operations, encourages it to
keep improving its environmental performance and
reduce its impacts on the environment. The Group
has invested significant amount of resources in the
implementation of this management system and
provided regular training courses and assessments
for employees from each department, with an aim to
enhance their understanding of the system, raise their
environmental awareness, and to ensure the effective
operation of the management system within the Group.
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A4. Climate Change Ad. RIFE1L

The escalating risks and challenges posed by climate
change to the global economy may have a negative
impact on the Group's business. Therefore, the Group
recognises the importance of identifying and mitigating
any material impacts caused by climate change. In
accordance with the international recommendations
made by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD") established by the Financial
Stability Board, the Group’s management has
assessed and recognised the climate-related risks and
corresponding opportunities that affect the Group's
business. Based on the assessment results, the Group
has incorporated climate risks into its “Corporate
Risk Management System” and the related processes.
Internal meetings were held to discuss related matters
in order to manage and review climate-related risks and
seize related opportunities. With reference to the risk
classification of TCFD, the Group has identified climate-
related risks and corresponding management measures
as follows:

Physical Risk

The increasing frequency and severity of extreme
weather events such as extreme cold or extreme heat,
storms, rainstorms and typhoons, could lead to an
increased risk of power shortages, interrupt the supply
chain and damage the Group's assets, disrupting
the operation of the Group's offices and resulting
in reduced revenue, as well as increasing the cost of
repairing or restoring damaged sites. These events
could also disrupt the work of employees and even
cause casualties. As a countermeasure, the Group has
formulated contingency plans to reduce or avoid losses
when extreme weather affects its business premises.
The Group will identify these risks and prioritise those
with material impacts on the Group so that preventive
measures can be taken as soon as possible.

RIREC /IR E S R AR AMPEBA
BNt A RE AR B REH R AES
& - R NREBERABRAMBERIKEL
TROEFNEAZENEZ L -RIESH
REZBEERIMNREHEBEYBESRE
T4 ([TCPD ) mBIRR 2% AEEE R
EefEYREABNEAREXBEEMEE
R RIRAARE R R AR HE - REET
RIBFEER  FRERRBA (BERR
BIEGE) MEERE LRITRMEER
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BRERAR
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Transition Risk

To achieve sustainable development, governments
worldwide have enacted climate-related legislation or
tightened regulations to support the global vision of
decarbonisation. For example, the PRC government
is pursuing a goal of hitting peak emissions by 2030
and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. Striving to
optimise its dual control system on energy consumption,
the PRC government could introduce measures to
restrict the use of electricity and curb production,
which has affected some of the Group’s production
facilities in terms of operation. The Group would take
timely countermeasures and adjust its employees’ work
schedule to ensure the continuation of production and
operations and reduce the impacts of policy changes
on the Group. Moreover, in line with the development
of national new energy policies, the Group will actively
provide a complete solution for energy-saving and
storage applications.

Besides, the Stock Exchange has required listed
companies to enhance climate-related disclosures
in their ESG reports, which may result in increased
compliance costs. Failure to meet the climate change
compliance requirements may expose the Group to
risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate reputation
may also decline. The Group will regularly monitor
existing and emerging climate-related trends, policies
and regulations to avoid reputational risks due to
delayed response. The Group will continue to assess the
effectiveness of the Group's actions to address climate
change and enhance its resilience against climate-
related matters.
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B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

Human resources are the fundamental base of our
sustainable development. Our success highly depends
on our ability to attract, cultivate and retain talent.
Adhering to our people-oriented principle, we respect
and protect the legitimate rights of every employee.
The Group has established the “RBA Human Resources
Management Procedure” to standardise our labour and
employment management and specify the principles
and rules related to the selection, cultivation, use and
retention of talent, so as to improve the quality and
efficiency of employee performance. The Group has
also formulated the “Employee Handbook"”, “Wages
and Working Hours Control Procedure” and “RBA
Anti-discrimination Control Procedure”, detailing the
relevant management rules related to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare, so as to
safeguard the interests of every employee and build a
harmonious employment relationship.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations such as the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and the “Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China”. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance of laws and regulations related to human
resources that had a significant impact on the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, there were 1,714 full-time
employees and no part-time employees within the
Group's reporting scope, all of whom were located in
Dongguan, China. The breakdown is as follows:

Number of employees

By gender
Male
Female

Bt
ey

By age
<30
30-50
>50

<30

>50

30-50

BEAH
EERI B D

BERE D

#*

=

B1. EfE

ANBRBAEEFEHROER - K&
BE R T KBERRS BERREER
THIREN - ARBEFAA/AN  EER
e BTN EEGZ ARBEDRY
(RBAANEREERF) - RELBIER
EIECRAITES B B BAHEBR
BIRHIE - ARFA B T TIERE R - K
SEIEHE (BIFM) (TEHEIRF
ZHITRF) N (RBAZEIFEAR SRR F) -
FHARSERFM L ERE BERES T
TR B FERE 2l RN
REMFERBFOEEMA LgZE
T EHas BREMENSBERK-

AEEERET (hEARLKNBELEE)
R(PEARANBESEHE RE) F1HEH
TEREMR - A E MR AN AT
B EERANERA BAGIERME AR
SEELERFENBR -

HE2021F12A31B  AEBHREHEN
HE1714828EES SEXMxEBES
B BERz - EEomT:

2021
20214

1,107
607

736
927
51
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Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Adhering to a strict and transparent recruitment
process, the Group actively implements the strategy
of “strengthening itself with talents”. We regularly
review our corporate structure and manpower needs,
formulate human resources entry standards, and
review the “Manpower Request” submitted by each
department before recruiting. Our administration
department recruits professionals with different
backgrounds through external and internal channels
in accordance with relevant regulations. Guided by
the selection principles of meritocracy and fairness,
we conduct entry evaluation and interviews based on
candidates’ work experience, abilities and qualifications.
Those who pass interviews need to be approved by the
relevant person in charge or senior management before
they can be hired.

The Group has implemented an assessment system
based on the principles of fairness and transparency,
and regularly assess the performance of employees at
all levels based on their work ability, moral character,
knowledge, and achieved results. We regularly
recognise outstanding employees according to
the assessment results, motivate our employees to
work hard, and provide them with opportunities for
promotion and development to unleash their potential.

Moreover, the Group does not allow the unjustifiable
dismissal of any employee under any circumstances,
and always carries out our employee dismissal process
on a reasonable basis. The Group will ensure that
adequate communication has been made before formal
dismissal and will provide compensation to employees in
accordance with the law in order to avoid any conflict.
When an employee resigns, he or she is required to
fill in a “Resignation Form” and apply one month
in advance. The Group will follow the termination
procedures to ensure that the employee can receive
their severance pay in a timely manner.
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During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover RBEHE AEEREHEEANLES
rate within the Group’s reporting scope was KL 4 B49.87% HEIH T :

approximately 49.87%. The breakdown is as follows:

Employee turnover rate* & 857 ok bt =4

By gender &1 Bl 8l 5

Male Bt 50.78%

Female it 48.24%

By age RERE D

<30 <30 58.13%

30-50 30-50 40.19%

>50 >50 19.35%

By geographical region R ES D

Dongguan = 49.87%
Remuneration and Benefits FHRER
The Group has established a fair, reasonable and REBERELT —ERATF -QRE-AEHAE
competitive remuneration system. We calculate salaries HEINTHER - AEEXEZELE N
for our employees based on their work attendance, R BETRSENRRER He-
overtime hours, allowances as well as the premium, EEBEREIZEHE T ARG
taxes, and living expenses they need to pay, and we pay WEHMRIBEE T RE  AEBTEEHNE
salaries on time every month. Based on the performance /LA RS - AN EETE R 5
of each employee, we also provide attendance bonuses 5B URBRE IS EARER-

and other types of bonuses. We regularly review our
remuneration packages to ensure that our employees
receive their due rewards.

Note: fHEE:

4. The employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the 4. RBEMAERZBEHEBERES AR
number of employees leaving employment during the AR BA9IE B A SRR E B A AR
Reporting Period by the sum of the number of employees AT ESE

at the beginning of the Reporting Period and the number
of people employed during the Reporting Period.
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In addition to basic salaries and bonuses, the Group
provides comprehensive benefits to our employees.
In compliance with the “Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and other laws and
regulations, we fully protect the legitimate rights of
every employee. We have standardised our attendance
and rest management and maintain a normal work
schedule, so as to regulate our employees’ working
hours and provide them with the rest periods and
vacations they are entitled to. The leave our employees
are entitled to includes statutory leave, personal leave,
sick leave, work injury leave, annual leave, marriage
leave, compassionate leave and maternity leave.
In accordance with the “Social Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the Group also provides
“five insurances and one fund” for our employees in
the PRC, namely pension, medical, unemployment,
work-related injury, and maternity insurances and
housing fund, so that our employees can enjoy the
benefit provided by social security insurances.

The Group also provides our employees with good
accommodation and entertainment facilities, such as
libraries, internet cafes, dance halls, entertainment
rooms and other facilities for study and entertainment
purposes, so that our employees can hold cultural
and recreational activities during festivals. The Group's
middle and senior cadres can also dine in the cadre
restaurant and enjoy a fixed board and lodging
allowance every month, with additional subsidies
provided if necessary.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group is committed to providing a workplace
free from harassment and illegal discrimination,
and to prohibiting any form of discrimination and
harassment related to race, social status, nationality,
religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, employee
representative qualifications or political views. If
an employee believes that there is discrimination
and harassment in the Group, he or she can file a
complaint orally or in writing with the general manager,
management representative, employee representative
or the administration department. The administration
department or the person authorised by the general
manager will then thoroughly investigate the incident
and deal with it in a timely manner, and respond to the
complainant orally or in writing as soon as possible.
If it is confirmed that wrongful acts of discrimination
and harassment have indeed occurred, we will take
immediate corrective measures to avoid the recurrence
of similar incidents.
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B2. Health and Safety

We attach great importance to the health and safety of
our employees. The Group has formulated management
procedures such as the “RBA Occupational Health
Management Procedure” to safeguard the health
and safety of our employees, prevent and eliminate
occupational disease hazards, and maintain a safe
working environment. The Group strictly monitors the
hazard sources that exist in our daily activities, and
identify, assess and control any occupational health and
safety deficiency that may lead to accidents.

In the past three years (including the Reporting
Period), the Group recorded 1 work-related fatality,
representing a work-related fatality rate of 0.06%. The
incident occurred in May 2021 when a technician of
the production department, who was in the sealing
workshop to adjust the sealing assembly machine,
reached into the sealing assembly machine with his
bare hands to adjust the machine when the power of
the machine should have been turned off but was not,
resulting in his death by electric shock. The Group has
sent its condolences to the employee’s family and will
provide assistance if necessary.

During the Reporting Period, the Group lost a total of
113 working days due to work-related injuries. The
Group was not aware of any serious violation of laws
and regulations related to health and safety that had
a significant impact on the Group. Relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the “Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the “Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases”.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Health training and education are provided to
our employees to prevent them from contracting
occupational diseases and to avoid any occupational
hazard accidents. For example, during the induction
training for our new employees, the training staff of our
administration department will explain health-related
information to new employees. We also design annual
training programmes related to occupational health for
our employees. The training unit of our administration
department is responsible for organising the training
courses and assessments. The health knowledge
covered by these courses includes: characteristics of
job hazards, protective measures, job safety operating
procedures, the requirement of using personal
protective equipment, as well as legal and regulatory
requirements.

According to the identification and assessment results in
respect of hazard sources, regular occupational health
examinations are provided to our employees by the
administration department. Employees diagnosed with
occupational diseases shall receive medical treatment
or take convalescence leave according to the opinions
of the occupational disease diagnosis agency. After
treatment, employees confirmed to be unfit to continue
their original hazardous work should be transferred
from their original posts as soon as possible and be
given other duties.

To ensure a safe working environment, departments
located at the Group's toxic and hazardous workplaces
shall inspect the operation of occupational health
protection facilities regularly in accordance with relevant
regulations to ensure their normal operation. Unless
authorised, no one shall dismantle or stop the operation
of such facilities. All departments must also provide
their employees with personal protective equipment
that meets the national occupational health standards,
such as providing face shields and eye shields to
employees who come into contact with chemicals,
and strengthen the monitoring of the use of personal
protective equipment. In terms of fire safety, the Group
has formulated the “RBA Fire Safety Control Procedure”
to standardise fire drills and training procedures, and
to ensure the sound performance of fire protection
facilities and the normal operation of fire protection
operation systems to prevent fire accidents.
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According to the identification and assessment results
in respect of hazard sources, warning signs and labels
will be put at workplaces where occupational hazards
occur or may occur, and the relevant employees will be
notified. When an occupational hazard accident occurs,
the relevant personnel should report to the person in
charge of the Group’s occupational health management
and to the State Administration of Work Safety in the
PRC in a timely manner, take emergency measures to
stop the operation that causes occupational disease
hazards, control the accident scene, prevent the
situation from escalating, and minimise the harm
caused by the accident.

Measures in Response to COVID-19

In response to the outbreak of novel coronavirus
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group strictly comply with
and implement the guidelines and announcements of
the Center for Disease Control and Prevention of the
PRC on pandemic prevention to protect the health of
our employees and minimise business risks. To ensure
the health and safety of our employees and control
the risk of the pandemic, we provided guidelines on
pandemic prevention and control to our employees
during the pandemic, informing all departments and
workplaces to take a series of pandemic prevention
and response measures, such as strictly controlling the
health and safety inspections at entrances and exits,
checking whether our employees have worn a mask,
taking their temperature, and checking their health
code. We also require visitors to provide health codes,
travel records and nucleic acid test certificates to
prevent high-risk visitors from entering our premises.
We also procure sufficient pandemic prevention supplies
and equipment, and remind our employees to pay
attention to their personal hygiene and to keep social
distancing.
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B3. Development and Training B3. #RKEI

The Group attaches great importance to the
establishment of internal management training
and development systems. We are also committed
to enhancing our employees’ business capabilities
and understanding of our corporate culture to
improve our manpower performance and core
competitiveness, support our employees’ personal
growth and development, and promote our sustainable
development. To strengthen our training management,
in addition to implementing the regulations on talent
development set out in the “RBA Human Resources
Management Procedure”, we have formulated the
“Educational Training Management Procedure” and
annual training plans to provide our employees with
diverse training courses to meet their different needs,
and to enhance their professionalism, professional
knowledge and abilities.

Training Management

Our training programmes can be divided into
internal ones and external ones. Our internal training
programmes are led by the administration department
and coordinated by other departments, and carried
out according to our annual training plan, corporate
development or production needs. They include, among
others, induction training, pre-job training, job transfer
training, on-the-job training and safety training. When
a new process is introduced or a customer has special
requirements or complaints, the responsible department
supervisor will take the lead in the training and decide
the training theme and content. Each department can
also apply for the arrangement of external training
programmes to take professional knowledge courses
that cannot be provided by the Group's internal
lecturers, or to participate in training courses provided
by specialised training institutions or government units
to obtain qualification certificates.

At the end of each year, the Group formulates a training
plan for the next year based on our business needs. We
also assess the effectiveness of our training according
to its demand and candidates. We will continue to
assess the effectiveness of our training and improve our
employees’ quality through the evaluation of training
instructors and training effects.
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During the Reporting Period, we held a series of training
courses, which covered the standard terms and basic
knowledge set out in ISO14001:2015 Environmental
Management System, QC080000 Hazardous Substances
Procedure Management System, IATF16949:2016
Quality Management System and ISO9001:2015 Quality
Management System, as well as knowledge related
to occupational health and safety, anti-corruption and
quality control processes to enhance our employees’
knowledge and skills to help them cope with work
challenges.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of
employees trained®> by the Group was approximately
49.87%, and the average training hours completed
per employee® was approximately 10.44 hours. The
breakdown of the percentage of employee trained
and the average number of training hours completed
per employee by gender and employee category is as
follows:
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Percentage
of trained Average
training hours®

FHZ G EC

employees’
ZilfEEBE D

By gender REH 85
Male S

Female g

By employee catergory REEBERES
Senior management SRERRE
Middle management PRERERE
General staff TWMET

Notes:

5. The overall percentage of employees trained is calculated
by dividing the total number of employees who took
part in training during the Reporting Period by the sum
of the total number of employees at the end of the
Reporting Period and the number of employees leaving
employment during the Reporting Period.

6.  The average training hours completed per employee is
calculated by dividing the total number of training hours
during the Reporting Period by the sum of the total
number of employees at the end of the Reporting Period
and the number of employees leaving employment
during the Reporting Period.

7. The percentage of employees trained by category is
calculated by dividing the number of employees in the
specified category who took part in training during the
Reporting Period by the total number of employees who
took part in training during the Reporting Period.

8. The average training hours by category is calculated by
dividing the number of training hours for employees in
the specified category during the Reporting Period by
the sum of the number of employees in the specified
category at the end of Reporting Period and the number
of employees leaving employment in the specified
category during the Reporting Period.
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63.61% 10.70
36.39% 9.96
2.52% 12.33
6.42% 41.40
91.06% 9.16
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with “Regulation on Labor
Security Supervision” and “Provisions on the Prohibition
of the Use of Child Labour” of the PRC to prevent any
employment of child labour and forced labour. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material violations of laws and regulations on the
prevention of child labour and forced labour.

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

The Group has detailed all our recruitment procedures
and requirements in our “Employee Handbook” and
the “RBA Identity Verification Procedure for New
Employees”. We require our new employees to provide
true and accurate personal information, including ID
cards and graduation certificates, and submit them
to the administration department for strict review
and verification, after which the personnel files will
be kept on record. We have also formulated the
“RBA Child Labour and Juvenile Labour Management
Control Procedure”, which set out the formal
reporting procedures for handling any exceptions. If
any teenager or child under the age of 16 is found
among our employees, the responsible personnel
or department head should immediately report to
the administration department, which will then take
appropriate remedial measures. The administrative
department will immediately report to the local labour
bureau, arrange health checks for the minor as soon as
possible and bear the relevant medical expenses. We
will solicit opinions from the minor in accordance with
relevant regulations and immediately send someone
to escort the minor back to his or her original place of
residence, then require his or her parent or guardian
to sign a receipt and confirm it with the seal of the
local administrative unit above the village level, and
return the receipt to the administration department for
inspection and filing. If we employ juvenile workers who
are at least 16 years old but under 18 years old, we
must register with the county-level labour administrative
department to obtain employment certificates for such
juvenile workers. We are required to conduct health
inspections on juvenile workers in accordance with
relevant regulations and record the health conditions of
all juvenile workers.
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B5.

In addition, all our employees work overtime on
a voluntary basis, and the relevant regulations on
working hours and overtime hours are specified in the
“"Employee Handbook” to avoid any violations of labour
standards and safeguard our employees’ rights. We
have formulated the “RBA Forced Labour Management
Procedure” to prohibit any form of forced labour,
slavery and labour trafficking. If any form of forced
labour is found, the administration department shall
immediately investigate, put a stop to the situation, and
communicate to and discuss with senior management
the results of its investigation and the opinions it has
collected in a timely manner in order to find out a
solution together. If any violations occur, we will further
optimise our labour system accordingly.

Supply Chain Management

The Group looks forward to long-term cooperation
with its suppliers. It has been conducting its tendering
and procurement processes based on the principles
of openness, fairness, impartiality, and competitive
selection, with a view to developing together with its
suppliers. It has established a strict and standardised
procurement model and a systematic supplier selection
procedures and required all suppliers to control
environmental and social risks along the supply chain.
During the Reporting Period, we cooperated with 840
suppliers in total, of which 620 were suppliers in the
PRC and 220 were overseas import suppliers.
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Procurement Mechanisms

The Group has formulated the “Raw Material
Procurement Management Procedure” and “Supplier
Management Procedure” to standardise its procurement
management. These procedures ensure that we can
select suppliers that provide quality products, operate in
an eco-friendly manner, and are willing to be evaluated
and monitored by us, so that we can implement our
quality standards, uphold our quality system and
improve the quality of our products. A new supplier
needs to have a good business philosophy, a desire
for quality, environmental awareness, the required
production capacity as well as a strong willingness to
cooperate with the Group. Moreover, the Group is
committed to supporting local economies by prioritising
procurement from local suppliers to reduce the carbon
footprint from transportation. We also give priority to
suppliers who use eco-friendly products and services
during our selection procedure, as we strive to minimise
potential environmental and social risks along the
supply chain. Suppliers must comply with the RoHS
Regulations and obtain 1SO9001 Quality Management
System, and go through due diligence concerning
its reputation, competence, intellectual property and
experience, as well as whether it has been recognised
by important or well-known brands in the industry. In
addition, suppliers of mineral raw materials are required
to pass a check to see if the materials provided by
them are conflict-free. A supplier is required to sign the
“Business Partner AEO Safety Undertaking” and fill in
the “Business Partner Safety Questionnaire” before it
can be listed as one of our suppliers.

The Group also attaches great importance to the
integrity of our suppliers, and only selects suppliers
and partners with good track records and without
material violations of relevant regulations and business
ethics. We do not tolerate any acts of bribery and
corruption, and strictly prohibit suppliers from obtaining
procurement contracts or cooperative relationships
through any form of pay-to-play or gifts.
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Our procurement department will draw up a list
of selected suppliers according to the “Supplier
Investigation Report” and the relevant information
collected. Once the list is approved by the department
head, the procurement department may request
the suppliers to send it samples for inspection, and
conduct supplier evaluations according to our annual
supplier evaluation plan. All new suppliers of raw
materials from the PRC must pass the quality system
and environmental system reviews before they can be
listed as one of our qualified suppliers. To strengthen
quality control, shortlisted suppliers are required to
sign the “Supplier Quality Assurance Contract” and
the “Supplier Environmental Protection Assurance
Contract”. Any non-conformity will be recorded in the
“Supplier Evaluation and Improvement Report”, which
will be sent to the relevant supplier together with the
audit results. The supplier will be required to submit a
rectification plan within one week, and to evaluate all
rectification items and submit completed supporting
materials within three months. The procedure will be
repeated until the supplier is qualified. During the
Reporting Period, the Group implemented the above
supplier engagement practices with 136 new suppliers.

Management of Environmental and Social Risks
along the Supply Chain

Besides the above management procedures, we have
formulated the “RBA Suppliers, Sub-contractors, and
Sub-suppliers Management Procedure” to clearly classify
the suppliers, sub-contractors and sub-suppliers who
deal with the Group, in order to manage the potential
environmental and social risks along the supply chain.
We will communicate our RBA requirements to our
suppliers and sub-contractors and require them
to undertake social responsibility agreements and
behavioral performance, such as implementing the
“Control Procedure for the Prevention of Personal
Interest” and requiring our suppliers to sign the
“Integrity Undertaking”. We carry out regular quality
assessments and monthly evaluations, evaluate and
monitor our suppliers’ and sub-contractors’ compliance
with the commitment agreements, such as conducting
surveys and on-site audits and opening social
responsibility files. If any irregularities are found, we
will require our suppliers and sub-contractors to take
immediate remedial and corrective measures. If our
suppliers and sub-contractors are found to use child
labour and forced labour, we will immediately terminate
our cooperative relationship with them.
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B6. Product Responsibility B6. EmEE

Product quality is a critical factor for us to stay
competitive in the market. The Group strives to provide
satisfactory products and services to our customers and
embraces a customer-focused business philosophy in
our operations at all levels, with zero defects as our
long-term goal. To accommodate the constant changes
in the competitive landscape of the industry, we
endeavour to optimise and improve the quality of our
services according to the demands of our customers.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations, including the “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests”, the “Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the "Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Trademark Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and the “Copyright Law of
the People’s Republic of China”. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any material
violations of any laws and regulations in relation to the
quality of our products and services, nor did we recall
any products for safety and health reasons.
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Product Quality and Safety

We have been certified for 1SO14001:2015
Environmental Management System, QC080000
Hazardous Substance Procedure Management
System, IATF16949:2016 Quality Management
System and 1SO9001:2015 Quality Management
System. With reference to the requirements of the
relevant management systems and applicable laws
and regulations, we have prepared the “Quality &
Environmental & Hazardous Substance Procedure
Management Manual”, which details our quality
management throughout the whole procedure from
product design to production to after-sales service.

To ensure the quality and safety of our products, we
require our suppliers to obtain relevant certificates to
demonstrate that the raw materials or products they
supply comply with the safety and quality standards
stipulated in the RoHS requirements. We have also
established a quality management process for our
production procedures, with a professional quality
control team responsible for the quality control of our
production procedures and finished products. We have
set up chemical laboratories at our production facilities.
We also engage third-party agencies to conduct
inspections, examinations and laboratory tests on our
raw materials and products to ensure that our finished
products meet the relevant quality and safety standards.
In particular, our products are halogen-free and comply
with relevant chemicals requirements such as the RoHS
requiments.

Throughout the entire process of production and service
operations, we carry out product labelling in accordance
with relevant regulations to ensure traceability and
identify non-conforming products and any non-
compliance with quality and safety requirements.
Product labelling allows us to analyse the risk level of
such events and their impacts on our employees and
customers. During product risk analysis, we can learn
from experience through product recalls, product audits,
product returns and repairs, complaints, scrapping
and rework, which will help us take timely precautions
and optimise our contingency plans, thus eliminating
potential risks and improving product quality.
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Customer Service and Communication

We have established a management procedure for
customer communication in the above policies and
are committed to providing high quality products and
services to our customers through standardised product
and service quality management. Our customer service
team is fully responsible for following up on customer
needs, including technical support, complaints or
any comments on our services and products. Prior to
production, our technical staff will conduct product
briefings for new customers on product details, product
uses and related safety matters. Before entering into a
contract, we will assess and confirm the requirements
specified by the customer to ensure that we are
capable of providing products that meet the customer’s
requirements.

In addition, the Group conducts regular customer
satisfaction surveys and customer visits to understand
customers’ needs and opinions. Customers may also
communicate directly with us by telephone, fax,
email or letters. We have established a complaint
handling system to ensure that relevant departments
can carry out detailed investigations, actively monitor
the complaint handling procedure, reconcile and
communicate with all parties involved, and respond
to complainants in a satisfactory manner. We strive to
understand the facts and root causes of complaints
made by our customers and identify responsible
parties and areas of improvement to enhance our
service quality and retain customers by winning their
loyalty towards our services, thus promoting our future
development.

For non-conforming products, we have established a
“product return procedure” to identify the reasons for
nonconformance, thus improving our products and
meeting customer requirements. We also set a time limit
within which we must respond to customers. During
the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 110
complaints about products and services, all of which
were investigated and recorded within one week. Based
on the complaint analysis report, the Group will further
improve the production and service operation process
and strive to enhance product quality and customer
satisfaction.
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We will continue to maintain and review our
communication channels with customers to obtain their
feedback, handle and investigate customer complaints
in a timely manner and improve our customer service
procedure.

Customer Privacy Protection

Given its business nature, the Group handles a huge
amount of personal data or corporate information.
Attaching great importance to safeguarding our
customers’ rights and privacy, we strive to protect
personal data and privacy through implementing a
high standard of security and confidential protection
standard and strictly adhering to regulatory
requirements related to personal data and privacy.
We have formulated policies such as the “RBA Ethical
Management Procedure” and require our employees
to sign the “Employee Confidentiality Agreement”,
which stipulates that they must handle the personal
information of customers with due care so as to raise
their awareness of customer privacy.

Intellectual Property Rights

We have specified the management procedure
related to intellectual property in the “RBA Ethical
Management Procedure”. We constantly monitor for
any infringement of our intellectual properties, and
closely monitor and prevent infringements found in
the market, such as trademark counterfeiting. We also
ensure that the transfer of technology and production
experience to third parties is properly protected. No
intellectual property can be transferred or sold for profit
without the authorisation and consent of its owner.
We have signed with our employees the “Employee
Confidentiality Agreement”, which requires them not
to disclose or transfer any inventions, technological
achievements, works or other trade secrets owned by
us or which we have undertaken not to disclose or
transfer.
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B7.

Advertising and Labelling

For the promotion and advertising of our products
and services, we have formulated the “RBA Honest
Advertising, Fair Trading and Antitrust Control
Procedure” in order to strictly regulate and review all
advertising campaigns for our products and services
and ensure that such campaigns comply with applicable
laws and regulations in relation to advertising and
labeling. To stay competitive in the market, we publish
advertisements, presentations, full colour booklets,
posters and announcements and carry out publicity
campaigns, all of which are based on 100% true
information and contain no exaggeration of any
kind. The Group shall not mislead people by falsely
publicising through advertisements or other means the
quality, ingredients, performance, uses, producer, expiry
date, place of origin of its products, and the relevant
information shall not be distorted or misrepresented.

Anti-corruption

We believe that an uncorrupted corporate culture is the
key to our continued success. As a result, we attach
great importance to anti-corruption campaigns and the
establishment of an anti-corruption system, and we are
determined to put an end to any corrupt behaviour.
We strictly abide by the “Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the People’s Republic of China” and other laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, we did not
find any material violations of laws and regulations on
the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, nor did we have any concluded cases of
corruption litigation.
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Integrity Building

The Group has a “zero-tolerance” attitude towards
corruption and fraud. Besides providing a code of
conduct for suppliers in the “RBA Management
Manual”, we have specified relevant administrative
sanctions in our “Employee Handbook” and formulated
the “Control Procedure for the Prevention of Personal
Interest” to eliminate any corruption within the
Company and prevent our employees from gaining
any personal interest, as we are committed to creating
an uncorrupted and good working environment
and building an uncorrupted, open and transparent
corporate culture.

We have provided all Directors with anti-corruption
and anti-fraud guidelines formulated by Independent
Commission Against Corruption to help them
understand their roles and responsibilities in anti-
corruption and business ethics. We also provide
training for new employees upon induction and hold
anti-corruption and integrity building conferences to
raise anti-corruption awareness and cultivate good
professional ethics among our employees at all levels.
The Group has also provided anti-corruption training
to its business partners to require them to comply with
the code of conduct. During the Reporting Period,
employees and business partners of the Group received
a total of approximately 96 and 48 hours of anti-
corruption training respectively.

Whistle-blowing Mechanisms

The Group attaches great importance to the integrity
and honesty of our employees. We have established
a whistle-blowing mechanism to instill anti-corruption
awareness among all our employees and encourage
them to report any case of corruption or fraud. Upon
receiving a report, we will immediately investigate and
take necessary and appropriate actions. We will also
promise to protect the identity of the whistle-blower
to prevent any conflict of interest or behaviour that
may harm the interests of the Group and relevant
stakeholders. The Board also regularly reviews the
effectiveness of this whistle-blowing mechanism.
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B8. Community Investment B8. #ERE

While pursuing business development, the Group strives
to serve communities and make positive contributions
to communities to demonstrate its corporate
citizenship. We emphasise our obligation to engage
with communities in the “RBA Ethical Management
Procedure”, as we are committed to fulfilling our
corporate social responsibility through community
service. With a view to cultivating their sense of social
responsibility, we always encourage our employees to
take part in charitable work during work or in their
leisure time to make more contributions to society.

We focus on contributing to local underprivileged
groups, and allocate funds to the local tax bureau in
Dongguan, China annually to support employment
and development programmes for the disabled.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has donated
a total of approximately RMB168,716. In the future,
we will continue to contribute to communities, seek
cooperation with charities, pay constant attention to
the difficulties and needs of society and underprivileged
groups, and proactively give back to society with the
aim of building a harmonious society.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF

THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements

58 B AR E

Section/Declaration

;0 2./

B FTESGHR E i SIR B RE|F

Governance Structure
EIRRE

Reporting Principles
3R = 8]

Reporting Boundary

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERERENER

ESG Governance Structure

ESGEIAZRIE

About This Report — Reporting Framework
R AR RE —REER

About This Report — Reporting Scope
AR AHmE - RS HE

Description
iU

Section/Declaration

811

Aspect A1: Emissions
EmEA1 SR

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A1.1
RABHRUEIRAL

KPI'A1.2

BSR4 IR IRAT .2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BERERIREREIR MKERIHOIES A

EREEEEYNEESN:

(a) 126N

(b) ETHBEITABEAYEMMBERELER
BIE B FL o

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.
HERU TR 2R S AR R HE BB -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (8EN) kepRHEE (HBE2) RERBHENE
(AR E) R (WER) BE (MABESEA -
BIERMEE)
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs Section/Declaration

EA: 02/

Description
i

BH —REERBERENER

KPI' A1.3

BB AEUIEIRA1 3

KPI' A1.4

RS A MR IRA1.4

KPI'A1.5

BSR4 IR IRATS

KPI' A1.6

R RIERA16

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2  ERER

General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI' A2.1

BE SR 4B IR IZEA2.1

KPIA2.2

RS A U IEA2.2

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FEXAEREEYEE (A8 REE -E
EEEBREDRE (UEAE) R (mER)RE
(MMAgESEN  FGERBE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FELEEEEYSE (ANETE) k (ER) =
E(WNBESEM BERMTE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HAPTET I M EENE B B R RES S & B IEATER
Y 2B o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

MR EERBEEREEMN A R AIE]
SRR B IR R AESE L B R ERERAY 28R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BERERER (BIER KR EM R ) 8K
5 o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

RENEIDNEER, SHEEER (WE - JReloh)
BREE(UTETERAE) REE (MAGES
B BIERMBE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
BRKELTE (MABES S - FERE
#)o

Emission — Waste
Management

B — EERYMER

Emissions — Waste
Management

B — ERYER

Emissions — Air Emissions,
GHG Emissions

P — EERBER
BB

Emissions — Waste
Management

B — EERYMER

Use of Resources

BIREM

Use of Resources — Energy
Management

BRER —ERERE

Use of Resources — Water
Management

BRER —KRER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

-0 2/

KPI A2.3

BASRAE AR IRA2 3

KPI'A2.4

BSR4 UIRIRA2 4

KPI' A2.5

BASAE IR IRA2.5

Aspect A3: The Environment
and Natural Resources
EBHEA3 RERXARER

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI'A3.1

RAS 4B BUIBIE A3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them
ARl LA RE ARG B ER AEELEE
IR 2P

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
FUSREGE /KR - RI A AR RE - LA R PET 26
K B IR R AEDE L B IRATERIE SR -

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

S mTABEMHNEE (ABEETE) &k (0@
R BEESMUEE-

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources.
WIEZEITABRERRAEREKNEAZENIK
5 o

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

HREBEBHRREIRABERNEAZERE
ERERAETENTH-
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

EA: 02/

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BHAL  RIRZ(L

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI'A4.1

B IR 4B IR IZE A4

Aspect B1: Employment
[EEB1 : {EfE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI'B1.1

FA SR A M 1RB1.1

KPI B1.2

BSR4 UIE1RBY .2

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
Bl EHEER ‘éﬁéiﬁéﬁ/\? TENE
RRIRHE B EEHOER

Description of the significant climate-related issues

which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

MlEE LA HETAEEZENE R
HEAEE LEHTTE-

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare

BRAH N R ISR ET T8 REA - F

e Z s RIERAREMEFS KRB :

(a) 126N
(b) HETHBETABEATENHEEEAEZNE
Bl &Kt

Total workforce by gender, employment type

(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

RIER - EEEE (2GR  FEeln &
HEB S IE B BB

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

R FRATI R ER D HIEE R E

Climate Change

TR

Climate Change — Physical
Risk, Transition Risk

RiRE —
%EP—J—L /\/\

ERER-

Employment

Employment

&R

Employment — Recruitment,
Promotion and Dismissal

BIR — B &7 MR
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

-0 2/

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EBEB2 - EHEZE

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI'B2.1

BASR A8 IR 1RB2.1

KPI'B2.2

8 52 48 I8 1EB2.2

KPI'B2.3

852 48 I8 1ZB2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards

FARBLZE2TERERREREBRBELS

FH

(a) B &
(b)y EBTHEBETABEAFENMABEAELR
B ey E o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.

BE=ZF (BREERFE)SFRITHHABK
b=

Lost days due to work injury.

RIGEXTHERE

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

$8 0 T SR O 3 2 B B2 2 9+ DA A A
T REER ke
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

EA: 02/

Aspect B3: Development and
Training
[EEB3 : &R RIEI

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI'B3.1

RS AE B 1EB3.1

KPI'B3.2

8 52 48 S8 1ZB3.2

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : 8 T %8|

General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI B4.1

RAS A IE1ER4.

KPI B4.2

RAS A IE1ER4.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
BRRTHMEE BT LERE B L RBEHIBUR -
LA o

The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

RERNREERN (NEREREE HREEE)
BoMXIEEA DL -

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
IR KRB EERIE D - TR EB TR F
ZEER

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour

BRAD) IhE T ekog s THY:

(a) B &
(b) HETHBETABEAFENMEEIEZNE
Bl E*L

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

fst i RIS E OV AR R E T RoakI% T -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

Wi B IRE RIS HR BRI ERRA
%E&o

Development and Training

R RIE

Development and Training —
Training Management

BRMIEY —FIE R

Development and Training —
Training Management
R NMIE — BB

Labour Standards

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BTHA—MIEETR
S il 85 T

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BTHA—MIEETR
S il 85 T
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

-0 2/

Aspect B5: Supply Chain
Management
[EHEBS5 : tREHEEE

General Disclosure
— R

KPI B5.1
BB AR G 1RB5 1

KPI'B5.2

BAS2 A4S IR 1RB5.2

KPI B5.3

B2 45 AR 1RB5 3

KPI B5.4

PR A M5 1RB5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.
EIRH R A IRIR At & AR BUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

miRE DM ERHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B BHERNED  mERTAERED
HEREE  UARBEBERITRERT A

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B BB e R B AR R IR It g R R
BB A RABREIMIT R EE R A

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

il TEBRE R B R R 2 2 R IRREE o M RIS 9
BH - A NAERERITREERTTE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

EA: 02/

Aspect B6: Product
Responsibility
[EHEB6 : EmEME

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B6.1

A G245 WIE1EB6.1

KPI' B6.2

AR 48 AR5 1ZB6.2
KPI B6.3
8 52 45 I8 1ZB6.3

KPI B6.4

R EMIERB6.4

KPI B6.5

BA 48 AR 1RB6.5

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress.

BEMRHEERMRENREERELZ S  BS 28

NABEEARMRITED

(a) &
(b)y HETHBITABEAFEMNMEARLIE
BleyEHt -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEREEXEMBHTRAT2ERFEEHRMA
BN RN

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BRERNE M LRI IR BB A R S 7%

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
fi it BR 4 E R AR IB AN ERE B B )

Description of quality assurance procedure and
recall procedures.

HilE ERTHENEREBRER -

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

U B & ERHMRE RFLB B - A RAERE#MIT
MERAE-

Product Responsibility

Product Responsibility

EDD 'EE

Product Responsibility —
Customer Service and
Communication

EmEE — EPRE AR

Product Responsibility —
Intellectual Property Rights
EmBE— AHER

Product Responsibility —
Product Quality and Safety
EmEEf—EREER
fegea

Product Responsibility —
Customer Privacy Protection

EREE — TFPLERE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs Section/Declaration
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Description

BH —REERBEARIEE #Hil

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BHEB7 : RES

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on

Anti-corruption

the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering
— R E BRANTILERRS - B1R MFF MO RER k&S
@ BE: X
(b) BEBTFTHETABEATENHEBEZERR
ESEEEE
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its

employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.
RERPBAEETASHERBRLIEEENE RES
ERDEMENEE MFABER-

RS AE I IERT .

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption — Whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented blowing Mechanisms
and monitored.

BB A I E1RBT .2 M SBEE R B RERF U RAEERTRER RES — BEREH
ke

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Anti-corruption — Integrity

8 52 45 I8 1ZB7 .3

directors and staff.

i mESERE TIRHNRESHE -
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

BH —REERBERENER

Description
i

Section/Declaration

EA: 02/

Aspect B8: Community
Investment
[BHEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI' B8.1

A48 AN IE 15881

KPI' B8.2

FA G4 IE1EBS.2

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.
BENTERSBERT REEMTTREEEMER
HEHEXKEIDEZRLERZAOBE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

ErEREE (IHE BREEHE - LIF R &
BEX{b-88F) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

HEBIHRBEABAER (NS EKER) -

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB HR S

KPMG

TO THE MEMBERS OF MAN YUE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Yue Technology Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 114 to 263, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code") together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

FARESSER

BaEi FEERERANEEHN  RAHRMNE
HAMEARERARAEE FE - REFERAE
BB ERGAM BRI KL AEREETRE
MEMTEHELFERHEB TR

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Valuation of inventories
FEME

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(m) on pages 153 to 154.

AR A RN F25 R E153F

The key audit matter
BHRETSEE

At the reporting date the Group held significant quantities
of inventories, which principally comprised electronic
capacitors, with different products in different phases of
their manufacturing life cycles. The ability of the Group
to sell these inventories in the future may be adversely
affected by changes in competitors’ pricing strategies and
the introduction of new products and technology.

RREBE: BEERAAEFE FZEARBAH A

ERHEETR ERATR BEERREEZE

T_(bE'JAbﬁTA.ﬁﬁ%%EE%E’S&%ﬁE&IEﬁ&{T_ fE i
2T F5

Management performs regular reviews of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to the inventory
ageing report, projections of expected future sales and
utilisation of goods and management’s experience
and judgement. Based on this review, a write-down of
inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable
value of an item of inventory falls below its carrying
amount.

EREENFEERRE ERARREREY 55
RRURERE BB RN BB S EAE-
IRIBZE L - 1196 B ] BT IS A R E (R
1 HH R, -

1545 f15t4(m)2 &

B

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETNAEEZSE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of

inventories included the following:

B FEREZEIEFBENATEE:

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with underlying documentation,
including goods received notes and stock-in reports;

o FBRUBEEREHRETTRER LB (8
RERENRBERFERS)  MEFEHRETH
HERGHRABEEREKRR

e assessing whether the inventory write-downs at the
reporting date were calculated on a basis consistent
with the Group’s inventory write-down policy by
recalculating the inventory write-downs based
on the percentages and other parameters in the
Group's inventory provision policy;

o Bk BEREFEREHRNENLEEMBH
BT EFEMR SHER RS A B2 FEMRE
BrE BEREFEMBBERAN 2 EESE:

e comparing, on a sample basis, the carrying value of

inventories with sales prices subsequent to the end
of the reporting period;

s MEHBRNBEPRENFEREENEE:
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BREFTSEE (&)

Valuation of inventories
FEME

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(m) on pages 153 to 154.
BRI E B IRE N 25K F 1532 1548 M5t d(m).2 51 BE ©

The key audit matter
BERETEE

The Group may sell aged inventories at a markdown
from the original price to avoid an accumulation of slow-
moving inventories. Accordingly, the actual future selling
prices of some items of slow-moving inventories may fall
below their cost.

EEENHEBELERERE UHLRBRHHEEFE -H
It BETHEFEZERRREE A RN ERA -

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because of the significant judgement exercised by
management in determining appropriate inventory write-
downs, which involves estimating the duration of product
life cycles, predicting the amounts of inventories which
will be sold and utilised in the future and the markdowns
necessary to sell such inventories on a discounted basis in
future years all of which are inherently uncertain.

BAPEFEGHENSARBT TR AAEEEEET
HE N EMBUKFRITEEAHE M E S RAE
EmtmARZHERE RAIRRLENTERER
RARBERBLHEZEFEMBELOIN - ZEH
EEHFEEATHEENME-
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETNAEEZSEE

assessing the historical accuracy of management’s
assessment of inventory write-downs and whether
there is any indication of management bias by
examining the sales and utilisation or release of the
inventory write-downs recorded at the end of the
previous financial year during the current year; and

BERNAFEERER L —MBEFERAKRNHE
RERFERELTEWR A hEEEREF
BEEMRMNEEEE RIS FEEEER
RZEATR: K

assessing the Group's inventory write-down policy
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

RIBITEHEARENE SERETEMBER

W



Independent Auditor’s Report
BB E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEFTSEE (&)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress, machinery

under installation and prepaid land premium

AENE BERRA TEIRE REDEB[URTIHHEEAESRZELERE

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

131 to 133.

FERA A TEIRA N 18K 19K E 131 1338 K i#+4(d)2 51K E °

The key audit matter
BRETEE

The Group held significant amount of property, plant and
equipment, construction in progress, machinery under
installation and prepaid land premium (“non-current
assets”) as at 31 December 2021.

EEER2021F12A3MBHEREME HER&ZE
ERIR REPEEURTAEBEMAR ([EREE
El -

Management assessed impairment indicators for the
Group’s non-current assets of cash-generating units
("CGUs"); and performed impairment assessments by
comparing the aggregate carrying values of the non-
current assets of the CGU to which these assets were
allocated with the value-in-use based on net present
values of the respective discounted cash flow forecasts
or fair value less costs of disposal, whichever was higher,
to determine the amount of impairment which should be
recognised for the year, if any.

EHEEN ERERTELFNURIIERBDEELETR
BRI EALBFRDEERENRLAFEEL
ReEt Bz BREE RZARRRASRER
FREAENEREEX R LERHENE (ABEE
RE) FETREN L UWEEARAFEER ZRESR
#(WA) -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETNAEEZSE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
non-current assets included the following:

BAFHEIERBEE 2 BEREZETRFREA TS
15 :

e evaluating management’s identification of CGUs
and the amounts of non-current assets allocated to
each CGU;

e HMEEEEURSELBEMNZHERARIEEZRR
SELBMNZIFRDEE 2B

e evaluating the methodology adopted by
management in its impairment assessments with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o Z2EBRTEIENRENGHEERBRETRER
HEPTERAR A

e involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment models, which included assessing
the impairment indicators defined by the Group,
evaluating the discounted cash flow forecasts for
each CGU and considering whether these supported
the carrying value of the relevant assets;

o ERABMEESHBEEMANE BEREZEER
MRARREER  BEFE EXEREZRE

B HERRSELEU MRS RETR R
ERZSAEREXFEMEE ZREE:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BRETSE (F)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress, machinery

under installation and prepaid land premium

AENE BERRAE TEIR REDHB[URTHHEEESRZEERE

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages

131 to 133.

FERA A TEIRART 18K 19K E 13121338 K 5#4(d)2 51K E °

The key audit matter
BRETEE

We identified the assessment of potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment, construction in progress,
machinery under installation and prepaid land premium
as a key audit matter because significant management
judgement is involved in determining whether there are
indicators of impairment and because estimating the
recoverable amounts, forecasting the future cash flows
and determining adjustment to market price of these
assets involve inherent uncertainty and could be subject to
management bias.

HPEYE BELRE EEIR RERPHESIUALE
WHEBENRZBEREF G SRRESEER AR
EERTHBBETRE S RENEIREH - ARG
AREFEEZARESRE FBARXFEEZRAKRER
ENBERFEECTERABY Y REA M EEME I
XERERRMABR-
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ETNAEEZSE

critically examining the key assumptions, including
forecast revenue, future growth rates, future
margins, future cost growth rates and the
discount rates, adopted by management in its
preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts
by referring to industry information, the recent
financial performance of the Group's trading and
manufacturing operations and management’s
budgets and plans for the operations in 2022 and
beyond;

BEREEEENRAMBERSREFRFRA
ZEEREHR BEBATRD  RRERE  REF
BE - RERABERRBERE WRHTEE
e BEREEZREERT RV BEREUR
BEEM2022F Rz 2 EBE M2 BE KAt

evaluating the discount rates applied by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
with reference to available financial information
of other companies in same relevant industry and
considering country and company specific risk
premiums; and

REZER-MRTENEMRRZAEFSHEE
oA EEERMRBE SR ERATER 2R
T REFHEERE AR ERRSE &



Independent Auditor’s Report
BN ZBENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) AREETEE (F&)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment, construction in progress, machinery

under installation and prepaid land premium

FEYE BERRFE EEIR ZRETHBUARIHESESRZBEERE

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 4(d) on pages
137 to 133.

FREG B EBAN L 18R I19R E131E 1338 ffit4(d) 2 271 HE -

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BEESTSE BMHENAEREZEE

e performing a sensitivity analysis for the key variables
in the discounted cash flow forecasts, which
included assessing the effect of reasonably possible
changes in future revenue, future cost growth rates
and the discount rates, to evaluate the impact
on the conclusions reached by management and
to assess whether there were any indication of
management bias.

o BMARBASREBRAZIBEEETHRMENT
BREFERRBA - RRRAIERE M AGR R EE
REEFHIFE UNEHEREMERERZF
ELAAREAFEERERR 2EATR-
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Independent Auditor’s Report
b RS G

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

110 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited EMRHEEEGR AR

gg%%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%i

EEAHHMENBE RMENBRFERSHE
ZFBEER (5 E MR LB FIphit 3 2 A2 2hEm
BWEBRI) ©

BAYGEEMBRR2BEREL RS EMER M
NAEREBEREMEANEZER-

RBHGAMBRET S  RMZ HERMER A
K RAEILBIZT - EER AN R T REA MR
RARMERHBIRSHTR2WREEATH - o
EOT A EABRRIL -

ERRMEHTZIE IREMRBREMENEFE
ARsERRA RIF2REBHEEE stk 5 - 2
BEMESEMEE-

ESHGRSMBBRREAREZEE

EXABERBEEETMASRHZEBYBRE
HRIREE (REHED) 2R ERTEREAST A M HR
RMELEBEMAFZRIR WEEEERARBELZ
MERE S| A E RS A M B HRR T FERRREFK
HRMEBBBERNKRERL -

ERmESEMBERERE EFAATE EEERE
REZREN YHEERBRATRERFELLERZ
FH URERFELEREHER BIFEEAE
1 BEEEBRIFLLE IHNELMERZER

-
EL

X

ot

EREZBEHDEERITEE
ZEfE

EEEBREBIZ



Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRERMRE R M BRRAEZEE

HMZBRRUEAVBRRBRBESATFEHAR
WP R M E M 2 ERERBANG A BRE
YHABRERMERZZHE®RE - R ARRERE
QI98IFRADE) FOKEREBBRBRE Rtz
SMARERERME W - AT ERARE 2ATA
EAEMALTE ESAEEFEE-

BRRBEEKFZRE BTREFRBLER (BESR
FHER)) EITZES AR -ERBERRAFER R
BEEIR SRR T A RRF S ER AR 51 HE - iR A I8
BEHEMERKELLERAETERMBRRER
ERBIRAMBHERAEL ZEERE - AR
PR AT 4R AR AF K

BPRBEEBEAERETEN 2 TEZ— 2EM
BEXRAE cBEEFHTEETREBREREE K
375 -

o HAINFHEERAMERRANREFHERME
Bz BRERRARR - FEZERRRET R
TEAERF URESHERMEE 2BEIER
Bz B RREER AR BEES RAREE
3 MEER  SREMRRASOZ B R A FRZE S
Z & FBEREE R M ILENK 2 B AR,
% e R BE 3 IR el OB BR T B B 2 B K #E AR Bt
RBER -

. FRELEET B R Z MAEBES) - ARREHIR B 2 &Rt
BF BXEEHES BREAIHES2BRIE
BHRER-

o FHMAEEMASHBEZREN URFAELZ
SETAEMERREZ AR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

22 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZ2021F128318 LFE (BUBRFIR)

Revenue A 6, 7(a) 2,091,264 1,599,599
Cost of sales 56 AR (1,733,775) (1,327,722)
Gross profit EF 357,489 271,877
Other income HaA 7(b) 12,014 8,165
Other net loss H b EEFEE 7(0) (3.696) (19,801)
Selling and distribution costs HERDHE A (74,529) (61,068)
Administrative expenses THER (189,802) (147,680)
Net impairment loss on trade and other J& U 8% 7k K E fth FE UG FRIE 2

receivables B e E R 8 (784) 440
Operating profit ReEHRF 8 100,692 51,933
Changes in fair values of derivative MESHMIARAEBEZES

financial instruments 10 - (11)
Finance costs B2 11 (35,456) (37,871)
Finance income B #5 I 12 5,956 5,347
Share of results of joint ventures EBIEEEDEER 19,594 13,515
Profit before tax RRBE AT R 90,786 32,913
Income tax Frig i 15 (16,800) (6,844)
Profit for the year FERF 73,986 26,069
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FE(RSHF, (E18)

Equity holders of the Company RRARIREREE A 76,494 24,064

Non-controlling interests FEVEAR AR SR 25 (2,508) 2,005
Profit for the year FEEF 73,986 26,069
Earnings per share attributable to AT REFE AEMN

equity holders of the Company: BRER: 16

Basic HA 16.09 HK cents #&fll  5.06 HK cents 1l

Diluted i 16.09 HK cents & {ll  5.06 HK cents /1L

The Notes on pages 122 to 263 form part of these consolidated BsRE 2z —3

HRFE122E2638 2T B EHRE
financial statements. Ao

N
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reBamkHEHMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZ2021F128318 LFE (MUERIIR)

Profit for the year FE=N 73986 26,069
Other comprehensive income: HttZ2EBA: 15(c)
ltem that will not be reclassified HEeTessmsops
subsequently to profit or loss: Bm2IEHE -
Assets revaluation deficit, net of tax REREESGHBA (1,856) (898)
ltem that may be reclassified HignsaHmoms
subsequently to profit or loss: BmIEE
Currency translation differences fEN ZRE 71,452 124,563
Other comprehensive income FERB®
for the year, net of tax HzEBA 69,596 123,665
Total comprehensive income FEERHEHBALE
for the year 143,582 149,734
Total comprehensive income BiE2EBARE:
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RAGIRERE A 145,111 145,837
Non-controlling interests FEE R AR R R 2 (1,529) 3,897
143,582 149,734

The Notes on pages 122 to 263 form part of these consolidated — &R §12258263E 2 it At Fira sz 2z — 3
financial statements. 2
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2021128318 (B TIIR)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress

Prepaid land premium

Investment properties

Intangible assets

Investments in joint ventures

Machinery under installation

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans to a joint venture

Other prepayments

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Due from joint ventures

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Net defined benefit retirement assets

Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accrued liabilities
and contract liabilities

Due to joint ventures

Tax payable

Bank and other borrowings

Dividends payable

Lease liabilities

Total current liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

RBEE
M- BRE KRB
EEIRE

T HEBEMNR
B

B EE
REELEZRE

REE PR
BRARBEREZANEZ
CREE
BTYMERELEZER
HibFEA 3B
RERTBEE

FRBEERE

RBEE

A

R i B R
BNFRIA e REM
& UK IR

el AR 2R
BAREREBERASIERZ
TREE

FERMEBIKRGTEIEEFER

A E IR
ReMEEEEDY

MEEERE

REEE
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Ho A & BROR K AT
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FES IR
RITREMER
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HERE

mEBRERE
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18
18
19
20
22
24
18(c)

21
24

31(c)

25
26

26
24

21
35(a)
31(a)

27

28

28
24
31(a)
29

30

2020
20204

HK$'000
THET

652,103 635,914
69,323 55,059
61,494 61,305
163,526 159,860

1,143 1,368
220,611 194,142
99,504 93,902
37,709 33,081
170,184 152,358

5,857 5,718
15,727 15,283

1,497,181 1,407,990
786,660 677,260
775,875 761,567
139,431 118,524
30,678 20,580
14 14

762 746

= 2,440
215,732 263,486
1,949,152 1,844,617
305,683 346,126
157,474 129,412

76,256 56,619

20,015 13,738
1,074,962 1,024,517

43 43

23,081 20,320
1,657,514 1,590,775
| el
1,788,819 1,661,832
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PBIRRE

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Provision for long service payments REIRG BB 77 77
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEA R 31(c) 50,282 49,478
Deferred income IEFEWA 32 9,990 10,018
Lease liabilities HEaE 30 38,841 56,212
Total non-current liabilities *rpEBEEE 00 99,190 115785
Net assets BEEFRE 1,689,629 1,546,047
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital &% A 33 47,555 47,555
Reserves Gt 39 1,602,978 1,457,867
Equity attributable to equity AT RESEAELESR

holders of the Company 1,650,533 1,505,422
Non-controlling interests FERBRRES 39,096 40,625
Total equity EEEE 1,689,629 1,546,047

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 4 & E& 202243 522 B #t 4 K& %4 T3 -
March 2022.

Kee Chor Lin Chan Tat Cheong, Alan
KEE RES
Director Director
EF EF

The Notes on pages 122 to 263 form part of these consolidated ~ R E122%E 2638 2 MitT AL FirE MRk 2 —3
financial statements. °

P
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quhsglhida’ged Statement of Changes in Equity
meEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BZE2021F12A318 LFE (UBRIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RAFRESE AR

Non-
controlling Total
Share capital Reserves IEES equity
B 1 FERREER BnEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MizE THEL B TEL FiEx TR
Balance at 1 January 2020 202051818 2 &8 47,555 1,312,030 1,359,585 36,728 139,313
Profit for the year KERHF - 24,064 24,064 2,005 26,069
Other comprehensive income: Hi2EMA
Item that wil not be reclassified HeTgENsEZERER
subsequently to profit or loss
Assets revaluation deficit, net of tax B EESHEL 39 - (898) (898) - (898)
Item that may be reclassified HEUUEHHBREREVES
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences BXESR 39 - 122,671 122,671 1,892 124,563
Total comprehensive income for HZ200F12831ALERE
the year ended 31 December 2020 ELONCE - 145,837 145,837 3,897 149,734
Balance at 31 December 2020 20205128310 2 &8 47,555 1,457,867 1,505,422 40,625 1,546,047
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FOREBBE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

NG 2PN
Non-
controlling Total
Share capital Reserves Total EEE equity
B ke @it FERRRER ERAE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
153 TR TR TR TR TR
Balance at 1 January 2021 02151510 2 &8 47,555 1,457,867 1,505,422 40,625 1,546,047
Profit for the year RER RN - 76,494 76,494 (2,508) 73,986
Other comprehensive income: Efh2EHA:
Item that will not be reclassified BT eENpEEER L ER
subsequently to profit or loss
Assets revaluation deficit, net of tax BRREEEREL 39 - (1,856) (1,856) = (1,856)
Item that may be reclassified L EEE L E Pl
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences EXESR 39 - 70,473 70,473 979 71,452
Total comprehensive income for HE05F12A31BLLFE
the year ended 31 December 2020 2ERABE - 145,11 145,111 (1,529) 143,582
Balance at 31 December 2021 0211E12A31R 2 &8 47,555 1,602,978 1,650,533 39,096 1,689,629

The Notes on pages 122 to 263 form part of these consolidated — #H 12222638 2 it At Firé i@ 2 — 3B
financial statements. 2
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

AeRTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BZE2021F12A31HLEFE (LB RTIIR)

Cash flows from operating activities EZ %K v HERE

2020
20204

HK$'000

THETT

Profit before tax B 75 B A 90,786 32,913
Adjustments for: JuEHE=
Finance costs T 11 35,456 37,871
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment "EMEZ AAE
properties (Wz=) KB 7(c) (1,145) 3,564
Share of results of joint ventures BlHEECEEE (19,594) (13,515)
Dividend income =R ON 7(0) = (M
Finance income B A 12 (5,956) (5,347)
Losses on disposal of property, HEME  BE KRB
plant and equipment 18 8 218 3,169
Impairment loss of property, W WE MEERE
plant and equipment 18 2,388 -
Depreciation of owned property, EREEEN ST
plant and equipment e 8 64,872 58,263
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 8 22,698 19,207
Amortisation of prepaid land premium =+ 3 8 & 8 (< 0k 4 8 1,587 1,495
Amortisation of intangible assets A 8 250 237
Deferred income recognised as income 3 FE Y A FERR A U A 8 (317) (313)
Write-down of inventories FEHUR 8 18,332 14,145
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 & #fl 5 &[] 8 (1,418) (739)
Net impairment loss/(reversal) on JE U5 B 0 B E A FE LR
trade and other receivables RIEZRIEREE,
(M) #5E 784 (440)
Fair value gains on financial assets at X AREREBEZEATIERZ
fair value through profit or loss SREEZALERZE 8 (4,058) (7,642)
Fair value losses on derivative financial $7T4£ & @ T A
instruments NI EEE 10 - 11
Foreign exchange differences HNGE Z 58 18,255 8,947
Operating profit before changes in LEESEFHALE RN
working capital 223,138 151,825
Increase in inventories FEHN (106,535) (55,533)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEUBR k>~ (18 140) 1,162 (67,351)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and B FUE  #2E K HAh
other receivables J&E YR IR 38 BN (17,710) (5,811)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due UL & & ¥ FRIE
from joint ventures (), E (9,908) 9,549
Increase in amounts due ERT &SR EFIA
to joint ventures 90 19,023 21,092
(Decrease)/increase in trade and FE SRR N N R R
bills payables CRd) /1 (48,984) 71,551
Increase in other payables Hinfe I RIB R EFTAE
and accrued liabilities 90 26,471 14,685
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

:vT\ EE%I)ILE;E

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$'000 HK$ 000

Cash generated from operations REMBRE 86,657 140,007
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBEFEH (1,613) (87)
Mainland China and overseas taxes paid B 1/ B & /& 5MNHIE (8,566) (8,376)

Net cash inflow from operating REEBEIRE
activities RAFHE 76,478 131,544

Cash flows from investing activities BREEBH2HESRE

Purchases of machinery BERERHES

under installation (23,396) (21,970)
Purchases of property, plant and BEME WELREE

equipment (74,094) (54,822)
Dividend received B s 7(c) - 1
Interest received B Y F B 12 5,956 5,347
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant (£ & ¥1 % « B &= K & &

and equipment Fr 58 318 558 6,317
Increase in loans to joint ventures BTEEREZETEM (15,232) (12,732)

Net cash outflow from investing RETEHZ2RERHFHE
activities (106,208) (77,859)

Cash flows from financing activities BIEFZBH 2 RESRE
Proceeds from new bank and other R T R EMEES

borrowings Fr 53k I8 27(b) 2,713,901 2,090,574
Repayment of bank and other B RITRE (S B

borrowings 27(b) (2,675,555) (2,057,871)
Payment for interest rate swaps S A 2 4 B 27(b) = (256)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ ENHAEMREE 2 BRI 27(b) (22,285) (17,955)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ ENHEERE 2 FEHH 27(b) (3,104) (3,627)
Interest paid ERALE 27(b) (34,841) (36,113)
Net cash outflow from RMETEH2RE

financing activities T REE (21,884) (25,248)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ#ﬁﬂz

cash equivalents W) R (51,614) 28,437
Effect of foreign exchange rate IEERBB2HE

changes 3,860 9,334
Cash and cash equivalents at FHIZRERBESEEY

beginning of year 27 263,486 225,715

Cash and cash equivalents atend of EFRZRERRESEEY
year 27 215,732 263,486

The Notes on pages 122 to 263 form part of these consolidated B F 12252638 2 Wit Al SR AT EHRE 2 —5F
financial statements. e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREHEAMN HEBTHR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
are the manufacturing and the trading of electronic
components and raw materials.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 22 March 2022.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial
Statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
and the Group's interest in joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2 REEE (E)

(b) MBBHHEREE (&)

(b) Basis of Preparation of the Financial

Statements (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

—  investment properties (see Note 4(g));

— ownership interests in buildings held for own use
(see Note 4(f));

— defined benefit retirement assets (see Note 4(v)

(iii));

—  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") (see Note 4(j)); and

—  derivative financial instruments (see Note 4(1)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

b =1

124

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark reform — phase
2

e Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Other than the amendment to HKFRS 16, the Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark
reform — phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting
for changes in the basis for determining contractual cash
flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities
as modifications, and (ii) discontinuing hedge accounting
when an interest rate benchmark is replaced by an alternative
benchmark rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered
rates (“IBOR reform”). The amendments do not have an
impact on these financial statements as the Group does not
have contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest rates
which are subject to the IBOR reform.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN
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BRI M

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES(CONTINUED)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related

rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (2021
amendment)

The Group previously applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 16 such that as lessee it was not required to assess
whether rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic were lease modifications, if the
eligibility conditions are met (see Note 4(i)(i)). One of these
conditions requires the reduction in lease payments affect
only payments originally due on or before a specified time
limit. The 2021 amendment extends this time limit from 30
June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

The amendment to HKFRS 16 does not have any material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

BRTBEREH (&)
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented
as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with Note 4(j)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries and Non-controlling Interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note
4())) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see
Note 4(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 4(e)).

Joint Ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint Ventures (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale) (see Note 4(e)). Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the joint venture that forms
part of the Group's equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in
the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment losses relating to the investment (see Notes
4(d) and 4(k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results
of the investees and any impairment losses for the year
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group's long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group's
net investment in the joint venture (after applying the
ECL model to such other long-term interests where
applicable (see Note 4(k)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint Ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 4())).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in joint ventures are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 4(d)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale) (see Note 4(e)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwiill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition

date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a

bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of
cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually

for impairment (see Note 4(d)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on

disposal.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

(i)

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than buildings held
for own use carried at revalued amounts);

—  intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

—  investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
in the Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.
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4 SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets
(Continued)

(i) (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be done
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).
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4 SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

(Continu

ed)

(i) (Continued)

(i) Inter

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

im financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of the first
six months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same

impa

irment testing, recognition, and reversal

criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see Notes 4(d)(i) and 4(k)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Non-current Assets Held-for-sale

(f)

Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell. Deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries and joint ventures) and investment
properties, even if held-for-sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in Note 4.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets

Ownership interests in buildings held for own use are
stated at their revalued amount, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of reporting
period.

Right-of-use assets arising from properties leased for
own use and ownership interests in leasehold land
held for own use are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortisation and impairment losses (see
Note 4(d)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-

use Assets (Continued)

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings
held for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated separately
in equity in the asset revaluation reserve. The only
exceptions are as follows:

— when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect
of that same asset immediately prior to the
revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a deficit
on revaluation in respect of that same asset had
previously been charged to profit or loss.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing
costs (see Note 4(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-
use Assets (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired
term of lease.

—  Buildings held for own use situated on leasehold
land are depreciated over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date
of completion.

—  Properties leased for own use are depreciated over
the lease term.

—  Machinery and equipment 5-12 years
—  Furniture and fixture 5 years
—  Motor vehicles 5 years
—  Leasehold improvements 5-12 years

Construction in progress represents factory buildings,
office premises and workers’ dormitories and related
infrastructure projects under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Investment Properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
Note 4(i)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as
described in Note 4(u).

Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the
intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials, direct
labour, and an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 4(d)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see Note 4(d)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Intangible Assets (Other Than Goodwill)

(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Brand name 20 years

- Computer software 5 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Leased Assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group, are primarily office
equipment. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 4(d)
and 4(f)), except for the right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property are
carried at fair value in accordance with Note 4(g).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased Assets (Continued)

0]

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract ("lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases.
In such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the
rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as negative
variable lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property in
‘property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease
liabilities separately in the statement of financial
position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with Note 4(u)(ii).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments

0]

(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when
they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) — debt
investment; FVOCI — equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets
in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment'’s fair value in OCI. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative
financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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4 SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Finan

cial assets: Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective
of the business model in which a financial asset is

held

at a portfolio level because this best reflects

the way the business is managed and information

is pr
consi

ovided to management. The information
dered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for
the portfolio and the operation of those
policies in practice. These include whether
management'’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income, maintaining
a particular interest rate profile, matching
the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected
cash outflows or realising cash flows through
the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is
evaluated and reported to the Group's
management;

the risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those
risks are managed;

how managers of the business are
compensated — e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed
or the contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future
sales activity.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FEETBREE (#)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
() &®MIA (&

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (i) 2EREBES=E (F)

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment
(Continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in
transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose,
consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition
of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are
managed and whose performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets. Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’
is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity
risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FESTTBEREIE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Financial Instruments (Continued) () ¢sMIE (&)
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (i) 7ERBETE (&)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) cREE (&)

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual THEE  FEAAIEE R ECELIER
cash flows are solely payments of principal and SRS RFIE (&)

interest (Continued)

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows EIEANESREBRTEAT MK
are solely payments of principal and interest, the ERFER KEEEETAEZAL
Group considers the contractual terms of the R -ERETIHLREERTRES
instrument. This includes assessing whether the AlENEAENRERE KNS
financial asset contains a contractual term that B BEETFAZBBREZ S0
could change the timing or amount of contractual o LF S AEFEZEE

cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition. In making this assessment, the Group

considers:

— contingent events that would change the — BEeNERLRELHENEE Y
amount or timing of cash flows; HASEMH;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon — AIRABRSHNERENEZER B
rate, including variable rate features;, FERT R RS

- prepayment and extension features; and — RABRRIEHESE R

—  terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash — REAXEBERDESETEE
flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse BeRe7 R (nEERER
features). ;) e

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely MiRRIEE2BEE LIEREELRS

payments of principal and interest criterion if ARSI AS RFE (A BIEIRAT

the prepayment amount substantially represents BIEEHZ BIRREIMEE) - BIIRATE

unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the BESEEELNRE RS2 FE—

principal amount outstanding, which may include Ble ptoh R AR S HNEESHEER

reasonable additional compensation for early TESERBUWE ZSREE MR

termination of the contract. Additionally, for a HEEEH AR EEYSHERFL

financial asset acquired at a significant discount or BEXRAAHFRERKURBK ERERA

premium to its contractual par amount, a feature WEES R EEE (ERM) & LF

that permits or requires prepayment at an amount B (A BREENRIEE Nz AR

that substantially represents the contractual par BHINGE)SBIRAIEEZEHER

amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual B BT — B o

interest (which may also include reasonable
additional compensation for early termination) is
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair
value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at
initial recognition.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4 FEETBREE (#)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

() EMTA (&)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (i) 2EREBES=E (F)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

TREE (&)

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and TRIEE - (BB E R W RETE

gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL

BARERBEAIRZEREE

Financial assets at amortised cost

LBERATBCEREE

Debt investments at FVOCI
BEARBEREMZEKAR
IRz EHRRE

Equity investments at FVOCI
BAREREMZEBAA
Rz RARE

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net
gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are
recognised in profit or loss.

FZEEERBRAQRADENE FWEREE (BIEERIFN S AR
BUA) EE S FER -

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
ZEBERBEBABEREMNBRREBIHK A E - REBRERMT
B SE AR AR o RS~ SMNE U 55 R B 4B A SR BN 1R 2 FE AR
BRIFER 2 EW SRR ER -

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit
or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified
to profit or loss.

IEBERRURAAERTE - UBRFEIEFTEZFEWA -~ 5h
PEE Wb 2 Ko B 48 A BORUE I 18 2 T R o ELAth 3 W o S S 1R 00 At
2 EAFER - MR IFHER R - Kt 2 E A Rtz e R ETE

B BERSE-

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends
are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCl and are never
reclassified to profit or loss.
WEEEBRRANEFE-RIFMEABR/KDZRERD
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent
measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-
for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby
it transfers assets recognised in its statement
of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets are not derecognised.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Derecognition (Continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expired. The Group also derecognises
a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the
difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends either to settle them
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

4 FESTHERME (8)

() €MIT A (&)
(i) ARITER(E)

TREE

AEBEANETERE BURSHE
mE - RIEEREBAR-HEREA
B2 R E MEBRABEZR
SREBERKIZE LR RUER
T AAEEERIIEIERAE"

MR E B REEERIETIAR
SERER -

RE LR SR A ER  RRAEESR
ENRE(BRENCERIFRESE
EXRCAERE) 2 ERNBaRfER -

8
REASBEREEFE—RARERS
TR PR RS A E E R
eRAE BAEBENFEAE XA
SREENMEMES AMERLTE
3 BEFBRIIAMBIRARA -

(iv)

Annual Report 2021 3§ 149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R M

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial instruments

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured as 12-month ECLs:

— loans to a joint venture and amounts due from
joint ventures that are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date; and

—  deposits and other receivables and bank balances
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180
days past due and without any business relationship.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default

when:

—  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is

held); or

—  the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial

instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the

Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the

financial asset.

4 FESTHERME (8)

(k) EREERE (H)

SR A (&)
AEERREREERETIBERTEE
#:

- ETMEBAEBEERELITE (108
WEFR (WIFE) ) ZBRT BE
AGELEMAEEREEEEEES
i3

- SHREEMHBRISOK-

EErEyrHERABERE M TA
EBEFEMAMBRIEERE ZENEN
MmEHz RPEAEE-

128 A 2 FAH(E MBIERERRE A HE
128 A A (ka2 TEBEFFERH D2
@A RABREHRE) TEREZERmT A
EBHEMMEH A RRERESE-

AR ERBREAEE 2 REHRE
EAKEHREERR 2 &R

SAEEMGERAER
TEHERERREREEZ BRI -
EREBEEAMERTAREFERE (AR
BRANEEETERZASREELREE
BRI 2 HEREZHZZR)FTE-

BHEREBRACREEZ BRI KRR -

Annual Report 2021 3R 151



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= AN
=8

pr s E e

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable data:

—  significant financial difficulty of the borrower or
issuer,;

—  breach of contract such as a default or being more
than 180 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the
statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

)

(m)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the asset becomes 180 days past due or
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities
in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for
recovery of amounts due.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps to manage its risks associated
with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeaseurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to
be consumed in the production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Inventories (Continued)

(n)

(o)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and Other Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method and including an
allowance for credit losses (see Note 4(k)).

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and measured in
accordance with Note 4(q).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturity of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated and the Company’s
statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 4(k).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

Trade and Bills Payables, Other Payables and
Contract Liabilities

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for
goods that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Contract liabilities are recognised (1) when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration, or the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration, before the Group recognises the related
revenue and (2) for expected volume discounts payable
to customers in relation to sales made until the end of
the reporting period.

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

(r)

(s)

(Continued)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Income Tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBEwRME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income Tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it
is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rRE I RR M

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income Tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 4(g), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRERME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Income Tax (Continued)

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Government Grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Where the grant relates to the
prepaid land premium, the fair value is included in non-
current liabilities as deferred income. Deferred income
is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the
associated assets.

Revenue Recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

4 FESTHERME (8)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Fre® (&)

- HWARERBEEENAE MUETE
EMBERR—REEEARATES
—BERRZ ST AR -

- FE-ERRER XK

— TRERVER hSEETE
FEREBEEAARBRLERIA
EEREEEAANBEERIEE
EE AT VAN B HRRET P - 35 R A
EEIR RN IAE ENSERH
MIEAE AR ZEEM
EEZBE.

BB

e 5 2 £ 78 AT i BT A B - LR SR 115
A P 5 R 1 - R 282 50 B Bk R A e
RBFMY -MEAKECELERA 2
BRELRX ZBRMEARE RGEZT
AEBRBEAER SN - B E L 7E
ERNRER AAAERIERBDEER
P AIEE WA T W ARG B & E T B
NUBEREESAGZEEBRR -

W A TR
ERARBAREBBRETPHEEMES
WK REBEHEDBRRA -

WAREmZIZHIREBRETEFPRHULE
E TR E BT AR E SRR

TERERRF=ZTRRZRESE - BA
WA BREIEERKEMHER kR
R R

Annual Report 2021 3 159
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(v)

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Sales of electronic products
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Employee Benefits

0]

Share option scheme

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

0]

Share option scheme (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in Note 34 to
the financial statements. In valuing the granting
of share options, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company
("market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award
(the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
end of reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
The Group's net obligation in respect of defined
benefit retirement plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods; that
benefit is discounted to determine the present
value and the fair value of any plan assets is
deducted. The calculation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. When the calculation results in a benefit
to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available
in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(v) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(iii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

(Continued)

Service cost and net interest expense (income)
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) are
recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and
distribution costs” or “administrative expenses”.
Current service cost is measured as the increase
in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in the
current period. When the benefits of a plan are
changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment,
is recognised as an expense in profit or loss at
the earlier of when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring
costs or termination benefits are recognised.
Net interest expense (income) for the period is
determined by applying the discount rate used
to measure the defined benefit obligation at
the beginning of the reporting period to the net
defined benefit liability (asset). The discount rate
is the yield at the end of the reporting period on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
retirement plans are recognised in other
comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in retained earnings. Remeasurements comprise
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined benefit liability (asset)) and any
change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(w) Borrowings

(x)

(y)

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see Note 4(x)).

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or completed.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRERME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(z) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker of the Group,
which is considered as the Group's executive team,
comprising all executive directors and headed by the
managing director. The chief operating decision-maker
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments based on the
entity-wide financial information.

(aa) Foreign Currency Translation

0]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"),
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions are recognised in profit or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value
was measured.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa) Foreign Currency Translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRERME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial Guarantee

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in
an arm'’s length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees (i.e.
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial Guarantee (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in
the risk of default of the specified debtor since the
issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured
unless the risk that the specified debtor will default has
increased significantly since the guarantee is issued,
in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The same
definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in Note
4(k) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any
other party. The amount is then discounted using the
current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.

(ac) Repurchase of Shares

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital, the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where
such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received (net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRERME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ad) Related Parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).
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(vi)

“E %EEK%IF%H EIZﬂZ
BRAR(BHEEAR HEA
B[R] 24 PR ijﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁf‘%
Bt) o
—HERR7—HERBZEER
AlgAZLE (AR ERBKE
ZEEXRERRZBERRRA
BhE) -
MEBERHAR-F=26%
-

Annual Report 2021 3 169



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rRE I RR M

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ad) Related Parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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BRI M

AN
mE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Notes 35 and 38 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to defined benefit retirement
obligations and financial instruments respectively. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

0

(ii)

Fair values of properties

The fair values of investment properties and buildings
held for own use are determined at the end of each
reporting period by independent professional valuers.
The fair values of certain buildings held for own use
in Mainland China are determined on a depreciated
replacement cost basis. This methodology is based on
an estimate of the market value for the existing use
of the building, plus the current cost of replacement
of the existing structures less deductions for physical
deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence
and optimisation. The fair values of the investment
properties are determined on an open market value
basis by reference to comparable market transactions.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land premium

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land premium is recognised as the amount
by which the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 4(d). The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use, which are based on the best information available
to reflect the amount obtainable at each reporting
date, from the disposal of the asset in an arm'’s length
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties,
after deducting the costs of disposal.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Write-down on inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability of
inventories. Write-down on inventories is recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be realised. The identification
of write-down requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and write-down of
inventories in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed.

Impairment of receivables

The Group makes loss allowance on receivables
based on various factors including the ageing of
receivables, historical write-off experience and forward
looking information. The identification of impairment
of receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact the
carrying value of receivables and the impairment losses
on receivable is recognised in the years in which such
estimates have been changed.

172 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B4R EEERAFE

5

BEREEHE R A (&)

AHE T A E R RIR (&)

(iii)

(iv)

FE MR
FERBEGFEAERIE 2 FEMRER
ERFE-ERFHRFEE (B RER
A RET AT IR - RIS MURTF & o 3RIHOR
T RER A R AAE - WBHARRRSL
fEt A EMER KT EE R EN
Bz FEREE R B MO

FE WK IR R B

5 BRI FE WGRIA 2 fR ik~ B EME K
BEAEEENEZHERKEERKRIE
JES 18 3 - 8| FE SRR B R E R H B
K fhEt - IEHA RN R MARE
BRTEERA B FEER ZBK
OB AR (B M E WK IE R E 18 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
PPN

REMBRRME

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s executive team, comprising all executive
directors and headed by the managing director of the
Company, is considered as the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM"). The CODM reviews the performance of
the Group on a regular basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the CODM
reviews the Group’s investments as a separate segment.
Such investments include investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The respective
financial results that were reported as part of other segment
in previous periods’ financial statements are now separately
reported to the CODM as one single operating segment
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment. Following the change in the composition of the
Group's operating segments that in turn results in a change
in the reportable segments, the segment information for the
year ended 31 December 2020 has been restated.

The Group is organised into two main operating segments.
They are the (i) manufacturing, selling and distribution of
electronic components; and (ii) investments.

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2021
are as follows:

HINEP A HBA

Segment revenue from external customers

Segment gross profit DEEH

Gross profit margin (%) EFE(%)

Other income HHlA

Other net (loss)/gain Hitn(B518) /W@ FE
Operating expenses' e

Operating profit =iyl

B HIE (%)

By

Operating profit margin (%)

7 EER

AR A 2 BT E FAA L B F G2
B AEBHNTERREAEBEEREA X
EREREATHRA LB KRR

REZE2021F12A31ALLFE  TBEEREA
LB A HERAEEIRE - ZERERER
BEMERBANERBRANTEZCREE B
TERAANAMBREREMD F—HH 255
PHEERBIN—EAE— KL HARMEEL
BRRAZSH UWESRERLKTGHRE KRR
EE A D SRR AT 2 H PR
% EHZE2020F12A31BILFEZOHEREE
e

AN [ o R B AR D BRAR K - BN(VBLAE - 35
ERDHET LI RiRE -

HE2021F12A318 I FE 2 o EBEEWN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BZE2021F12A31ALEE
Manufacturing,
selling and
distribution
of electronic
components Investments Total
B HER
PHEEF M RE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TERT TERT TET
2,091,264 - 2,091,264
357,489 - 357,489
17.1% N/ATE 17.1%
9,023 2,991 12,014
(8,899) 5,203 (3,696)
(264,864) (251) (265,115)
92,749 7,943 100,692
4.4% N/ATE A 4.8%
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A BRI

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 oEER (&)
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2020 HE2020012A31R EFE 2o BEE (&
(restated) are as follows: ER7 DRGNS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Restated)
BZ2020F12A31A L& (KF5))
Manufacturing,

selling and

distribution

of electronic
components Investments Total

B HER
DHETFTH RE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR THET
Segment revenue from external customers HINRPABWA 1,599,599 - 1,599,599
Segment gross profit HEEF 271,877 - 271,877
Gross profit margin (%) EFE(%) 17.0% N/ATE A 17.0%
Other income HAA 4,902 3,263 8,165
Other net (loss)/gain Hit (B518) /W58 (23,879) 4,078 (19,801)
Operating expenses' BERT (208,056) (252) (208,308)
Operating profit FS=Sinvl 44,844 7,089 51,933
Operating profit margin (%) AR R (%) 2.8% N/A7R i F 3.2%
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A PBRRMEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6
A reconciliation of operating profit to profit before tax is
provided as follows:

D HRPEFR ()
AR F) SR BR B A S ) 2 B EBRIEHE AN S

For the year ended 31 December

HE12A31BILEE
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FET
Operating profit Feg il 100,692 51,933

Changes in fair values of derivatives EesmIAARBEZE

financial instruments - 11)
Finance costs BF %2 (35,456) (37,871)
Finance income B RS WA 5,956 5,347
Share of results of joint ventures BhEEhEEE 19,594 13,515
Profit before tax R A 3 90,786 32,913

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is not
provided regularly to the Group’'s CODM and accordingly, no
segment assets or liabilities information is presented.

Note:

1. Operating expenses represent the expenditure that the
Group incurs as a result of performing its normal business
operations, including selling and distribution costs,
administrative expenses and net impairment loss on trade
and other receivables.

DHEERBBZFELEETRAAKELZ
TREERRARM AUHYEZIDHE
EXAEEF -

FaE
1. KEBREASBEEEE-REGAELZR

X BEHERSHEER TRERUREKE
R E A YR 2 R E R RF R -
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rRE IR M

6 ZEER (H)
TREIIEAAEERASIRG R A - A%
BUA 2 IR BIAR P 2 032 H B SRR -

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group’s revenue. The
geographical location of Group's revenue is based on the
geographical location of the customers.

Revenue from
external customers within
the scope of HKFRS 15

(BRI HREELN)
FISREE R 2
HEE KA
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Hong Kong 55 95,176 88,259
Mainland China H Y i 1,548,747 1,138,590
Taiwan = 240,003 210,529
Southeast Asia HEge 67,520 53,845
Korea B2 5,681 2,645
United States EH 40,048 19,985
Europe M 75,570 76,707
Other countries HBE R 18,519 9,039
Total kS 2,091,264 1,599,599
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A PBRRMEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEERE (E)

As at 31 December
M12831H

2021 2020

20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T T T

Non-current assets by physical locations 2 i#tt B & 2 Z FREEE
(excluding deferred tax assets and (TEREEHEEER
financial assets at fair value through 2R ERIBHEATIE

profit or loss) ZEMEE)
Hong Kong BB 109,186 109,912
Mainland China A B A 1,334,368 1,249,504
Other countries H{th B =} 191 210

1,443,745 1,359,626
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rRE IR M

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET
LOSS

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacturing and trading of electronic components
and raw materials. Revenue represents the net value
of goods sold, after allowances for trade returns and
discounts. Revenue from the manufacturing and trading
of electronic components is recognised at the point
in time when control of the electronic components is
transferred to the customers.

7 WA BB ARE AR R

(a)

Revenue from contracts with (BRUBREER)
customers within the scope of F1REERAZEF
HKFRS 15 BHBA

Manufacturing and trading of 2EENEBEEF LM

electronic components

A
REEZFEXEBRAYRERBEEEF LN
RRM B W ABIIREE RITNELE
EmZFE - BERBEEEFTLH WA
REFLUHZESEEREEPR X
— BT o

2020
20204

HK$'000
TEx

2,091,264 1,599,599

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographical markets is disclosed in Note
6.
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A PBRRMEE

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA HMARHEAMEEFE (&)

LOSS (CONTINUED)

(b) Other Income

Scrap sales
Government subsidies
Rental income generated from
investment properties (Note 20(a))
Losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Others

(b) Hfbug A
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
EERHIEE 1,629 962
B #8 B) 3,086 4,982
KREMEEEZHESWA
(FF3E20(a)) 2,991 3,263
HEWE BEMEEZ
&5 18 (218) (3,169)
HAith 4,526 2,127
12,014 8,165

(c) Other Net Loss

(0 HtERFHE

Dividend income
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment
properties (Note 20)

Net foreign exchange loss
Fair value gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Impairment on property, plant
and equipment
Others

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
=L PN = 1
BEYEZARE
Wz, (E18)
QhEY)) 1,145 (3,564)
& B8 558 (6,511) (23,802)
BAREREBERAYEZ
SRVEENDEWE 4,058 7,642
W BE MEERE
(2,388) -
Hbb - (78)
(3.696) (19,801)
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8 OPERATING PROFIT 8

The Group's operating profit is arrived at after charging/

(crediting) the following:

Employee benefit expenses (including EE@FBX (BIEES

directors’ emoluments) (Note)
Cost of inventories sold (including
raw materials and consumables
used and changes in inventories
of finished goods and work in
progress)
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Depreciation charge: (Note)
— Owned property, plant and
equipment
— Right-of-use assets
Amortisation of prepaid land
premium
Amortisation of intangible assets

Losses on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

Research and development costs
(Note)

Write-down of inventories

Reversal of write-down of inventories

Net impairment loss on trade and
other receivables:
— Additional impairment losses
recognised
— Impairment losses reversed
— (Gain)/loss on reimbursement
right assets

Fair value gains on financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss
Deferred income recognised as
income

) (MIEE)
BHEFERA (B
EEMAZRME K
JHFE o A S BLPK i B
HERZEFEEH)

2 Gl kA
— R BUR
— I BURTE
WEMX: (M)
—BEME -BER
Bgi]
—EREEE
338 & FE AT R 8

BB EHH

HEWE FE &
R B8

B R AR (HIaE)

5 & OB
7 & OB =
JRE W B R L A R M
IR RIEE R
—BEERZBEINAE
B8
—BEREZREER
—WMHEER
(Wz) /ER
BATERBZATIRZ
TREE 2 A EWER
EFE WA ER BN

REB LR MRAGR, (GEA) AT S HEE

RERF
R
2021
20215
HK$'000
TH T
9 325,606
25(b) 1,716,861
1,850
350
18 64,872
18 22,698
19 1,587
22 250
7(b) 218
48,280
25(b) 18,332
25(b) (1,418)
38(d) 2,174
38(d) (356)
(1,034)
7(c) (4,058)
(317)

266,765

1,314,316
1,750
350
58,263

19,207

1,495
237

3,169
25,373

14,145
(739)

7,846
(8,792)

506

(7,642)

(313)

Note:  Research and development costs include HK$10,626,000
(2020: HK$6,306,000) relating to staff costs and
depreciation which amounts are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above for

each of these types of expenses.
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RE SRR
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEEAMEX
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Wages and salaries T & R E 306,746 254,405
Contributions to defined contribution TE R FOR ARG B R
retirement plan 18,860 12,360
Total employee benefit expenses EERMMAZEE 325,606 266,765
10 CHANGES IN FAIR VALUES OF DERIVATIVE 10 STAERMIAEQAAEZEH

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FABTT
Fair value losses on interest rate FEEEHZ AREBE
swaps - 11
At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021, all interest 72020912 8318 K&2021%12 8318 A F
rate swap contracts were expired. EIEHRE A BT
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e EmER M
11 FINANCE COSTS 1M1 BHXH
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Interest expense on bank and WITRHEMEREZ
other borrowings =N 34,466 35,508
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEABMEXH 3,104 3,627
Others Hitb 375 605
37,945 39,740
Less: Interest expenses capitalised into WBENMCBTERIRZ
construction in progress ' MEXZ (2,489) (1,869)
35,456 37,871
Note: P&
1. The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 3.5% 1. BERAAFEFIE3 5% (20205 :3.5% ) #ETE
per annum (2020: 3.5%). Mo
12 FINANCE INCOME 12 BB
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Interest income from loans to a joint LT —HEELEERZ
venture (Note 24) FEWA (KizE24) 5,596 4,982
Interest income from time deposits and TR RRITEGZ
bank balances FEHA 360 365

5,956 5,347
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A PBRRMEE

13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ Emoluments
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021:

13 EEME

(a) EEM=

RIE LR AR A7 BB CREHERD
FE3BMER AR (BEEEMNIER)
BO) B2 BEEEMES T

HE2021F 128318 1IH5E

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

REARRES (FRALLARENBLAZHE RECHARKZHE:

Employer's
contribution
toa
Estimated  retirement
money value benefit
of other scheme
Discretionary benefits iy
Fees Salary bonuses  EftFlE RAEA Total
fig i RERL HHEER [ g
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR THn T#n TiEn
Chairman and Executive Director: IERHUNES:
Kee Chor Lin g - 5130 1,640 207 18 6,995
Executive Directors: HTES:
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene RFE - 4,950 20 1,508 18 6,716
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan 3= - 2,100 120 - 18 2238
Independent Non-executive Directors: ~ BYF#{TES:
Mar, Selwyn ShE 400 - - - - 400
Li Sau Hung, Eddy e SE] 360 - - - - 360
Lo Kwok Kwei, David BHE 360 - - - = 360
1120 12,180 2,000 1,715 54 17,069
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AP REM

13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020:

13 EEME (&)
(a) EE=M< (&)

HZE2020 128310 15 E

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:

REAZEEZ (R

Fees
HK$'000

o
BT

Chairman and Executive Director: IRRHTES:

Salary
HK$000
ThL

ANBAREE) BEE SRR He:

Employer's

contribution

toa

Estimated retirement

money value benefit

of other scheme

Discretionary benefits

bonuses  HfeFlg , Total
MERL HHEEER e st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00 HK$'000
T T Tin i

Kee Chor Lin irE - 5,130 - 151 18 5,299

Executive Directors; €S

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BFE - 4,950 - 886 18 5,854

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan (3] - 2,100 - - 18 2118

Independent Non-executive Directors; ~ By FH17EZ:

Mar, Selwyn SHE 400 - - - - 400

Li Sau Hung, Eddy 5B 360 - - - - 360

Lo Kwok Kwei, David BHE 360 - - - - 360
1,120 12,180 - 1,037 54 14,391

(b) Information About Loans, Quasi-loans
and Other Dealings in Favour of Directors
Controlled Bodies Corporate by and
Connected Entities with Such Directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBRRME
13 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 13 EEME (&)
(c) Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, () EENXRZ ZTHIHEAHNHRZEKX

Arrangements or Contracts En
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts RAREREER T I ARRRERET
in relation to the Company's business to which the NI RARREEZEELREREEXNE
Company was a party and in which a director of the MmN FRRFENEARSENAFE LS
Company had a material interest, whether directly or KRG wHE &4 (20204F : &) o

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2020: Nil).

14 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 14 EEESFMAL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included FAREGE=TMALBE=4 (20206 : =%)
three (2020: three) directors, details of whose remuneration B FHARSHFMNZFBEHR EXMFE13" -

are set out in Note 13 above.

Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2020: two) FRHEHBMA 2020F ME) BT MALH
highest paid individuals during the year were as follows: Bz SN T -
2020
2020%F
HK$'000
FHET
Salaries and allowances e KRR 2,144 1,836
Pension scheme contributions RIKEEHEIHR 36 36
2,180 1,872
The remuneration of the remaining two (2020: two) highest Herma 20206 MA)SmaMA T 22
paid individuals is within the following band: B LA TN R
2021 2020
2021%F 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Between HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 500,000/ L E
1,000,000/% 7T = 2
Between HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 BLE
1,500,000/ 7T 2 -
No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the five N6 B 3 4% W) A A e o BN A S A AR AT 5
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon ERMAREE R MAREE R 2 RENIER
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. HERBAE - AFEN AESa 8 A T E
None of the five individuals with highest remuneration WE R [F B REAH M (20205 : &) o
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the Year
(2020: Nil).
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rRE IR M

15 INCOME TAX 15 Fri8#i

() REBERZBEE:

(a) Taxation in the Consolidated Statement of

Profit or Loss Represents:

Current tax: RVEA#R IS :

- Hong Kong — &

- Outside Hong Kong —&B SN
Over-provision in prior years T mEEE

Deferred tax (Note 31) EERIA (KIFE31)
Total tax charge for the year EFEBRIAST H

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T FAT
2,633 1,515
18,620 8,791
(2,777) (1,781)
18,476 8,525
(1,676) (1,681)
16,800 6,844

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations
in Mainland China, four (2020: three) of the Group's
subsidiaries in Mainland China enjoy a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2020: 15%). Other subsidiaries of the
Group in Mainland China are subject to income taxes at
a statutory rate of 25% (2020: 25%).

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.
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MR A B A AR B B A5 AR Bl ROE AR A
8 H PO RS (20204 « =) iz R R B A it
2B AR ZEH15% (20204 : 15% ) 2
BEB R - RNREME MM B A2 KT
B R F)/BIR25% (20204 : 25% ) 2 A E R
KGINFTSH o

IR EE R B AR I8 A B
HE B8 B 2K AE A 2 B R B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 15 Fiis®i (&)
(b) Reconciliation Between Tax Expenses and (b) REBERAZHEEHEFNIRBEHABR R
Accounting Profit at the Applicable Tax Rate AEZHER
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit FARABIREKREHHBAREE T
before tax using the statutory rates for the countries/ BRRIEEE ZEEB LT E ZBRBIAT
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of WA EABERS  BRERBERTE
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the BRI EERAT

effective tax rates is as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000
TER T

Profit before tax B H5 Al g ) 90,786 32,913

Tax calculated at domestic tax  #Z@E A NEARIE R

rates applicable to profits in i) 2 8 R
the respective countries FTE 2 TIR 19,756 7,941
Lower tax rate for specific EEMBARIZAZ
subsidiaries BRI X (3,887) (622)
Income not subject to tax BERBA (3.509) (2,631)
Effect of research and T FEIMIE IR 2
development super deduction ~ F/%£ (4,485) (2,744)
Expenses not deductible for tax A ERI B 37 H 9,989 7,901
Over-provision in prior years EFBREERE (2,777) (1,781)
Recognition of tax losses not MR LA R TR
previously recognised HIgEE - (478)
Utilisation of tax losses not By A LA R TERTIE
previously recognised &5 18 (4,676) (5,319)
Tax losses not recognised RERHEEE 6,389 4,577
Tax charge at the Group's BRAKEERBX
effective rate AHEZBIEX 16,800 18.5 6,844 20.8
The share of income tax attributable to joint ventures FE(R A & 1 F AT15 812,996,000 7T (2020
amounting to HK$2,996,000 (2020: HK$4,764,000) is F 4,764,000 ) EFt ABRAEBRERZ
included in “Share of results of joint ventures” in the [BIhEEEZEE] -

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Re IR MR
15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 15 FREH (%)
(c) Tax Effect Relating to Each Components of () HEMZEAWVRAZISEE2BE
Other Comprehensive Income 4
Tax effect relating to each components of other BLE M2 EINA S D MHEE 2 HIEZ 2
comprehensive income is as follows: T

2021 2020
20214 20204
Before After After
tax Tax tax Before tax Tax tax

BR B Al BE  BRBE S BB BRBR®
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 “HKS$000 " HK$000 HKS$000
TEx TEx TEX FSNEIESSNEIE ST

Fair value (loss)/gain DRE(EE)
Ve €::
— Buildings held for own —F{EE R
use (Note 18) BF
(PH3E
18) (2,475) 619 (1,856) (1,197) 299 (898)
Currency translation fE X Z5
differences 73,068 (1,616) 71,452 124,839 (276) 124,563
Other comprehensive income £ A 2 E 4 A 70,593 (997) 69,596 123,642 23 123,665
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A PBRRMEE

16 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of HK$76,494,000 (2020: HK$24,064,000),
and the weighted average number of 475,547,534 (2020:
475,547,534) ordinary shares in issue during the Year.

16 BREF
FRERBFTREAR A REEFE ABEAR
% JZ )i 776,494,000/% 7T (20204F : 24,064,000
B RAFEE BHITERK 2 NEFSE
475,547,5348% (20204F : 475,547,5348% ) 5t & -

Issued and weighted average number of ordinary ERITEBRZMEFEH
shares
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January and RITATBZE281TEEKR &
weighted average number of ordinary R1I2A3NAEBR
shares at 31 December g F 1988 475,547,534 475,547,534

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic
earnings per share as the Company's share options
outstanding during the Year and the year ended 31
December 2020 were anti-dilutive ordinary shares.

17 DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend final dividend for the Year
(2020: Nil).

BEREERENDARRABAAEE 2 EE LB
Bt R B B BT T B I AR

N
=g
FTHE

ARAREE REE2020F12A31H IEFEAR
RIZARITEBEREAERESER 2 LB &)
FREERFESREARAFER -

17 BRE

EFe TEBIREAFE RS (20205
&) e
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rRE IR M

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 Y% BERRE

(a) Reconciliation of Carrying Amount (a) FREEZHER

Ownership

interests in

buildings
heldfor  Properties
ownuse leased for
@riedat  ownuse
fair value carried

BALE atcost  Machinery  Fumniture

S 2kE fRHi and and Motor  Leasehold Construction

BBBEz JIBZER  equpment  fitwes  vehices improvements in progress Total

fiEkEs HENE HERRE GARE E§ HENEEE  HRIR fa3t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TT T&7 Tan AT Tn Tn T#7 T#7

At 1 January 2001 MmERE
Costor valuation AAEE M0 112650 128909 39793 0% 15709 55059 1,877,366
Accumuated depreciation ZifE - (39307)  (80973)  (3438%)  (10719)  (121,009) - (1186399)
(Qpening net carrying amount ENGESE 211,39 13383 308,126 5408 151 36,070 55,059 690,973
Opening net canying amount at AEIR1E

1 January 2001 ENEESE 21139 B 0816 5408 151 36,070 5505 69097
Additons ikl - 6,350 11876 730 5 16,047 B39 10340
Disposdls k= (149) - (549) (78) (0] - - (176)
Deficit on revaluation (Note 15) BEE (M) (2475) - - - - - - (2475)
Deprecition for the year ERiE (7,499) (22,6%) (45,99) (1,287) (605) (9,485) - (87,570
Transfers B 25595 - 14 - - () (593) -
Impairment HiE - - (2375) - () - - (2368)
Bichange redinment FE 6,531 204 9,95 183 1 (255) 1820 2035
Closing net camying amount at HONENANEL

31 December 2021 EXERSE 3373 59019 311,184 4920 1017 on30 6933 7146
At 31 December 2021 H0EN A8
Costor vluation RAEIRE W 11843 136595 134 1180 17630 6933 20131
Accumulated depreciation ZiffE - (59434)  (1,054775) (36.424) (11,163 (134,000) - (1,295,886)
(Closing net carrying amount ERGESE 83733 59,019 311,184 490 1017 0230 69,323 121,426
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e IRRMEE
18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 M¥ BEKRE (F)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reconciliation of Carrying Amount (a) FREEZHER (&)
(Continued)

Qwnership
Interess in
buldings
heldfor ~ Properties
ownuse  leased for
carred at own Use

carried
atcost  Machinery  Fumiture
T and and Motor Leasehold  Construction
; equipment fixtures vehices  improvements —in progress Total
BRRE GAREE EL EEIE it
HK$ 000 BRSO HKS00D  HKS000 j HKS000  HKS'000
TR Th7 Th7 T BT Th7 T
At lanuary 2000 H00%1 518
Costor vluation RAEIRE 4685 100399 1203869 36,662 12381 139331 3619 1729006
Accumuated depreciation ZifE - 18300 @A) (0813 (10054 (106,004) - (1,082666)
(Opening net carrying amount EERSE 204,685 8,097 306,466 5849 2311 $3237 31,679 666,340
Opening net canying amount at H00%1A182
1 January 2000 EEETE 204,685 80007 306466 5849 230 ECRE] 369 666340
Additions 7E D B 3348 956 - 6,057 4250 61407
Modlficaions B - 3,160 - - - - - 3,160
Disposals it - - 3923 (1 (33) (509) - (9,486)
Defict on revaluation (Note 15) B[R (H3t1) (1197 - - - - - - (1197
Depreciation for the year EhiE (5,800) (19,207) (42,004) (1,708) (745) (1907) - (17.470)
Traners g4 - - U - - 3,460 3806) -
Bichange reaignment Eiaz 13618 4570 18,983 n 18 173 293 019
Closing net caying amount at H00E128318
31 December 2020 FRERTE 1139 BU 308126 5408 1577 36070 5059 69093
At 31 December 2020 H00E128317
Costor valuation REEIEE M3 160 1289099 39793 1206 157079 5505 1877366
Accumulated deprection ZifE SO 8097y (438 (10719 (121,009 - (11839
Closing net camying amount EREESE 1139 B N816 5408 1577 36,00 5059 690973
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rRE IR M

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 M¥ BEKRE (F)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties

(i) Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

(b) MEZAREFE

0]

DRRBEER

TREJNALEYEN RS BRIRE
FUHERFEZANE WIER (B
B BHEER) B35 [2Es
EIREIMERAAREERN B2
EFfESRN2REERMAABA
BEZABRENBENETEIN T

- FEIHE: BEREIARE
ANBEBFEZARE ARG E
RHEREEX A BEEERTS

—  F2RPIHE  ERE2EH A
BiEAE2 A E ITHAE
1RBIZ BB ABEARE
EREATABREARE T
ABRBABBEEZNETS
ARtz AR

— FIWAEEERERTAE
ERARBAEZARE

Fair value measurements categorised into

AREFEBZDE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

SR F28 5 3 Al
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEx TEr THERT

Recurring fair value measurements &EE M A AENE

Buildings held for own use KIEERCETF

— Mainland China —HE R
At 31 December 2021 R20219F12A318
At 31 December 2020 72020912 A31H

- - 233,733

- - 211,390
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AN
mE

18

BRI M

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the Year. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value
hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group’'s buildings held for own use
were revalued as at 31 December 2021
by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited, an
independent professionally qualified valuer, at
an aggregate value of HK$233,733,000 (2020:
HK$211,390,000). A deficit on revaluation of
HK$2,475,000 (2020: deficit on revaluation
of HK$1,197,000), resulting from the above
valuations, has been charged to the relevant
asset revaluation reserve. Had these buildings
been carried at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, their
carrying values would have been approximately
HK$146,191,000 (2020: HK$123,954,000).

The Group’s management has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed

at each annual reporting date.
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements
Valuation techniques
Buildings held for Depreciated replacement

OWn Use cost approach
- Mainland China

input and range

Construction costs

per sq. m. ranged from
RMB1,790 to RMB2,850
(2020: RMB1,650 to

18 W% - BERZE (&)

(b) MEZRREE (&)

0]

(i)

AREZER (F)

REZRN - FVRR - B2 5 R E34%
Bz EN RS o REE L BER AR
B EHAAERR 2 HEE 2 EHF
SRR EEE A ERA B A
t}j °

RNEERBEBREFEHRBILIEE
AERGEEMEMAERNTMATER
NAEEHER2021F12A318 2
4818 /233,733,000 7T (20204 :
211,390,0008 L) - LillfhBELE
HE AL A 2,475,000/ 7T (20204 :
&L E4H1,197,000% 1) - 2 1% 48
HEESEHHE BRZEEFERE
AR REHITE ROREE IR
Bl E BR T (B FE 49 £146,191,000/8 7T
(20204F : 123,954,000/ 7T ) °

R RS B HBIRGES A%E
EREREERRRAEERENE
BT T i

BRFERIDAAETFEZER

TUER
fhER% BAYEREE

REERZBT  MEEE
~RER KAk

BYRRBERA
NEARE790TE
AREL8507
(2020%:

NEH1 65072
ARH2,8007C)
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rRE IR M

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 ¥ -BERRE (HE)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZRAAETE (&)
(Continued)

(i) FEASERBQAABTEZESR
(%)
R ERM BT 2 EIRBI AR
ENAFTEEERALER -TES
ERAEAERBER L mEZ
BT RER SNEEREEEY 2
KA BREE BB
BERBAVAZRERE(LZHE-

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements (Continued)

Level 3 fair values of buildings located in Mainland
China have been derived using the depreciated
replacement cost approach, which is based on an
estimate of the market value for the existing use
of the land, plus the current cost of replacement
of the existing structures less deductions for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation.

FIRPNREFEZBBEAFE

The movements during the year in the balance

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as 2RI
follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Buildings held for own use HIEEBRAZEF
— Mainland China — A
At 1 January R1A1H 211,390 204,685
Additions NE - 93
Disposal HE (149) -
Deficit on revaluation BB (2,475) (1,197)
Depreciation charge for the year ANFEEITERL (7,499) (5,809)
Transfer from construction EETRETRE
in progress 25,935 -
Exchange realignment M 5 B 6,531 13,618
At 31 December M®12A31H 233,733 211,390

(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation and exchange BiraAEF2ERNERARY
realignment of buildings held for own use are (B4t BHHBIREEBAF [E
recognised in other comprehensive income EEMEEIRTELRBEE]®
in "asset revaluation reserve” and “exchange R

fluctuation reserve” respectively.
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A PBRRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c) Machinery under installation
The amount of machinery under installation expected
to be transferred to property, plant and equipment is
HK$99,504,000 (2020: HK$93,902,000).

(d) Right-of-use Assets
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Properties leased for own use, ERAEME -

18 W% - BERZE (&)

() ZREPH:S
TEHEBENE BRERIBEZLE
22 X T8 /599,504,000 JT (20204F :
93,902,000 7T) °

d) FHREEE
ZHRAEEER I EREEE 2 REF
BT

2020
20204

HK$'000
TAT

carried at depreciated cost AT ER AR 1 59,019 73,343
Ownership interests in leasehold ##{EE A E it~
land held for own use, FRE R HREH
carried at amortised cost, P31 B - Fl 84 FH & R
with remaining lease term I F35FE45F
between 35 and 45 years (HI5E19)
(Note 19) 2 61,494 61,305
Ownership interests in leasehold #{EE A EEF Z
buildings held for own FiBE#RER EBARE
use, carried at fair value, HIER - FIgAFAE R
with remaining lease term I F35FE45F
between 35 and 45 years 2 233,733 211,390
Ownership interests in leasehold TSR E Y 7 A #
investment property, carried L e /NI =Rl
at fair value, with remaining FleaTE & B (P7E20)
lease term (Note 20)
— 50 years or more —50F s A £ 2,520 2,305
— between 25 years and — N F25E50F
50 years 161,006 157,555
517,772 505,898
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Re IR MR
18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 % MERRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Right-of-use Assets (Continued) d) EREEE (&)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases HRERTHRAZEERB2FAXIEE D
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: W

2021 2020
202145 20204

HK$"000 HK$'000
FEx TEx

Depreciation charge or amortisation 1R iEFEEELERIZIH 2

charge of right-of-use assets by CREEERE
class of underlying asset: X
— Properties leased for own use —ERHEYE 22,698 19,207
— Ownership interests in leasehold —HIEEREELH
land held for own use 2B 1,587 1,495
24,285 20,702
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 11)  HE&EF B (MFE11) 3,104 3,627
Expense relating to short-term leases  ERfGHAFAE R HAM M E
and other leases with remaining Bz FAX  FHHEER
lease term of 12 months or less 1218 B3 LA 2,768 775
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were A - A #E & &7 & 56,350,000 7T
HK$6,350,000 (2020: HK$2,723,000). This amount is (2020%F : 2,723,000/ 7T ) ° % & %A B2 % 718
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under EMEETRNEMCHEN KA -
new tenancy agreements.
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HEZHeRHRBEEEEEZDHA
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 27(c) and AT 2 FEIE D BIER I TH27(0 %30 -

30 respectively.
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A PBRRMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d) Right-of-use Assets (Continued)

Notes:
1. Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use some properties
as its warehouses, factory and office premises through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of two to five years. Lease payments are usually
increased every two to five years to reflect market rentals.

2. Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
for own use

The Group holds several factory buildings for its
electronics business, where its manufacturing facilities
are primarily located. The Group is the registered owner
of these property interests, including the whole or part
of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests from their previous registered owners, and there
are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land leases.

19 PREPAID LAND PREMIUM
The movements in prepaid land premium during the year
were as follows:

18 W% - BERZE (&)

d) EREEE (&)
GES
1. AREEnE

AEEEERBEERARSINAE TYE
VEREARE TR AEYEZF K-
ME— YT AEREF HENRES
F2ESFE - AR5 -

2. FHEEREELMRETOMAEEES

AREREETEBRAEZRIEARZ
MELEREEEUREET - NEEHZ
St (BEAR LB 2 EEAD
PRIDEED) 2 BFLET - MAIBRLET
WHEZ S ERERENR N —F B
B BURRIRE LA SRR K

19 THAERMK
FRTIBBERMTRZ EHMT

2020

2020%F

HK$'000

FHT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1TE ZEREE 61,305 59,084
Amortisation during the year F N (1,587) (1,495)
Exchange realignment ME 3 1,776 3,716
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31MB ZREE 61,494 61,305
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rRE IR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20 REY=E

At 1 January ®1A1R

Gain/(loss) on fair value adjustment ARERFHEZ W, (EBE)
(Note 7(c)) (ME7(c))

Exchange realignment M H B

At 31 December M®12A831H

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FET
159,860 158,256
1,145 (3,564)
2,521 5,168
163,526 159,860

(@) Amounts Recognised in Profit or Loss for
Investment Properties

(a) RREVENEBERRBRAZEH

2021
20214

HK$'000
FER

Rental income (Note 7(b)) el A (HE70b))

Direct operating expenses from EEBeRAZYEZ
property that generated rental HEEKZEER
income

2,991 3,263

(251) (252)

2,740 3,011

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties

(i) Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technigue as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date
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A PBRRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 REYE (E)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZDAALEFE (B)
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) 2AEHE (&)

-~ Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using —  EURAEE  EAFE2RBIEA
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which FRAEZANE TFEE
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant 1Az B RGASBARE
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs ERAER T BRGAEE T
are inputs for which market data are not AEEE A SBREEEISTS
available BR 2z A BUR

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using —  FEIWFEHE: - FHEARTAE
significant unobservable inputs RRABBAEZANE

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2021 categorised into
R2021512A31A AR EFERZ D E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

SR 24 5l 34 A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TET

Recurring fair value measurements &M D AEFE

Investment properties BEME
— Completed residential properties -BERIEEME

- Mainland China —HE R - - 2,520
— Completed industrial property —BERIIEDE

~ Mainland China —HER - - 18,269
- Completed commercial properties ~ —BE R LEEDE

- Hong Kong &% - - 75,100
— Under development commercial ~BRETEHENE

property — Mainland China —FRE A - - 67,637

- - 163,526
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rRE IR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

0]

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

20 REW*E (&)
(b) MEZ2DAAEE (&)

i

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2020 categorised into
M2020F12A31AARBEFHEZ A
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E24 5 E34 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

F1R 7
HK$'000
THTT

Recurring fair value measurements &EMAAEFE
Investment properties REWME
— Completed residential properties —BExIAEYE
- Mainland China —HhEAM - - 2,305
— Completed industrial property —-BERIIEDE
— Mainland China —HE R - - 17,550
- Completed commercial properties ~ —B 5 LREDE
- Hong Kong —&BE - - 74,300
— Under development commercial —BRPEENE
property — Mainland China — B A - - 65,705
- - 159,860

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the Year. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value
hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group's investment properties were revalued
as at 31 December 2021 by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer. At the end of each reporting
period, the directors update their assessment
of the fair value of each property, taking into
account the most recent independent valuations.
The directors determine a property’s value within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. The
Group management has discussion with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements
Unobservable input
Valuation techniques  and range
Investment properties - Direct comparison  Discount on quality of
Residential - Mainland approach  the building of 9%
China (2020: discount of 6%)
Investrment properties - Direct comparison  Premium on quality of
Industrial - Mainland approach  the building of 5%
China (2020: premium of 20%)
Investment properties - Direct comparison  Discount on quality of
Commercial - Hong Kong approach  the building ranged
from 0% to 5%
(2020: discount of 0% to
7%)

Investment property - under Residual approach  Gross development value
development - Mainland per s.m. of RMBY, 150
China (2020: RMBY, 150)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques
during the year.

20 BREWE (F)
(b) MEZAARETE (&)
(i) BEERANDAABHESER
FTEE

fhERE BARBREE

REE- ERILEE BTERNR

frz (2020% : 5336% )
~RER,

RENE- ERIEE BFESHE
I% (20205 : 5 (B20% )
-FER

RENE- ERNEE: BFEEHR
A% NF0%E5%
-%A (2020 : B30%

Z7%)

Y ES HBEEE STHXEBEE
EEH AE 91507 (20205 :
~RER ARH91507T)

RARFEER  (GETELETHE
o
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rRE I RR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(ii)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

For the completed investment properties, their
fair values are generally derived using the direct
comparison approach, which basically uses the
comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market to derive the fair value of the
properties. Where such information is not available
the directors consider information from a variety of
sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature or recent prices
of similar properties in less active markets,
adjusted to reflect those differences;

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows; or

(i) capitalised income projections based upon a
property’s estimated net market income, and
a capitalisation rate derived from an analysis
of market evidence.

For the investment property under development,
its fair value is derived using the residual approach.
This valuation method is essentially a means of
valuing the land by reference to its development
potential by deducting development costs, land
premium, together with developer’s profit and risk
from the estimated capital value of the proposed
development assuming completed as at the date
of valuation.
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20 ®BREWE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE SRR
20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 BREWE (F)
(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties (b) MEZDAALEFE (B)

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BRASFEIEABAABITEZER
measurements (Continued) (&)
The movements during the year in the balance FABIMRANANBEH B EHRET)
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as T
follows:

Investment properties

REMHE

Mainland

Hong Kong China

BE R 3t

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FTHET
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 418 74,300 85,560 159,860

Gain on fair value adjustment RAEHAEL

(Note 7(c)) Wezs (MEE7(0)) 800 345 1,145
Exchange realignment R RREE=S - 2,521 2,521
At 31 December 2021 72021128316 75,100 88,426 163,526

Investment properties

REMZE
Mainland

Hong Kong China Total

BB R B AT st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET

At 1 January 2020 720201 7418 78,200 80,056 158,256
(Loss)/gain on fair value adjustment ~ AR{EAEZ

(Note 7(c)) (B18) M

(B15E7(c)) (3,900) 336 (3,564)

Exchange realignment (IR - 5,168 5,168

At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 74,300 85,560 159,860
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rRE IR M

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair Value Measurement of Properties
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “other net (loss)/gain”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

All the (loss)/gain recognised in profit or loss for
the year arise from the properties held at the end
of the reporting period.

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of one to two years, with an option
to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

20 REW*E (&)
(b) MEZ2DAAEE (&)

(i) FEASRBIQAABTEZESR
(%)
REMEZ AREABREAERR
[Efh (BE), W FHEI B AR

27
e

R|ERR MBEAFEAREME
Ehrz (BR) MRERIEEAER -

AEBERBEEHOLEREDE-
ZEMERRNS RN —EMEF U
ARZAREEEHES ERAEHN
EEmBGR-GEEERETEME
BRI

M20214F12 4318 » REERE A
BUsE BN 2 BRARSERS2
BN

2021 2020

20215 2020%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Within 1 year 15 A 657 695
After 1 year but within 5 years B8 1FER5FA 643 -
1,300 695
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A PBRRMEE

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21 BRAARERERANIEZSREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

Non-current investments FEENERIR &
Equity securities f& A 35 % 21,404 17,466
Insurance policy investments R E 16,305 15,615
37,709 33,081

Current investments BANERE &

Equity securities N 14 14

o

Information about the fair value measurement of the ERNERBERNIEZEREEZ ASLER
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is included = AR & BRI FE38(f) ©
in Note 38(f).
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rRE IR M

22 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2021, net of
accumulated amortisation

Amortisation provided during the

year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021, net of

accumulated amortisation

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2020, net of
accumulated amortisation

Amortisation provided during the

year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2020, net of

accumulated amortisation

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

R2021F1 818 >
bR 2T
F R

B 3 FE B

A2021F12A8318

ORR R AT 55

DN
Rt

RREFE

20201 A18 »
HBR RETEEGH
FNEHERE

I3

P 3 F

#2020%12 8318 -

ORR R AT 5H

DN
RETHH

RREFE

22 BREEE

Computer Brand
software Name Goodwill Total
BBt mEER mE et
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FET F&T TFHET
- 1,365 3 1,368
- (250) - (250)
- 25 - 25
- 1,140 3 1,143
3,885 2,483 3 6,371
(3.885) (1,343) - (5,228)
- 1,140 3 1,143
- 1,518 3 1,521
- (237) - (237)
- 84 - 84
- 1,365 3 1,368
3,885 2,483 3 6,371
(3,885) (1,118) - (5,003)
- 1,365 3 1,368

Amortisation of HK$250,000 (2020: HK$237,000) is included
in the “administrative expenses” of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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A PBRRMEE

23 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Accord Advance Limited

hERRAR ¢

Dongguan Luminous Town Electric
Co, Ltd.¥
REBHETERAA

Dongguan Manixon New Materials and
Components Company Limited *

RENEHFHHTHERAE

Forward Electronics (Dongguan)
Company Limited
BERET (RR)ARLA

Foshan Rifeng Electronic Co., Ltd.
BLALEFERAF

Fu Tak (Qingyuan) Electronic Foil
Company Limited *
EE(BR)ETREERAH

High Merit Group Limited

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
A/
EfREEHE
British Virgin Islands
RBRUES

Mainland China
BRI

Mainland China
REIA

Mainland China
HER

Mainland China
HER

Mainland China
HEIA

British Virgin Islands
RBRNAES

23 MEAF
EEMBATERMT

Nominal value

of issued and Percentage of

paid-up/ equity attributable

registered to the Company
capital RAREEREEAL
BRIRARKRA 2020
HE/ZREx 2020E

Ordinary US$10 100 100
LRRI0ET

Registered 74.86 74.36
HK$11,550,000

HMER

11,550,000/ 7

Registered 100 100
1S$9,590,000

HHER

9,590,000% T

Registered 100 100
RMB5,000,000

HMER

AR 5,000,000

Registered 100 100
US$1,000,000

Hf &R

1,000,000

Registered 100 100
RMB11,000,000

AMEA

ARH11,000,0007

Ordinary US$1 100 100
LERIET

Principal activities

IRER

Investment holding

REER

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEE Tl

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEET IR

Manufacture and

sale of electronic
components
HERBES Tl

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERBEET LN

Manufacture and
sale of electronic
components

RERHEE Tl

Investment holding
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rRE IR M

23 MEBAT (&)
FEMBATNERT : (&)

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
HMAL/
AR EEHE

Nominal value
of issued and Percentage of
paid-up/ equity attributable

registered to the Company

capital ARAEERABAL

BERTRAERA 2020
A/ ERER 2020

Principal activities

IERE

Jiangxi Telexon Electronics Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited * ME R RMBA40,000,000 sale of electronic
IRELEEFERAA HHER components
AR #40,000,0007 HEREERT M
Johnstone International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Investment holding
WaEEERARAR EBRNES LEREL RERR
Kunshan Hongzheng Electric Co., Ltd. * Mainland China Registered 74.86 7486 Manufacture,
EILEESTERAR PE R 585,300,000 processing and sale of
HMER electronic components
5,300,000% T BE MIRHEE
Bk
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. Taiwan Registered 74.86 7486 Investment holding
BHETRNERAF Rig TWW$668,308,610 RERR
HMER
£7%668,308,6107C
Man Fat International Trading (Shanghai) Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * PE R U5$200,000 components
ELERES (LE)ARAA &R EEE il
200,000% T
Man Jin Electronics (Shenzhen) Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * ME R HK$3,500,000 components
EEET(RINERAR HfExR BEETIH
3,500,000 1T
Man Yue (China) Investment Limited * Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
B (E)REBRAT hERH, US$30,000,000 REZR
HMER
30,000,000% 7
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A PBRRMEE

23 MEBAT (&)
FEMBATNERIT : (&)

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
i/
ZMREEHE

Nominal value
of issued and Percentage of
paid-up/ equity attributable

registered to the Company

capital ARAEERABAL

ERTRAZRA 2020
AfE/ZRER 2020

Principal activities

IERE

Man Yue Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2, 100 100 Trading of electronic
EREFBERAA Bk Non-voting deferred components
HK$3,000,000 BES M
LakE
ERZEETR
3,000,000/ ¢
Man Yue Holdings (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
EBRUES L3MR10,000%T RERR
Man Yue Technology (China) Ltd Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
EARS (FE)BRAT ERL US$48,000,000 REZR
AMEA
48,000,000% 7
Man Yue Technology Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~~ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
BRRRARAR Hong Kong LRRI0ET RERR
ERRLEE/BA
Manixon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EFEETERAR Bk LERIET components
BEE Tl
MLPC Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 100 Trading of electronic
BEEAETHERAT % L@RI00%T components
EEE Tl
MMS Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of Electronic
EREFBERAA b LaRIET components
EEETIh
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eI ERaR M
23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 HWEAT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARERNT : ()
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ALARGRAE A
HMRL/ BRTRARRE 2020 Principal activities
AREEELE HE/EhEx 20005 FBEE
MMS Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Trading of electronic
A LB 10,0008 components
BEETIH
Rifeng Qingyuan Electronic Co., Ltd. Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale
RE(BR)ETARAR mE AL HK$80,000,000 of raw materials
HMER HERHERIH
80,000,000% 7T
Rihong (Yaan) Electronics Co., Ltd.* 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale
A (BR)EFRRAR REIR US$23,000,000 of raw materials
HMER HEREERIH
23,000,000
Samxon Electronic Components Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of electronic
—RETEHERAA Bk LERET components
BEEETTIH
Samxon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
EN=FEF (RR)BERAF mER US$96,775,000 sale of electronic
HHER components
96,775,000% 7 HERBEEF LA
Searange Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of equity
BERABRAR 26 LERET investments
Splendid Skill Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
ZBRUAES LaEk0ET RERR
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FE BRI
23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 MEAT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBARIERNT : (&)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ paid-up/ equity attributable
registration and registered to the Company
operations capital ALARGRAE A
FRRL/ BRARMERE 2021 2020 Principal activities
AMREELE HE/ERER 2015 005 TEER
Stand New Enterprise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
URRFARAT &R LRERIEL REBR
Starzeon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
BEREFBRAF b LRaRIET components
EEE il
Starzeon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. * 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
EERET(RR)EBAF mER US$15,000,000 sale of electronic
HExR components
15,000,000% T HERBEET Ll
TradeUNIT Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 100 100 Trading of raw materials
HEZBRAT" Hong Kong HK$9,500,000 EERMH

RERAHE/BE  LBKR9500,0005 T

Walters Electronics (Dongguan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited HEIR RMBS5,000,000 sale of electronic
EETET (RR)ERAA HHER components
ARE5,000,0007C HERHEES Tl
Walters Electronics (Qingyuan) 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited FEIA 1S$30,000,000 sale of electronic
EETET (FR)BERATA HMER components
30,000,000% T RERHES M
Wuxi Man Yue Electronics Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
Company Limited BRI US§51,000,000 sale of electronic
EHERETERAT HMER components
51,000,000% T RERHES M
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23 MEBAT (&)
FEMBATNERT : (&)

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

Nominal value
Place of of issued and
incorporation/ paid-up/
registration and registered
operations
HMAL/
ZfREEHE

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

capital ARAEERABAL

BERTRAERA 2020
A/ ERER 2020

Principal activities

IERE

X-CON Electronics Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
X-CONETHEB AT Hong Kong LRI components
EBRUBE/BH EEEFht
Yuk Wah Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$80,000 100 100 Investment holding
FETFERLA Bk £ B0%80,000% T REER
TR ER A Mainland China Registered 75 75 Manufacture and sale
HER RMB10,000,000 of chemical material
HtExR HEREELEMH
AR 10,000,000
BEREETARAR Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and
ME R RMB2,500,000 sale of electronic
HHER components
AR 82,500,000 BERBES Tl
Notes: FisE:
1. The subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned 1. ULEWE AT RER B A AR AN

enterprises under the laws of Mainland China.

2. Shares held directly by the Company.

# The company name in Chinese is a direct translation of the #

registered English name for the purpose of identification.

* The company name in English is a direct translation of the

*

registered Chinese name for the purpose of identification.
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A PBRRMEE

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 HEAT (&)
All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability RARFIENB AR ABEREERA -
companies.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, ERANEARFIM BRI N EERATEFE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results AEEXFEIRKAEEEEFEEZLD 2
for the Year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets ME AT

of the Group.

The following table lists out the information relating to TREINBEAREEE G EARIFERRR
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. (“Luminous Town"), the s (R REER]) 2 B AR E T
only subsidiary of the Group which has a material non- BN BERAT (MBI ) 2 &R T 25 2 8
controlling interest (“NCI”). The summarised financial BERBEREM AR EEEAIEE-

information presented below represents the amounts before
any inter-company elimination.

2021

20215

HK$ 000

FExT
NCI percentage FEERBRRERA D 25.1% 25.1%
Current assets mENE E 228,987 250,265
Non-current assets EMBEE 68,228 69,459
Current liabilities mEBAE 137,705 150,685
Non-current liabilities ERBELE 21,340 24,353
Net assets BEERE 138,170 144,686
Carrying amount of NCI FEIERR IR R R AR 34,736 36,374
Revenue WA 317,197 252,649
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B18) %7 (9,917) 8,010
Total comprehensive income 2HEIN AL (9,220) 9,209

(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI PETFIEEBRREER 2

(&B#8), &7 (2,493) 2,013
Cash flows from operating activities KEXGB L ReRE 7,885 15
Cash flows from investing activities KREETHZHERE (4,091) (13,545)
Cash flows from financing activities REEH ReRE 16,416 29,337
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Re IR MR
24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 24 REELEZRE
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Share of net assets IR EEFE 220,611 194,142
Loans to a joint venture HLT—RHEELEZER 170,184 152,358
Due from joint ventures R A& &2 7 I8 30,678 20,580
Due to joint ventures BT A& I8 (76,256) (56,619)

The loans to a joint venture, amounts due from and due to LT HEeErEZENR BRRENEEDE

joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on ZHBVERR 2 BARERNERSER

demand or per trading credit terms except: B - M

(@) Loans amounting to HK$141,365,000 (2020: (@) A #141,365,000%8 7T (20204 -
HK$123,539,000) are interest-bearing at a rate of 123,539,000/ 7T, ) 2 & 3% & 7 %4.90/2
4.90% (2020: 4.90%) per annum. (2020%F : 4902 )5t B »

(b) Included in amounts due to joint ventures are by ENEELEZRERAEEMELD
trade payables to joint ventures amounting to % 7 JE - BR 5/30,039,0007% 7T (2020 :
HK$30,039,000 (2020: HK$20,876,000). 20,876,000 7T ) °

Particulars of the joint ventures, all of which are held 2 ERMBRAAIMEFECAELEER

indirectly through subsidiaries, are as follows: U

Place of
Particulars of incorporation/ Percentage f:f
issued shares/ registration MIRBRZES Y
registered capital and operations Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
BETRE/ SRR/ interest power sharing  activities
EMERZF#E TRREERY  EkES FE  EBEER FEER
Ever Reliance Industrial Ordinary HK$100 Hong Kong 43 50 48 Investment holding
Investments Limited LERI00ET BB RERR
("Ever Reliance")
REIERAFARLA
(I&fE])
Nan Tong Xin Cheng Registered HK$25,080,000  Mainland China 49 33 49 Manufacture and sale of
Electronics Company Ltd. raw materials
HBNAETERAA FAA25080,0008L  RERM BERHERMH
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A PBRRMEE

24 REELERZERE (K)
ATRIIEBAELEREZHBANEE K
SV IN

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Set out below are the summarised financial information of a
material joint venture, Ever Reliance, which is accounted for

using the equity method.

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Summarised statement of MERRRPE
financial position
Non-current assets EMBEE 580,357 540,374
Current assets (excluding cash and REEE (TEREREE R
cash equivalents) BEEEY) 9,448 4,817
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBELFED 553 638
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade  RENE R B & (T EIEER
and other payables and provisions) AR 3R % HL At FE A SR8
LA R 8 45) (101,459) (93,033)
Other current liabilities (including trade HEtnsaE (eEEn
and other payables and provisions) BR 3 N E At FE A 5RTE
AR B85 ) (18,275) (24,043)
Non-current financial liabilities EREemAE (30,600) (30,600)
Other non-current liabilities HEM3EmsaE (72,536) (63,739)
Net assets BEESE 367,488 334,464

2020
2020%F
HK$'000
FHTT

Summarised statement of profit or loss BEHERHEMEEKRARBE

and other comprehensive income

Revenue WA 13,753 12,855
Other gains H ez 23,699 38,907
Interest income A B U A - 3
Interest expense FEX H (5,596) (4,982)
Income tax FTig#i (6,242) (9,926)
Profit for the year K E ) 7 21,038 30,664
Other comprehensive income Eh2mA 11,987 23,694
Total comprehensive income ETE N 33,025 54,358
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24 NE¥ X2 RE (&)

Reconciled to the Group’s Interest in Ever Reliance HAKBERREZER ZHE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Gross amounts of Ever Reliance’s REEEFELSE
net assets 367,488 334,464
Group's effective interest AEEZER#ER 48% 48%
Group's share of Ever Reliance’s net rEBREGERECEESE
assets and carrying amount in the PSSR NIp
consolidated financial statements BRmEE 176,394 160,543
The following table sets out the summarised financial TREFIAEEREGERE (TERERRB)®
information of the Group’s shared proportion of joint BINEIEE R ER 2 BRI ZE -
ventures excluding Ever Reliance, that are not individually
material:
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Profit/(loss) for the year REREF, (EE) 9,496 (1,204)
Other comprehensive income Eh2mA 1,498 2,039
Total comprehensive income THEWBALE 10,994 835
25 INVENTORIES 25 78
(a) Inventory in the Consolidated Statement of () FEMBRRERZEERSE:

Financial Position Comprise:

2021
20214
HK$'000
FTHER
Raw materials R 295,966 234,412
Work in progress R m 146,419 133,765
Finished goods SIRK o 344,275 309,083
786,660 677,260

216 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#RHE EEER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR
25 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 25 FE (&)
(b) The Analysis of the Amount of Inventories (b) BRAMZBFGFAEBRE2FESHE
Recognised as an Expense and Included in AWM

Profit or Loss is as Follows:

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEHETEZEREE 1,716,861 1,314,316

Write-down of inventories T E MR 18,332 14,145
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 & #fi 5 B [@ (1,418) (739)

Cost of sales 4 AR 1,733,775 1,327,722
The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior BRBTFE 2 FEMRERRNRAER

years arose due to the disposal, usage and sales of these NEE FARMNEZEEFER

electronics goods in the current year.

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 26 EWERFUREANRE HE&RHA
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AL EE]

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables JFE UK BR 3k 818,072 801,307
Loss allowance B 1B AR (42,197) (39,740)
775,875 761,567

Prepayments, deposits and BRRIE -E2R
other receivables H b B W GRIE 139,431 118,524
915,306 880,091
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26 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 26 EWERFUKREMRE ZEkHEM

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

All of trade and other receivables are expected to recovered
within one year.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally
90 days, extending up to 150 days for major customers.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control department to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Credit risk was hedged mainly through credit insurance
policies. Where the Group has the benefit of credit
insurance, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain if a claim
was to be made. As at the end of the reporting period
HK$3,420,000 (2020: HK$2,386,000) is included within
“prepayments, deposits and other receivables” in current
assets in respect of such expected reimbursements.

The Group categorises its trade receivables based on the
ageing. Future cash flow for each group of trade receivables
are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience,
adjusted to effects of current conditions of each customer
as well as forward looking information. For trade receivables
relating to accounts which are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies, they are assessed individually
for impairment.
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FE BRI

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 26 EWCRFRURBAMRIE ZERHM
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FEW R (&)
(CONTINUED)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the REESR RERBHERIREEEER
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss MR ARE DT AT

allowance, is as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

1 -3 months 12318 A 642,450 614,583
4 - 6 months 45618 A 125,266 129,666
7 — 12 months 721218 A 3,923 11,733
Over 1 year @1 4,236 5,585
775,875 761,567
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27 RERREEEY
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents Comprise: () BEeRESEEWERE:
2021 2020
2021%F 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHEER 215,732 258,834
Time deposits within 3 months M TF AR B B3 A 72318 A
to maturity when placed AR 2 & BATE 3R - 4,652
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRESEEY 215,732 263,486
Cash at banks earns interest at floating bank deposit RITIR SIZ BRI TR EERIFE - &8
rates. Short term time deposits range from one day HEBMERRFREE 2 NFRESFR
to three months depending on the immediate cash EUNT—RE=EA ZHREEL WiZ
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the 1R 2 52 BE B R R R A B o IR
respective short term time deposit rates. The cash and FRITRESFRINERZNOTHEEER
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks o ZHRTT e

with no recent history of default.

As at the end of the reporting date, the amount of RHREHR UAREGFEzZR e KR
cash and cash equivalents denominated in Renminbi & £ 1E Y 591,206,000/ 7T (20204 ¢
("RMB") was HK$91,206,000 (2020: HK$121,366,000). 121,366,000/%87C) - AR BERLEA
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, HA B’ o A1 - ARIE (P EARLFIEI SN
however, under the Regulations of the People’s Republic FEEIRIEG]) - AEBEE S BEREIRT
of China on the Management of Foreign Exchange, HITINEXER LUEARBHERBEME
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other "o

currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign
exchange business.
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 27 H&RRESZEY (&)

(b) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from

Financing Activities:

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash
flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

(b) METBHELECEBZHER:

TRALAEERELDES 2 AERS):
BREASLIFRSEY RETDELZA
BIEASREECK (XRKRERELS)
BOBREAEBEGAHSRERIERBE
HEMEREREZARE

At 1 January 2021 202151818

Changes from financing cash flows: BWEREREZE:

Proceeds from new bank and MERTREMEER
other borrowings FTi8 3R
Repayment of bank and EBEHFITR
other borrowings Hibf5&E

Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ EFNHEH S 2 EAXLD
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ ENHAEME 2 FIEHD
Interest paid ERFLE

Total changes from REREREZHAE

financing cash flows

Exchange adjustments E XA

Other changes: Hitt g

Increase in lease liabilities from entering HARFT M A EFTE N2
into new leases during the period HE&E

Interest expenses (Note 11) RS (FrEE1)

Total other changes Hin @ 8aE

At 31 December 2021 ®2021F12A831A8

Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITR
Hitt & & HESRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 Total
THERT FTERT st
(Note 29) (Note 30) HK$'000
(Bit=E29) (B#=E£30) TET
1,024,517 76,532 1,101,049
2,713,901 - 2,713,901
(2,675,555) - (2,675,555)
- (22,285) (22,285)
- (3.104) (3.104)
(34,841) - (34,841)
3,505 (25,389) (21,884)
12,099 1,327 13,426
- 6,348 6,348
34,841 3,104 37,945
34,841 9,452 44,293
1,074,962 61,922 1,136,884
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27 RERREEEY (H)
(b) METBHELECEBZHER:

(%)

27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities: (Continued)

Interest Lease
rate swap Bank loans liabilities
F o d 53 RITER HEBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THT AT
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(FitzE29) GRED)
At 1 January 2020 202061818 245 975,677 83,949 1,059,871
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERELH:
Proceeds from new bank loans HERTERMEHE - 2,090,574 - 2,090,574
Repayment of bank loans BRFTER - (2,057,871 - (2,057,871)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEERS ZEREH - - (17,955) (17,955)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAERE ZFIEHS - - (3.627) (3,627)
Interest paid ERFIE - (36,113) - (36,113)
Payment for interest rate swaps XM= S (256) - - (256)
Total changes from RERSRELDLEE
financing cash flows ... (256) _______ (_3,_4_1 0) ______ (21 582) ______ (_2_5,_2_4_8) i
Change in fair value AREED 1 - - 1
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - 16,137 4,740 20,877
Other changes: Hit#5:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ HARZT ST EFTEM 2
into new leases during the period HEakE - - 2,723 2,723
Increase in lease liabilities BABITREREML
from modification of leases HEARE
during the period - - 3,075 3,075
Interest expenses (Note 11) FEZH (M) - 36,113 3,627 39,740
Total other changes Hi#ges - 36,113 9,425 45,538
At 31 December 2020 R2020512A31H - 1,024,517 76,532 1,101,049
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A PBRRMEE

27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 27 RERERELZEY (&)

(c) Total Cash Outflow for Leases (0 HERESRLAR
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases Henerk HEBENTSELRE:
comprise the following:

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Within operating cash flows KEBREREN 2,768 775
Within financing cash flows MERESTRENRN 25,389 21,582
28,157 22,357
These amounts relate to the following: ZECHEETISERRH:

2021 2020
20215 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THET

Lease rentals paid ENEERS 28,157 22,357
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Re IR MR
28 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER 28 EMNRRRER  HttEAFURRES
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND BEUREHNER
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Trade and bills payables ERERRER 305,683 346,126
Receipt in advance ! FEMFRIE 794 4,530
Salary and welfare payables &1 % & e AE 40,693 33,699
Value-added tax payable FETIE AR 31,929 16,742
Contract liabilities 2 BHBEE? 10,620 8,265
Other payables and accrual H B A 5018 K JE T FRIE 73,438 66,176
463,157 475,538

Notes: P &E

1. The receipt in advance is not related to contracts that create 1. TERFBRAEEREP 2 MEETRITET
enforceable rights and obligations between the Group and the MEBHALER-
customers.

2. One of the customers is entitled to volume discounts based on 2. HAP—ZxpPAR=AR2EADBeHERE
aggregate sales over a 12-month period. Revenue from sales FIEZBEFRI -MZERPIELNHEEEEZIR
to this customer is recognised based on the price specified in ARG RFTRER R MG 2 MR- 251K
the contract net of estimated volume discounts. Accumulated SRR ET T R AT E R B - A ER
experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts HIREARL 2 e HENER - AEEERE
and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly HREFHHEZRRABERENES 2BH
probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund A EFH T AR

liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable
to the customer in relation to sales made until the end of the
reporting period.
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28 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER 28
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Movements in Contract Liabilities

RRRF R RS - H R KA R B
BEURENEE (F)

BHEEED

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balance at 1 January M AT Z &8 8,265 5,683
Increase in contract liabilities as a result A & < FB HR 4t 2 T F0 8 N
of increase in expected volume Bz & 8aEEm
discounts payable 2,197 7,587
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result FAMSETINAMB
of utilisation of volume discounts aRBERD - (5,393)
Exchange realignment M H P 158 388
Balance at 31 December M12 8318 2 &8 10,620 8,265

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on
demand.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

Trade payables: JERTRR R -
-1 -3 months —1Z3fE A
—4 - 6 months —A4Z6fE A
-7 - 12 months —7=1218 A
— Qver 1 year —HBB1F
Bills payables BN RE

PR A IR AR I E T SRR TR B R —F
BERERRBARIRBEREE-

REERR RERAHFE 2 BAERERE
BRERDMTAOT :

2020
20204

HK$'000
TR

260,883 258,300
25,399 57,540
4,831 12,430
5,306 12,570
296,419 340,840
9,264 5,286
305,683 346,126
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29 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 29 BITREMEE

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx T

Bank and other borrowings, unsecured,
with repayable on demand clause,

ARATHREENRA
BEREREGRZ

repayable: BRI REMBES
— Within one year —1FER 1,061,385 972,145
— In the second year —E2FR 12,077 32,439
— In the third to fifth years, inclusive — 3= F5F
(BHEERMF) 1,500 19,933
1,074,962 1,024,517
Portion classified as current liabilities SREARDAERDY (1,074,962) (1,024,517)

Non-current portion MBS D

As at 31 December 2021, unsecured bank and other
borrowings of the Group denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, United States dollar and other currencies
amounted to HK$554,031,000 (2020: HK$408,738,000),
HK$153,712,000 (2020: HK$316,888,000) and
HK$367,219,000 (2020: HK$298,891,000) respectively. All
bank and other borrowings are interest-bearing and are
repayable by instalments up to 2025. The carrying amounts
of the Group's bank loans approximate their fair values.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited is required, to comply
with certain restrictive financial covenants, including, inter
alia, interest coverage ratio, net debt to EBITDA ratio and
finance charge to EBITDA ratio. As at 31 December 2021,
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group breached two covenant
requirements in certain bank loans of HK$372,041,000
from two banks. The Group obtained waiver letter issued
by the banks before the end of the reporting period for
one-off waiver from strict compliance with the covenant
requirements.
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FE BRI
30 LEASE LIABILITIES 30 HEAE
At 31 December 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable as 72021412 A318 - HE A BEN T HREE
follows: &
2021 2020
2021F 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TATT
Within 1 year 1A 23081 20,320
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBE2FR 21,062 20,228
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F R BSFE R 11,118 25,868
After 5 years 54 1% 6,661 10,116
I o 26,212
61,922 76,532

Annual Report 2021 &3 227



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rRE IR M

31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 HZREMBERREKRZFAEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the Consolidated (a) ZREMBRRK ZENABELE !
Statement of Financial Position Represents:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits REEBBNEHEE
Tax for the year 2,633 1,515
Provisional Profits Tax paid B EHFEH (2,897) (55)
(264) 1,460
Balance of Profits Tax WMEF-—FEH@2
payable/ (recoverable) relating FSFERN,
to prior year (AT Uk [a]) £4 %8 1,260 (1,526)
Overseas tax recoverable A YG B g IR T8 = (885)
Overseas tax payable FET/BHNIE 19,019 12,249
20,015 11,298
Representing: A
Tax recoverable AT 4 [B1 7 T8 - (2,440)
Tax payable eI AR IE 20,015 13,738
20,015 11,298

228 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#ARHEEER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 GREMBRRRZFAEH (&)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Movements of Each Component of Deferred (b) FEEBEEEREGBART S 2
Tax Assets and Liabilities 28
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities REEZEEHRBEERBEZSNOT
during the Year were as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Provisions
for trade
receivables
and

write-
down for
inventories
[
BER
FEMH
HK$'000
T

EEREEE

Tax losses
available for
offsetting
against
{0
taxable
profits

] R A E 8
A2 BE

Others Total
BR Hith @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAL

At 1 January 2020 202091716 5,363 3,054 5,266 13,683
Credited/(charged) to profit or FRRBRIA/ (NR)

loss during the year (Note 15) (PzE15) 2,419 (2,577) 1,923 1,765
Charged to reserve during FRREENR (F515)

the year (Note 15) - - (276) (276)
Exchange realignment LS 86 - 356 442
At 31 December 2020 and 12020612318 &

1 January 2021 202151 81H 7,868 471 1,269 15,614
Credited/(charged) to profit or ERPREZA GIR)

loss during the year (Note 15) (Mi3215) 1676 - 185 1,861
Charged to reserve during FARGEENR (FzH15)

the year (Note 15) - - (1,616) (1,616)
Exchange realignment ER#E 25 - (157) (132)
At 31 December 2021 20215124310 9,569 477 5,681 15,727
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 GZEMBRRRZFIBH (&)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Movements of Each Component of Deferred
Tax Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

EEBRAE

(b) BEEHBEEREEARBD 2
25 (&)

Depreciation
allowance
in excess
of related
Revaluation of  depreciation
properties  HETEZ Others Total
EfiNE BERERE Hits @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FHT TAT TET
At 1 January 2020 1202051718 45,765 1,124 312 47,201
Charged to profit or loss FRRERENG (F515)
during the year (Note 15) 84 - - 84
Credited to reserve during ERREERA (Fi5E15)
the year (Note 15) (299) - - (299)
Exchange realignment EHAE 2,803 - 20 2823
At 31 December 2020 and 20206124318
1 January 2021 2021F1A1H 43,353 1,124 332 49,809
Charged to profit or loss FAREENG (Fi:H15)
during the year (Note 15) 185 - - 185
Credited to reserve during FRRGEEFTA (FF15)
the year (Note 15) (619) - - (619)
Exchange realignment B AR 904 - 3 907
At 31 December 2021 2021F12 A31H 48,823 1,124 335 50,282
(c) Reconciliation to the Consolidated Statement () REMBRREERZHIER

of Financial Position

2020
20204

HK$'000
TATT

KRG BN R WHER

Net deferred tax assets recognised

in the consolidated statement of FEIEF IR & EEFE
financial position 15,727 15,283
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised iR a B &R AR
in the consolidated statement of BIERIAA EFE
financial position (50,282) (49,478)
(34,555) (34,195)
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31

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Deferred Tax Assets Not Recognised

The Group had unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$88,113,000 (2020: HK$74,908,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. The Group also had unrecognised
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Taiwan of
HK$86,369,000 (2020: HK$86,191,000) that will
expire in one to ten years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. The Group has cumulative tax losses
not recognised amounting to HK$174,482,000 (2020:
HK$161,099,000). Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised amounting to HK$37,920,000 (2020:
HK$33,116,000) in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Deferred Tax Liabilities Not Recognised
Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate ranges from 5% to 10%.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$424,658,000 (2020: HK$313,240,000). The
corresponding deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised, given that the Company is able to
control the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it is probable that these retained profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

31

mEMBRRRZAEH (&)

(d)

(e)

ABRRAZELEHEEE

AEEBBERREBZAERBIEEIE
88,113,000 7T (20204F : 74,908,0008
JU) - AR AR LRI IREE s A2
R JE R F o AN B IR A RN B A
[ & 2 AR HE SR 75 185 1886,369,00078
7T (20204F : 86,191,000/87C) * A —Z=+
FAER - AT AR S R SR FEER A F) o AN
SEEB AR R E18174,482,0007%
7C (20204F : 161,099,000/ T) - AR % &
BETHEA —BRERRMREEEZW
BARIESBBERV N ARENZ
EMBEBZATREERK BT ARZE
EERER 2 RAERI IR & FE /537,920,000 7T
(2020%F : 33,116,000/ 7T ) °

ABRZELEHEERE
BIE(PEARLMBECERERE) -
R B AL 2 INE B ERIRIMNEEE
TR 2 EBEKI0% 2 FENF - ZBER
TE 520081 A1 H #8430 #E B 1K2007F
1ANANEBES 2 BF W B R 8
HNEIR EEFRB R AR R 2 Ml BB %1H
i RIATRBRTE R R T - AR E T
S EAMEN T5%E10% 72021412
A318 - NEEME A RZ AN IREF4 A
424,658,000 77T (2020%F : 313,240,000/5
TL) c ER AN BRI HIZ EM B AR Z %
BEBZERE &M R AR AT ge T
Nk WU REREHELEHRBAE-
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32 DEFERRED INCOME 32 REWA
The deferred income amounting to HK$9,990,000 (2020: 9,990,000/ 7T (20204F : 10,018,000/ 7T ) 2 i
HK$10,018,000) of non-cash subsidies in relation to parcels BRABEHZE LI IERSRE) IS
of land located in Wuxi was granted by the Jiangsu Province B EREEEEZ B EN2004FFH BT
Xishan Economic Development Management Committee ZEMB 2 7 AR E AU — 'R
in 2004. The subsidy was in the form of a reduction of the PRI AR 2t s 2 (B - BB D
consideration for the acquisition of a parcel of land in Wuxi, ARZERIETEER-

Mainland China, paid by the Group. The purpose of the
subsidies is for industrial development in these areas.

33 SHARE CAPITAL 33 KA
Ordinary Shares EER
2020
20204
HK$'000
AT
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE:
475,547,534 (2020: 475,547,534) 475,547,5340% (20204 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 475,547,5340% ) &%
EE0.108 T 2 @k 47,555 47,555
A summary of the transactions involving the Company'’s BRANRRAZZSBMBLT

share capital is as follows:

Share
Number Issued premium
of shares capital account Total

inissue CETRAR RHESER “st
[=%:Eh) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R EE TR FTHET FAER

At 1 January 2020, M202051 A18
31 December 2020, 2020%128318 -
1 January 2021 and 20211 H1R R
31 December 2021 2021 12A31H 475,547,534 47,555 165,458 213,013
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34

BA SRR BT RE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 26 May 2006, the Company adopted the Share Option
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible persons, including employees, directors and other
persons as specified under the scheme document, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations and the
same was revised on 27 May 2010.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 26 May 2006
and will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The life
of such Share Option Scheme was expired on 25 May 2016.
Subject to the exercise period, all options (to the extent not
already exercised) granted prior to the expiry of the Share
Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of the shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of issued shares
from time to time provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares on 26 May
2006.

Each grant of the share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, under the Share Option Scheme must
comply with the requirements of rule 17.04 of the Listing
Rules and must be subject to approval of the independent
non-executive directors to whom share options have not
been granted. In addition, any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all share options already granted and to be
granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue and with
an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000, is subject to
prior approval from shareholders in a general meeting.

34 BRAESHE

200657826 H AN A BB 40 — TE BE AR A AT
3 BEEMEAEE RIS EEHEBIZEE
AL (BEEXHFIAZES EFKA
fto A ) BR A 52 ED KR B3R - sz AT EIE 7A20104F
SA27HERER]

BERR#E 5T 317420065 A 26 B FA A I A #Z B
HEET 10 BRI AR A - SZ BB AT EI F HRE 702016
F5A25AE M o IRIRTTIEER - R ARAERT B2 M
AT E BB M ARITE 2 2 ERENAB R I
AR IR I AR AE T B 2 R T LATT(E

A T8 AR 5 BE AR R T 81 M AR 2 Rl b BB AR
RERT R BB RITE 2 FT B W AR TE B
AFHITZBROHEE  ARRSTEEBBTRE
BT 4B E 2 30% R TE R IR IE A E A+ 2]
RARREMEAERETZBE L ZMEE
REAE T ] 397 2 BRAD 4B 8 & HT5HRB2006F
SA26HEBITRMBE210% °

RIEBRET ST ARAARFTES  FoTHRA
B FERFHRFEFT 2 AMHME AR DERER
FEEMRBIE17.045 2 T AL KRERE
[ 2 B IEITE BRI - BIN AR AR F
FERERBIIEATEST RS 2 EMBHE
ABRLERE BEREEZRE A (B1EZ
H)128 AR AT EZ A TEER RGER 2
FrEBREmME BT RS TEIT 2 RMDBAAR
BB 1T 2 £00.1% K A2 (B BB 155,000,000
PEIT AIZBESRFERIREAE EE k-
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34 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 34 BBRESTE (&)
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by BREZITEEREFET EMNMEERTI=
the Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) ERz&EEE (VAR RROEE  ()ARQFR
the nominal value of the Company's shares, (ii) the average MREEZFHENAMAIAERS ABIME
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the BRI 2 FHWRE - R iR A TG R
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading BREZHAS (VEAARSB)BIMEAR
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the BRAEZKME-

closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
share options, which must be a trading day.

The Group did not recognise any share option expense for PELZE20214F 22020412 A31 B IEM{EFE - &
both years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. No previous SEMERRT AERIER S - MEEFRERN
year expense was reversed in the Year for forfeited share REERERBBREEGRAERRAED -

option in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(a) The Following Share Options were (@) *FEBRETETRETREZ
Outstanding under the Share Option Scheme BRENT :
during the Year:

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price price
MELY IETH
THEE Number 1B Number
HK$ of options HK$ of options
Br  BREZE Bt BREZE
At 1 January »1A1R - - 2.262 1,710,000
Lapsed during the year FRRM - - 2.262 (1,710,000)
At 31 December B12A318 - - - -
All share options were lapsed on 14 September 2020. FA BRI B 7202059 148 2k ik -
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35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

The Group's subsidiary, Luminous Town, makes
contribution to defined benefit retirement plans. The
plans are administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with their assets held separately
from those of the Group. The trustees are required by
the Trust Deed to act in the best interest of the plan
participants and are responsible for setting investment
policies of the plans.

The plans are funded by contributions from the
Group in accordance with an independent actuary’s
recommendation based on annual actuarial valuations.
The latest independent actuarial valuations of the
plans were at 31 December 2018 and were prepared
by Greatfine Wealth Management Consulting Inc. As
at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group and the
related employees have mutually agreed to settle the
defined benefit retirement plans and was in progress
of arranging relevant administrative procedures and
applications.

The plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as
interest rate risk, investment risk and longevity risk.
Information about the plan is disclosed below:

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

35 EERMNKEF

(a)

Present value of wholly or 2EekE D B K
partly funded obligations 5EEzHE
Fair value of plan assets FEIEECANE

REBAMBRAKEEE

REEZ B R RER AR ERANERE
FHEIEH SR - MR BIRREAEE K
MoBEEBY HEERARBEZEE
DA - REBEFERE TEABUTA
AEZ2EARENEZAATTE AAR
AHlEZSAEZRERRK

ZEEBHAERMIB BB EE HR
ERRFEREHEREES - &SETElZ
OB BEMEZ HEA2018F12 A
318 HEBREEEERERNDERA A
4 B0 A20214F }2020% 12 A318 » A" &
EXiEERELRREEERTRBAERINK
CETE WIF P ERTT BRI o

SRS A EEEERERR  0FF
AR RERREESAR - K AIENE
HEBMT

(i) REEMERRRABRZESEN
T

2020
20204

HK$'000
THET

(2,139) (2,095)
2,901 2,841
762 746

The above liability is expected to be settled within
one year. The Group does not expect to pay any
contributions to defined benefit retirement plans in
2022.

B E ER R — RS AR BT
BARN2022F MR EFHRAS 8%
(R
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35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued)

(ii) Plan assets consist of the following:

Central Trust Fund held in
a Taiwan bank

35 EBERKEN (&)

(a) RAERAMBRMAKETE (&)

(i) FFBEEBR/UTRE:

2021
2021

2020
20204
HK$'000
T T

HK$’000
FEx

REERITHALZ
FREFEESR

2,901 2,841

(iii) Movements in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation

At 1 January B1ATE
Exchange realignment HE 5, 38 B
At 31 December M12H31H

(i) REBANEAREZLS

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT THT
2,095 1,969
44 126
2,139 2,095

The weighted average duration of the defined
benefit obligation is 1 year (2020: 1 year).
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35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 35 EERKER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plans (Continued) (a) REBREKESTHE (F)
(iv) Movements in plan assets (iv) FHrE8IEEZE5
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At 1 January M1A1R 2,841 2,670
Exchange realignment ME M S8 60 171
At 31 December M12A31H 2,901 2,841
(b) Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (b) EEMFCEARESTE
The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund REETFRBEEERGERES G ENED
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong BREAERBGIIZAZEEESENE
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for ABZAIIWRIMARERFBRARSFTEZ
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the EEZENHAFERBESFTE ([RESE
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously gl]) REERHEVBEUABEAEE L EHE
covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The HIPCRKE S - BiIRRERTE BER
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan HES= A ERES BB Z5%HETT
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF IR EBR AT A MR A30,000 7T ©
scheme, the employer and its employees are each HZA B HRBRRGEE -

required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

Subsidiaries in Mainland China participate in the defined PR B RARSERETER
contribution retirement schemes operated by the local ZREHFRIKETE % F5 2 Zﬁimﬁ/\\
authorities. Contributions to these schemes are charged EEZEEFE BRI -

to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when

incurred.
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36 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B KRB
- Plant and machinery — B Kt es
— Buildings —EF
- Land —

36 BAEIE

REENBREHREIATEARALE:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FAET
55,907 51,160
714 3,947
1,247 1,211
57,868 56,318

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ The Group had the following material transactions with
its joint ventures:

Purchases of raw materials ' EERERME
Lease rental payment 2 HEHS R
Interest income 3 (Note 12) FEHBA CKIFE12)

37 BEBARS

(@) AEHEEASOEAUTEARS:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
93,376 77,992
14,465 13,520
5,596 4,982

Notes:

1. The above purchases of raw materials were determined
on the basis agreed by both parties and were conducted
in the normal course of business.

2. The Group entered into a lease in respect of the factory
premises in Mainland China from a joint venture. The
amount of rental payable by the Group under the lease
is RMB1,000,330 per month, which was determined
with reference to mark-to-market yield. At 31 December
2021, the Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability of HK$27,039,000 and HK$28,089,000
respectively (31 December 2020: a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability of HK$38,241,000 and HK$40,008,000
respectively).

3. The interest was charged at a rate of 4.90% (2020:
4.90%) per annum.
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1. ERBEERME RTINS hE 2 EE
EE UNERXEBBEFAET

2. AEER-—EEECERTEANMZ TH
PR —BRAL - REZAL AEEH
SBEOHMEEEZENEEEEAAR
#1,000,3307C ° A20214F12 A3180 A&
EHRzERAREERBERES A
27,039,0007% JT }228,089,0007% 7T (2020
FNRANA:FEAREERTAEAEN R
#38,241,0007% 7T, }240,008,0007% 7T ) °

3. FBTYEEF490E (20205 1 4.90E) 2
BERHE -
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37

38

BA SRR BT RE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel is set
out in Notes 13 and 14 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The details of loans to a joint venture, amounts due
from and due to joint ventures are set out in Note 24 of
the consolidated financial statements.

None of the above related party transactions falls under
the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2021, Man Yue Holdings Inc. had
a 44.09% equity interest in the Company as the single
largest shareholder. The ultimate controlling party of
the Company is Ms. Kee Chor Lin, a director of the
Company, whose principal place of business is Unit 03,
6/F., Habour Centre Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group has certain financial instruments, including bank
loans and cash and short term deposits, of which main
purpose is to fund the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

37

38

LIRS (&)

FREBABZHMBRN RS WM
E13K14 -

(b)

© BEET-MAECEZER WURRE
(A& B0 52 OB 2 RGBT 5
R4 -

BB XM EBR EHARRE T
ABREZMBEXZRFERER S -

(d)

(e) #2021 12A31H Man Yue Holdings Inc.
1ERE — R AR A AR F44.09% A
B o RNRAZREERA RARAES
ERELT HXrEEEMBRBEBNE
AL ES AN ATSSR A /B R L — HRGIE03E -

MHRREERBRERBEK

AEEEETEZRIA(BRRITEFRANE
EREMER) EBRENDRAREZXBR
HE2 -AEEEZREMEBEENAR (I
FEYSRA N BN R RR) DERRNEBTE
Ko

KAAEEeRTAZ T E2RARAIINERR 7
ZR - RnBEERBEERERR EEgR
NI E BB EE R 2 BR - Wit T XXttt o
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (@) ShEEE B
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through REEFRZHERERREZRE AIMNE (B
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, B G BB REENREEUINZE
payables and cash balances that are denominated B EHE 2 58 RERBEFTEE & 2 FEUUR R -
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the ENERRREEHR - EEZER 2B
functional currency of the operations to which the FEAEL AREKHE-

transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States Dollar, Renminbi and
Japanese Yen.

Sensitivity analysis BRED

The following table indicates the instantaneous change TRIVR WA EERBERRAEEER
in the Group's profit before tax (and retained profits) [BLR 2 SNEEE Rz B B - BRER T A B At
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which [Eb B R REBERTADRN (&
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the RB&F) PIRL RIS E A 2 # &y o ghutt - K
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all SEBRABTHEET HMBERKIGT
other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, ETHEMEB 2 BESHERTE -

it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies.

Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) increase
in Japanese in profit
Yen rate before tax

AEE=XR Bt Al 5 7
ER(TR)  GRd) Em

% HK$'000
% T
2021 20214
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened i B AEEER T %
against Japanese Yen 5 (536)
If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened #3787t 3 B [ElfE & _+F+
against Japanese Yen (5) 536
2020 20204
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened i B AEEER T %
against Japanese Yen 5 (511)
If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened #3787t 3 B [ElfE & _+F+
against Japanese Yen (5) 511
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

2021 20215

38 BIEMREEEERBER (&)

(a) ShismEBz (&)
HRBED T ()

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in Renminbi in profit
rate before tax

ARBER BRBE A1 %
A (TH)  #m/ (BD)
% HK$'000

% FET

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fis B 7T A R R T pE

against Renminbi

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened {478 7T 3 A R¥EEFE R 7+

against Renminbi

2020 20204

If Hong Kong dollar had weakened fis 7T N R [ R T pE

against Renminbi

If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened {47870 3, A R FE R F+

against Renminbi

5 15
(5) (15)
5 903
(5) (903)
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign Currency Risk (Continued) (a) ¥ (%)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) HEREDN (E)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in United States in profit
dollar rate before tax

EXnER BR B A 25 R
LA (TFH) &M/ CRL)

% HK$'000
% FHET
2021 20214
If Renminbi had weakened against fig AR KRR TR
United States dollar 5 43,187
If Renminbi had strengthened against i A FR¥ 5, =T ER FF+
United States dollar (5) (43,187)
2020 20204
If Renminbi had weakened against fig AR KR TR TR
United States dollar 5 35,418
If Renminbi had strengthened against i A R¥ 3, =T ER FF+
United States dollar (5) (35,418)
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table EREVNZHMEREBEHAEEZEER
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects BRLEN RiEm (AF B 2 e EH%EHE)
on each of the Group entities’ profit before tax and Z AR BB BIERY] BIRREHR
equity measured in the respective functional currencies, ZERME KA TT o

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2020.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The Group defines “net borrowings” as being interest-
bearing financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (excluding cash held for short-term working
capital purpose). The Group's interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

To manage any exposure arising from the changes in
market interest rates, the Group enters into interest
rate swap, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at
specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to
an agreed-upon notional principal amount. This interest
rate swap is not qualified as hedging for accounting
purposes.

38 BIEREEEERBER (&)

(a)

(b)

S b ()

BRESN (&)
HRESMBRIMNEEXTZBHEERANE
M EAREREZER TR MZEFER
T AR E R & 5K 55 E mL
BREAERAIBRAZNEEEUINE
BEtE AEBE R A FE R RIE R ER
RIE - BRSO M BIEEGREGINEFI T
BERR/ARE2ERMBEL 2 ZR
B2 8220205 R 2 A AT

A =@

AEBEZHERBEERBEEEE BT
BFE RIZEE MR B ZEED BIE AR
SEBKADREN KRR RAENEX
R AEBRE [BEFR] RFTEE2R
BERFRRE (TEEFIFEHEESR
E2BE) BEEEERASENEHRE
R °

REBTSNEEHMAR AR NEE
RIS M EIE A A - Bt NEE I ER
TRERBEZ2EHELLEANTRIE
PRS2 EREF SR EB -EHEMN
meE MEEMENTTABRIFL -
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rRE IR M

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

EEREEE:

Fixed rate borrowings:

Loans to a joint venture

Bank Loans RITER
Lease liabilties BEAR
Other borrowing HEfEE
Variable rate borrowings: FRRREL:
Bank loans RTER

Total net borrowings BEETE

LY -BRELXZER

38 BIEREEEERBUER (&)

(b) FRmEBR (H)

i) FIEER
TREFIFEBEEDFRERRE R
2RI -

2020
20206
Effective
interest rate
ERH= ERA=
% HK$'000 %
% TER %

2021
20216
Effective
interest rate

HK$'000
TAL

3 (] 17 . 0 i
4.90% (141,365) 4.90% (123,539)
4.00% 162,672 4.29% 104,372
4.51% 61,922 4.52% 76,532
6.87% 40,770 - -
2.35% 871,520 2.95% 920145
995,519 977,510

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group's profit before tax and retained
profits by approximately HK$8,715,000 (2020:
HK$9,201,000).

244 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#RHXEEAR AR

(i) BBREDN
2021412 A318 7T B H b 5
RS ZIFRT EEH WA= —/
E# T HE00E RS R, 1
NS & B bR B AT s A AR B E A4
8,715,0007% 7T (20204F : 9,201,000/5
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's profit before
tax and retained profits that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period. In respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period,
the impact on the Group’s profit before tax and
retained profits is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed
on the same basis as 2020.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board.
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

38 BIEAREEREREE (&)

(b) F=mE bz (&)

(i) BRBREDH (&)

IA_ESRRRE TR R A SR ERR B AT
FI AR B s FIE R T RSB R
KRB BA 7B R TESZ BN
B AREEARFAFEIITEL
BERBEARAZ 2R RAERR
s HAEBERB AR RRE &
Pl B AZ SR RSB EF B
SN BFEZBEMET o DT IRE
20204 fE A 2 B AEH#ETT

(0 RBETER
AEEANERNEEERARSAZREE
B EREeRREHRE RN ETEH
Re®RMBEZEF EAFERARE
EgifE  AEBZBRATERERER
BeFREEBERO 2 RIER  AHER
HBRTReREIIERSER 2 EERE
7 ARAT RS RBEREREAHEE
BE NWENEHERHZRBESHER -
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rRE IR M

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Trade and bills payables ERERRZR

Other payables and accrued liabilities HENFERETAE
Due to joint ventures EREELEFE
Bank and other borrowings BRITREMEE

Lease liabilities MEAR

Dividends payable RIS

38 BIEREEEERBUER (&)

(9]

REBEEEE (&)
TRIRAEENBERARZIFTESR
BERMIEERABZHRTANIBER
HRBANARBRRASRE (BEREH
MR E 2 M BN R FBF RE
B AR E IR 2 BRITHRFAE) A K
AEEBEN 2 &R AMGFE:

2021
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
20215
EHNABEBELRE

Carrying
Within amount
1 year or at
on demand 31 December
1%/  Over 1year Total  ®12A31H
FERER BBIE @t ZEHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TR
305,683 - 305,683 305,683
157,474 - 157,474 157,474
76,256 - 76,256 76,256
1,072,737 8,604 1,081,341 1,074,962
25,439 39,878 65,317 61,922
43 - 43 43
1,637,632 48,482 1,686,114 1,676,340
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BIEMEEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued) REBESREM (&)

(9]

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group's
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, due from joint ventures, other financial
assets and deposits with banks. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group
manages the credit risk by setting up a team responsible
for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group
has entered into credit insurance contracts with the
Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation and
China Export & Credit Insurance Corporation to mitigate
the credit risk arising from the receivable balances.

2020
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
2020F
BRRERBRRN
Carrying
Within amount
1 year or at
on demand 31 December
1€/ Over 1 year Total  RM2A31H
FIREK HBiBIE @t pd
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THEx THT
Trade and bills payables AN W ES 346,126 - 346,126 346,126
Other payables and accrued liabilities EtERTERETAE 113,051 - 113,051 113,051
Due to joint ventures EReEtEsHE 56,619 - 56,619 56,619
Bank loans RITER 1,036,469 1,405 1,037,874 1,024,517
Lease liabilities BEAR 23,286 61,134 84,420 76,532
Dividends payable ERT IR 43 - 43 43
1,575,594 62,539 1,638,133 1,616,888
(d) Credit Risk (d) EERB

EERRANEFHEB T AHF I ARE
BITEAHELE  AREAARZHBER
B AEEZEERREEREBEE
AR YR - BRA ZEhERIR  H
eREENRITER - BEBCDHEREE
BOR Y ERFEEEZSERRAR - AEE
BRBRI-—AEFAABEEEERE &
HEEARAESERRFEREERR
IR BETRR DA RER - A%
EaEFELOGARRBRFELOEGER
RERABFIZIEERRE L LBIERE
W RIBAESR 2 ER R
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 4.91% (2020: 8.89%) and 12.19%
(2020: 25.34%) of the total trade and other receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Trade and other receivables

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due normally within 90 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

ECLs as at 31 December 2020 and 2021
The Group measures loss allowances for trade

receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix.

248 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BiARHEEEER AT

38 BIEREEREREE (&)

(d) EE=R (&)

AEEMEY 2 FERBRFEXEREFE
AR PEER SR 21TEHEIR
Frsce - Bt ASEEZEREREFLE
EAEBRKELERESETZEERR - Rk
2 HRR - R U AR R e B U SR IE A R
4.91% (20204 : 8.89% ) %12.19% (2020
F:2534% ) DRI RERAEEGAE P &

hAREPZHIE-

FE W RR R % L At FE WL R IE

AEESHMERRER —E2REEZ
BEPETEANEEN G ZEFEERR
B BE S BB IR RC A KRB 3K
B YEBREPZBEARLEFREE
PR RE - YRR — R HEER
H1Z90RAEIH - [ERTN E - AEE I HE

REPZ#EMm-

A20205F K%2021F 12318 2B HEH

53

AEBENEFEMANRBERBRESS
BT BRUIRRBEEERE 2 RABE
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BiEMEEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Credit Risk (Continued)
ECLs as at 31 December 2020 and 2021 (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables

(d) &= (&)

72020 20215128318 2 FEHIE A
B8 (&)

TRIEHBARIN20205 %2021F12A31H
EERKRZEREERE Z EKREERZTE

from customers as at 31 December 2020 and 2021. EMEREE

2021
20215
Provision on
individual
basis
RENEE
fEitif e
HK$'000
S

Gross
carrying

ECL rates
RAER
HK$'000

TR

ECLs
BHER
E&
HKS$'000
TiEx

Loss
allowance
BiEkfk
HK$'000
TEL

amount

RE4E
HK$'000
TR

Current and within payment terms EDER R M SRR 659,727 = 0.31% (2,014) (2,014)
1- 3 months past due BHIZ3MER 106,249 (36) 1.88% (2,001) (2,037)
4 - 6 months past due BH4Z6ME A 11,104 (395) 2237% (2,39) (2,791)
712 months past due BEIE12ER 9,739 (6,321) 24.99% (854) (7.175)
Over 1 year past due BEREE 31,253 (19,345) 74.19% (8,835) (28,180)

818,072 (26,097) (16,100) (42,197)

2020
20208

Provision on
individual
basis
IRERIEE
fEL B
HK$'000
THL

Gross
carrying
amount

KmeE
HK$'000
TER

ECL rates
BAGA
HK$'000

THL

ECLs
BHER
B

Loss
allowance
BiERE

HK$'000

HK$'000
TE

Current and within payment terms AE R SR A 636,352 - 027% (1,739) (1,739)
1-3 months past due BE1Z3AA 98,750 (34) 133% (1312) (1,346)
4 - 6 months past due BE4z6[A 14,376 (243) 16.28% (2,301) (2,544)
7 - 12 months past due BEIE12EAR 15,444 (6,544) 20.11% (1,790) (8,334)
Over 1 year past due aHBEF 36,385 (18,879) 39.40% (6,898) (25,777)

801,307 (25,700) (14,040) (39,740)
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued) d) EE=RM (&)
ECLs as at 31 December 2020 and 2021 (Continued) M2020F 2021512 A31 8 2 BHfE A
EE (&)
ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over the B EREERBE=F 2 EREBLR
past three years. These rates are adjusted to reflect A -ZELERETRE  URMIKEES
differences between economic conditions during the BERERE BN BRI R A EE
period over which the historic data has been collected, HRWFIBTRMFEM  CERAER 2 Z
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic o

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Movements in the loss allowance of trade EWERERZEERESS
receivables
The movements in the loss allowance of trade RIS BRE - EUR R B EREEE W
receivables during the reporting period were as follows: T
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FHET
Balance at 1 January RM1ATR 2 &% 39,740 39,496
Additional impairment losses recognised BHER 2 BINREEE 2,174 7,846
Impairment losses reversed R EEERED (356) (8,792)
Written off bkt - (338)
Exchange realignment b H S 639 1,528
Balance at 31 December M12A318 2 & 42,197 39,740
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit Risk (Continued)

(e)

Due from joint ventures

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
due from joint ventures at the end of the reporting
period and the key terms are disclosed in Note 24.
Based on the historial experience and the financial
position of the joint ventures, the directors assessed that
expected credit loss in respect of these balances was
insignificant.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Capital Management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing its products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in the light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt to capital ratio. For this purpose, the Group
defines net debt as interest-bearing bank loans and
lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents and time
deposit with banks.

38 BIEAREEREREE (&)

(d) EE=R (&)

(e)

FEW & & hERIE
RBERREHAERALEEESAZES
SE RN E RGN 245K 5 - ERNE
LRBRABLEZIBIRN  EEFFE
ERRERGZBENERBRLAEK.

AERYERSAEEEBEERRZE
AR RAT R R -

EXEE

AEBEAERZ T ERERERAEE
BRNMEBRSBEREELELE BEZ
BIRBRBRFIZLL O BER KRS EE
UNERBEAEEKAESRE  SBRRANER
B AHMESRA AT R -

SR BT R B A R B (TR AT R
B U A AL BB 5 Bk T
BB RE RER T ERHRE R
%R AR 2 R T - 3 AT EE R
LB R BRI R

AEBENEEFREBRALL RIERERE
BARGEHBZEE M T  AREREE
FRAERFERTERLBEEAE R
Re KRS EEWASRIBITERFR
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 B REBREEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) EXEE (&)
20214 - A £ BH F2020F 2 5B - 15
HIGARBEFEHRALEZREBEANT
45%E65%  AIRIFRALEFAL R A%
B HEORERN 2B S5 T
G RERATRE BEFELHE
FHELENRKAR-

(e) Capital Management (Continued)

During 2021, the Group's strategy, which was
unchanged from 2020, was to maintain its adjusted
net debt-to-capital ratio to be 45% to 65%. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

AREE 20205 202112 A318 2 18+
BETFHEEBRALLENT

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31
December 2020 and 2021 was as follows:

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 29 1,074,962 1,024,517
Lease liabilities HERE 30 61,922 76,532
1,136,884 1,101,049
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BoBRekReFEM 27 (215,732) (263,486)
Adjusted net debt RAREBEZESE 921,152 837,563
Equity attributable to equity RARIREREA
holders of the Company FE(R = 1,650,533 1,505,422
Adjusted net debt-to-capital RARGBEFHEERE
ratio [z 55.8% 55.6%

252 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited WA EEAR AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

38 BIEAREEREREE (&)

0]

BRAREMEZEREERARE

D RAERF
TREJNREEDR T AR RS R
RISEUMELEFTE 2 A AE WER
(FEPBREER) B13R[AR
BFE]IFAREIMERARESERDE-
AAEFEERDHZREERERA
BWABBZEREREEERE T
T

- FEHAE: BERAFEIANE
ABUERTEZ A RE ARGt E
REIERIE Ek R B ERMS

- FE2RPIEE: EAE2RR B A
BIEtEZ A RE IAHESE
TRz BB ABEARA
EREATHERBABE - T
BB ABIBREEEARETS
BBz B ARE

- FEWRHEERERTAER
RBARBAHEZANE
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rRE IR M

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group engaged external valuer to perform
valuations for the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which is categorised into
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The external
valuer report directly to management. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement is prepared by external valuer at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by management.

The following table presents the Group's financial
instruments carried at fair value at year end.

EE

BRAERBERTIRL
TREE-FRY

BRAERBERNTIRLZ
EREE-RD

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - non current

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - current

AERE

Total assets

38 BIEREEEERBUER (&)

P2y
YN

()

0]

Fair

[
Elt
Jio
@

BRAAREFEZERMEEREE

")

—~

DARERG (F)
AEERBIIEEEMRDOBRRAR
EMRBIEIRR 2R AARENBREA
FIfkz &M EEEITHRE - INEMHE
A EEZ A EREERE - #HIIAAER
BEBOM 2 HERS /NG ERD
RERBMEFERS BMGER B
EIEEER ML

TREINAREERFERZRRET
fRzem T A

value measurements as at

31 December 2021 categorised into
RONFE12ANBZAAEFEDER

Level 1

F1RR
HK$'000
THET

Level 3
FE34 Rl
HK$'000
TER

Level 2
EYE
HK$'000

TEx

- - 37,709 37,709
14 - - 14
14 - 37,709 37,723
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BIEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) f) DAREFE (E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BRAAENEZSREERERS
value (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RRERE (&)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2020 categorised int
2020612 A31A 2 AR B ENER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F1R7 AR E3MR 7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THAT THL
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through R AL ERRERTIHK 2
profit or loss - non current TREE-FRY - - 33,081 33,081
Financial assets at fair value through ~ RARERBZERTKZ
profit or loss - current SREE-RD 14 - - 14
Total assets EELE 14 - 33,081 33,095
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and RE 20204 &2021412A8318 1k
2021, there were no transfers between Level 1 FE BB RE2HR R 2 B EE
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The % R A BB REE
Group's policy is to recognise transfers between PR BRERER 2 RS HRERA
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the SRERREE -

reporting period in which they occur.
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rRE IR M

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BiEMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) f) DAREFE (E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAAENEZSREERERS

value (Continued) (%)
Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level RAREFTEFE2RBIFAEAZHE
2 fair value measurements FERB AR
The fair value of interest rate swaps is the FIREHAE K 2 AAREAREBRRK
estimated amount that the Group would receive HHIRW A AR IE R BG4 2
or pay to terminate the swap at the end of the HET & L REBREHEFHZ
reporting period, taking into account current BITFERRITEE - RNEEBZEIN
interest rates and the current creditworthiness HEEMHM S EARAERBE2R
of the swap counterparties. The Group engaged Rl M H G KA TIA(E -

external valuer to perform valuations for the
interest rate swaps which is categorised into Level
2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Information about Level 3 fair value FESERBARBEFEZER
measurements
Significant
unobservable
Valuation techniques inputs Weighted average
BER* EXTIRZERAYE T
Key management insurance contracts Discounted cash flow Discount rate 2.24%
(2020: 2.19%)
ITEERERRAR BREBERE B % 2.24%
(20206 :2.19% )
Equity securities Discounted cash flow Discount rate 20%
(2020: 20.0%)
BAES BRBERE BB % 20%

(2020%:20.0% )
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A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

The fair value of insurance contracts is determined
using the discounted cash flow model. The
duration of the cash flows and the specific timing
of inflows and outflows are determined by
conditions in accordance with the terms of the
respective insurance contracts. The periodic cash
flow is estimated as gross redemption value and
interest income less surrender charges. The series
of periodic net income for the contracting periods
is then discounted. The fair value measurement
is negatively correlated to the discount rate. As
at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
HK$1,060,012 (2020: HK$1,176,131).

The fair values of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities are based on cash flows discounted
using a rate based on the market interest rate and
the risk premium specific to such investments.
As at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
HK$1,202,990 (2020: HK$393,564).

38 BIEREEEERBER (&)

()

DR

0]

EHFTE (&)

BRAREMEZEREERARE

&)

—~

BERERBAABEFEZER
(#&)
REERZAREBETYRAAIRER SR
EFEBET-RERBZHRUARTA
Nt 2 e R T RIE SRR A R
ERZIEHET - R RE
AT BB DB E A BRABRRE
B-ARHMEz —@ER T HFRAT
FLARLER - A A ERTE MR R R
M E - 20215128318 & A
Hth ST 2 EFRT  E5HH
BRIRR T, L% #5180,
7N 2 @18 251,060,01278 7T (20204 ¢
1,176,131%7T) °

AEEFLETRAEFES 2 AAED
KARRBMSHNEMBEZRERE
LRBEBIRE ZEERBRETE R
2021F12R3318  1EF7 A Efib & 8
B2 ERT AW R E T
S EB1% g R A E RIS
51,202,990/ 7T (20204 : 393,564/
JT) °
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rRE IR M

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 B REBREEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) (f) AREFE (&)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAAENEZSREERERS
value (Continued) (%)
The movements during the year in the balance ZEEIRBN A REF B 2 HERNE
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as N2 EEHmT
follows:
2020
20204
HK$'000
T
Key management insurance TEEEERBER:
contracts:
As at 1 January ®1A18 15,615 15,279
Net unrealised gains recognised in AR IERERZ
profit or loss during the period REF W FER 690 336
At 31 December M12A318 16,305 15,615
Total gains for the period included MR EMRIFTEZ
in profit or loss for assets held BEFABRZ
at the end of the reporting period BN B85 690 336
Equity securities R F %
As at 1 January R1A1H 17,466 9,154
Changes in fair value recognised in NN ERER
profit or loss during the period NAEZES 3,368 7,309
Exchange realignment ME H S8 B 570 1,003
At 31 December R12A31H 21,404 17,466
Total gains for the period included FFAEMEERAZ
in other comprehensive income HN s 1858 570 1,003
Total gains for the period included in ~ FLRREHIRIFHE 2
profit or loss for assets held at the BEFABR
end of the reporting period BN 858 3,368 7,309

258 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#RHXEEAR AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38 BiREBEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair Value Measurement (Continued) f) DAREFE (E)
(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) YHFEUAABIRZEMEER
carried at other than fair value BEAARE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial AR SR SHAN AN B BR 2 AR B 2
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were T A ZRE{EEKR2020%F 2021412
not materially different from fair values as at 31 A3MAZARETERERER.

December 2020 and 2021.
39 RESERVES 39 f#HE

Reserve Movement of the Group rEERERD

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AAEREREAES
Mainland
Asset  Exchange China
revaluation fluctuation reserve

Share Contributed  reserve reserve funds? Other  Retained

premium  Surplus’ EEEf EXR® HERE  reserve profits Total
RiVEE AARER e e fke HttRE REET @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TEn TEx TEx TEx TiEx TiEx

Balance at 1 January 2021 W01 F1 A1 2 &8 165,458 2800 101,675 195953 62,846 (162) 929,297 1,457,867
Profit for the year REERT - - - - - - 76,494 76,494
Transfer to reserves BRZRE - - - - 451 - (451) -
Other comprehensive income: Efy2EMA -
Asset revaluation deficit, net of tax Bk AESHEL - - (1,856) - - - - (1,856)
Currency translation differences EXZER
- Group -15E - - - 63,599 - - - 63,599
- Joint ventures ~hELE - - - 6,874 - - - 6,874

Total comprehensive income for the year B Z2021F12A310 LERE
ended 31 December 2021 2ANAEE - - (1,856) 70,473 451 - 76,043 145,111

Balance at 31 December 2021 R021512A318 2 &8 165,458 2,800 99,819 266,426 63,297 (162)  1,005340 1,602,978
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rRE IR M

39 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 39 fi#fE (8)
Reserve Movement of the Group (Continued) rEERERD (F)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AREREAES
Mainland
China

Share
option

Asset  Exchange
revaluation  fluctuation reserve
Share reserve  Contributed reserve reserve funds 2
premium TRk E Supls'  EEEfE EAKH PHE
RiyaE Ffs B i EL] f 2
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T THT T THT TR THEL

Retained
profits
RBEF
HK$'000
TEL

Other
reserve
Efo b
HK$'000
Tin

HK$'000
:Fe‘B T

Balance at 1 January 2020 202051 A1B 2 8 165,458 1,621 2,800 102,573 73,282 62,846 (162) 903,612 1,312,030
Profit for the year REERR - - - - - - - 24,064 24,064
Other comprehensive income: Hin2ERA:
Asset revaluation deficit, net of tax RRGEEEREL - - - (898) - - - - (898)
Currency translation differences EXEE

~Group -1£8 - - - - 109,258 - - ~ 109258

- Joint ventures -REDE - - - - 13,413 - - - 13,413
Total comprehensive income for the year B Z2020F12A318 L5 &

ended 31 December 2020 EXLON - - - (898) 122,671 - - 20064 145837
Employee share option scheme: [EERRETE:

- Share option lapsed -BRYERE
Transferred to retained profits BREREEN - (1,621) - - - - - 1,621 -
Balance at 31 December 2020 20205128318 2 8% 165,458 - 2,800 101,675 195,953 62,846 (162) 929,297 1,457,867

Notes: M3E -

1. The Group’s contributed surplus represents the difference 1. AEBZHARBREMBRENRBEREZR’REG
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries HEEBEAZGHE R BRDMEITZ AR
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’'s shares AR EE L ERE
issued in exchange therefor.

2. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland 2. WBEFERGBBEEEREEE KEERF

MR Z B AR BB EM S EHE
TEANEES HBAXRIRE -

China, a portion of the profits of the Group's subsidiaries
which are established in Mainland China has been transferred
to the Mainland China reserve funds which are restricted as to
use.
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A PBRRMEE

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40 KATFMBERRRRBEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

B # AR =

Statement of Financial Position

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T T T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB RRZI&EE 63,901 63,901
Financial assets at fair value through EAREREREATIERZ
profit or loss SREE 4,663 4,450
Due from subsidiaries FEUR P B A B2 BB 430,016 414,476
Total non-current assets FrnBEERE 000 498,580 482,827
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUR P B A B2 BB 229,429 244,491
Prepayments T /I8 807 842
Cash and cash equivalents RekFEEHED 63 222
Total current assets MENVEERLE 230299 245,555
Current liabilities REAE
Due to subsidiaries JEBIB A a2 38 454,667 449,255
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtENFIERESAE 2,463 2,303
Dividends payable FEAT A% B 43 43
Total current liabilities nBBERE 457,173 451,601
Net current liabilities mENBEFEE _ (226,874) (206,046)
Net assets EEFHE 271,706 276,781
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N 47,555 47,555
Reserves % 224,151 229,226
Total equity ERBE 271,706 276,781
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RE IR R MR

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40 AR FHBRRARRFEHESS (E)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
Reserve Movement of the Company KARREED

Share
Share Option  Contributed Retained
premium reserve surplus profits Total

Efa® BRERE S ARR  RERN st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Tiar TiEr TiEr T T

At 1 January 2020 #2020%1A1A 165,458 1,621 63,623 3,796 234,498
Loss for the year ~EEER - - - (5,272) (5,272)
Employee share option scheme: EERERETE:
- Share options lapsed —B RN E - (1,621) - 1,621 -
At 31 December 2020 72020612 4318 165,458 - 63,623 145 229,226
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1/18 165,458 - 63,623 145 229,226
Loss for the year rERER - - - (5,075) (5,075)
At 31 December 2021 20215124318 165,458 - 63,623 (4,930) 224,151
The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess RABZHABBRIBFTBERE AR 2 KRG A
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired REBEAZBRMBATRNDMEITZAAT
over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in RPEE . =8 RIBARE (1981FRFNE)
exchange therefore. Under the Companies Act 1981 of (BETA) - RAEIAEE TER T AR SR K
Bermuda (as amended), a company may make distributions FR% R

to its members out of the contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share BREFRGEFEDELESRTEBRE 22
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further M8 P ERE RS MIEImREM T4V E
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment BARDAER s NRRZ G2 et BE -ZeH
transactions in Note 4(v)(i) to the consolidated financial BRE BRI TSR SRS ER 5
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the A ERED EREHE  AIERERE
share premium account when the related options are t A e

exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the
related options expire or be forfeited.

262 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B4R EBEER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A PBRRMEE

41 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 41 BZE2021F12A318 LFESEME

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED o RAERZIERT - R A R 2z
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ARERE

ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HEZSYBMETIZEBRE BESHMAEE
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, and a new B ZIEEE] R — BT ER (BB G HRELE
standard, HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which are not yet AI) 2175 [RBRAERY] - ZFER] RAETEAR
effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 and which HZE2021F12 A31B IEFEWARER BRZE
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These ISR/ AR - R FIE R BEIA T AR IR
developments include the following which may be relevant to SEEEN A REER -

the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT3 Bz %
B zaEtHEEN
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
(BEMBREER) B3R BT [HAER 2 Rt 202261 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
(BEGFER) F165EFT [ BB R&E  ERTERER 2 AEIE] 202261 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
(BEGER) B37R 2B [BREN-BITEHN KA 20221718
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
(BAEMBRESEAFELE) (2018F £20205FHH) 20221 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023
(BEREGHEL) BB [KatsBRRBIERD] 2023F1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, 1 January 2023
Disclosure of accounting policies
(BEGTER) F1R R (BEBMBRELNEBRHA) F295 2 EFT 20231 A1H
&t BRI 5
Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
(BEGFER) B8R BT (Gt st 2 E&E] 2023F1H1H
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 1 January 2023
from a single transaction
(BEGFERA) F1R2R 2B [HE-—RXSMEFEERABREBELEHE] 2023F1A1H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what NI E RSB T R V)R BE A AR fE Ta B4R
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the BB oS HiERBRAZEEBEI AN
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the BB EMEmMEREREMEALE -

adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFHHHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,

NTRAREEREREMBFEZRENREE A
BERGFERRRERME IREAC T 2 KEX

as extracted from the published audited financial statements is set ~ B % ¥k °
out below.
RESULT ¥E
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 2020 20195 20185 20176
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx T THr THr FhHL
Revenue WA 2,091,264 1599599 1,292,160 1361718 1,275,923
Profit before tax BB AT E A 90,786 32913 43,168 56,666 62,199
Income tax M (16,800) (6,844) (16,692) (15,990) (16,994)
Profit for the year ERER 73,986 26,069 26,476 40,676 45,205
Attributable to: TII% -
~ Equity holders of the Company ~RRRAREREA 76,494 24,064 31,578 43,046 48177
~ Non-controlling interests R (2,508) 2,005 (5,102) (2,370) (2,972)
Profit for the year EREN 73,986 26,069 26,476 40,676 45,205
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BERFEREFRER
INTERESTS
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20205 20195 20185 201745
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx T Tin Titn FHT
Total assets EEEE 3,446,333 325,607 2918812 2724673 2,753,087
Total liabilities REEE (1,756,704)  (1,706,560)  (1,522,499)  (1,302,145)  (1,277,548)
Non-controlling interests FERREER (39,096) (40,625) (36,728) (41,877) (59,032)
Equity attributable to equity holders of ARARERE AEEES
the Company 1,650,533 1505422 1359585 1,380,651 1416507
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Summary of Investment Properties

REY %1‘&%3:

Location Existing use Tenure Term of lease

i 26 REEAR £ HEH

(1) Units 1401 and 1402, Block 9, Residential Leasehold Long
Chang An Garden, Chang An Town,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, China

FEERE RS F= MmE KH
RELEREZIEER
91214015 K& 1402%

(2)  Two land parcels situated in Industrial Leasehold Medium

Taiji Industrial City, Longtang Town,
Qingyuan City, Guangdong Province, China

FREEREGERT T HE A ER
PEEIERETEM
i@ 1= 4

(3) Blocks 1-3, 5 and 8 located at Commercial Leasehold Medium

No. 16 Qing Gong Third Road,

Foshan City, Guangdong Province, China

PEERA LT [EES HE & HA
BT =F5165

—E=F-RER\E

(4)  Workshop B on 11th Floor, Commercial Leasehold Medium
workshops A, B, C and D on 16th Floor,
workshop C on 19th Floor,
workshop B on 22nd Floor and
car parking space nos. L6, P3 and P7 on
basement of Yiko Industrial Building,
No. 10 Ka Yip Street, Chai Wan,
Hong Kong
BEBEEEEEHIRTEE LERE RS HE # HA
11EBIL{EE  16/A B - CRDI{EE "
19ECTERE  2IEBIEE R
b JE5 B 4R 5EL6 - P32 P7
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Glossary

2o
af 5

Annual Report annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2021
FH BZE2021F12ANB LM BEE 2 FERSE

Audit Committee audit committee of the Company

EREZE® RRAFIZEVEZES

Board board of directors of the Company

BExg RRRZEEE

Board Diversity Policy board diversity policy of the Company

BEEEZUEER RRRZEZEZTIEBER

Bye-laws bye-laws of the Company

NS RN/ /N

Company Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited

/NG BHRMRERARAQF

Company Secretary
NEWE

company secretary of the Company

RRRZREWE

Corporate Governance Code Corporate Governance Code

EERFA (eEERFED

COVID-19 novel coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic

20198 Km SR 20198 AR S Iw

Director(s) director(s) of the Company

= KRB ESE

Dividend Policy dividend policy of the Company

% B R AR 2 REBUER

EBITDA earnings before interest expenses, taxation, depreciation and amorisation

BT E N IH A B BRI E N SH A A

EDLC Electric Double Layer Capacitors
LEFEEAE EEEEAS

ESG Environmental, Social and Governance
RE - g RkER RIR g kEe

E-Caps Aluminum Electrolytic Capacitors
B EARS BB
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Glossary
2=
il

GPD
AAEERE

HK
e

HK$
BT

Independent Non-executive Director(s)

BYIFRTES

ISO
ISO

Listing Rules
R Al

LPG
BILB R

Model Code
Al

Nomination Committee

RBZE®

Nomination Policy

AR

Polymer Caps

== e og
BATEEH

RBA
RBA

Remuneration Committee

HHEZEE

Gross domestic product
NEEBE

greenhouse gas
/JII1 E=p ﬁ =2

Company and its subsidiaries
RRATREMERF

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEARAMBEE B RITHR

Hong Kong dollar
BT

independent non-executive director(s) of the Company

RRBZBIIFATES

International Organization for Standartization
B {4

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited
(BEBMERZMEBRRRES EMHRAD

liquefied petroleum gas
AL A ER

Multi-layer Polymer Capacitors
BARBATEREES

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

(LMBETAEFETESRZNELETAD

nomination committee of the Company

RRBZRBHEREG

nomination policy of the Company

RABZRARR

Conductive Polymer Aluminum Solid Capacitors
BERH FREELEERS

Responsible Business Alliance

BECHEBE

remuneration committee of the Company

KRBIZHHEESR
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i
]

RMB
AR®

RoHS
RoHS

SFO
EERBE D

Shareholder(s)
&S

Stock Exchange
Bt <2 B

tCO2e
W&t g2

uss$
eV

Year/Year 2021

NEE 202156 E

%
%

Renminbi

AR

Restriction of Hazardous Substances

BEMERS

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(BHFEEBEGRD) (FEEPFENE)

Shareholder(s) of the Company
NN 23

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMARHMAERRAR

tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
WE — & hix 8 &

United States dollar
ET

financial year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31B LI KRFE

per cent
Aot
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